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Chairman’s Statement
Y&

Dear Shareholders,

On behalf of the board of directors of Four Seas Mercantile Holdings
Limited (“the Group”), I am pleased to present you the Group’s annual
results for the year ended 31 March 2013.

RESULTS

During the year, the Group’s profit achieved a substantial growth.
For the year ended 31 March 2013, the Group’s sales reached
HK$2,899,647,000 (2012: HK$2,789,334,000), representing an
increase of 4% over the same period of last year. The profit for the
year attributable to equity holders of the Company even increased
significantly by 111% to HK$110,779,000 (2012: HK$52,581,000).
The profit growth was derived from the increase in gross profit margin
under the control of purchasing and production costs, coupled with
the benefit of the depreciation of Japanese yen. Distribution of food
products in Mainland China and Hong Kong is the Group’s major
business, among which Japanese products are one of the main kinds
and the Japanese yen depreciation reduced the purchasing costs of the
Group. Besides, the steady selling prices of the products carried by
the Group were achieved due to the market recognition of the brand
power of the Group which became a favourable factor for the increase

in gross profit, leading to a substantial growth in profit.
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Chairman’s Statement
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During the year, the Group recorded a steady sales growth in Hong
Kong and Mainland China. The sales derived from Hong Kong
segment reached HK$1,901,473,000 (2012: HK$1,818,989,000),
representing an increase of 5% over the same period of last
year, and accounted for approximately 66% of the Group’s total
revenue. The sales in Mainland China was HK$998,174,000 (2012:
HK$970,345,000), increased by 3% compared to the same period of
last year, and accounted for approximately 34% of the Group’s total
revenue. The Group will continue to expand its presence in the market
of Mainland China, in order to further increase its growth and establish

a long-term brand image.

BUSINESS REVIEW

The year under review is a year for harvest of the Group. Despite of
the fact that the global economy recovered slowly and the European
sovereign-debt crisis was deteriorating during the year, the Group
achieved astonishing and encouraging results with our pragmatic and
prudent operational strategies. The Group’s accomplishments rest on
our business integrity and innovative business wisdom. These qualities

demonstrate our ability to bring sustainable returns to shareholders.

Since its establishment in Hong Kong in 1971, the Group has strived
for providing high-quality and luscious food for customers catering for
different needs. The Group advocates a “Modern Delicacy Concept”
leading to a high-quality life for the customers. With its long-standing
history, rich experience and innovative spirit, the Group has developed
into a leading enterprise of Hong Kong food industry. Last year, the
Group was honored with “The China Securities Golden Bauhinia
Awards: Listed Company with the Best Brand Value”, in recognition

of its achievements.
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Chairman’s Statement
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Distribution Business

Food distribution business has long been the core business of
the Group and it has been developed steadily over the years. The
internationally renowned brands of quality food products distributed
by the Group suit the demands of different customers which include
milk powder, snacks, health foods, wine, beverages, sauce, seasonings,
ham and sausages, etc., importing from many countries such as Japan,
Mainland China, Korea, Malaysia, Singapore, the United States and
European countries, etc. The Group has a comprehensive distribution
network and superb sales management forces. With its well established
international network, the Group brings in high-quality food products
from overseas. Recently, the Group successfully obtained the
distributorship of YOKU MOKU, a famous Japanese food souvenir
brand, broadening the variety of the Group’s distributed products.
The Group has attached great importance to the relationships with
customers and suppliers. It heightened the brands’ awareness as well
as influence in order to strengthen the Group’s leading position in the
food industry.

Manufacturing Business

As the distribution business has become mature, the Group is gradually
emphasizing the strategic focus of reinforcing of its own brand and
has achieved great success. Being a pioneer in establishing its own
brand name in Hong Kong, the Group has set up manufacturing
plants to produce a variety of food products. As at 31 March 2013,
the Group has a total of 20 manufacturing plants in Mainland China
and Hong Kong. Products comprising “Four Seas Seaweed”, “Four
Seas Milk Drink”, “Four Seas Biscuit Stick”, “Four Seas Tsubu Tsubu
Orange Drink”, “Four Seas Coffee”, “Four Seas Cracker”, “Four Seas
Chestnut”, “Four Seas Potato Chip”, “Four Seas Puff Snack Series”,
“Four Seas Sweet Corn”, “Four Seas Bub Bub Candy”, “Four Seas
Instant Noodle”, “Maid Brand Ham and Sausage Series” and “Cowboy

Peanut” etc.
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In view of the well development of “Four Seas” brand and tremendous
business opportunities in Mainland China, the Group has actively
expanded its business under its own brand in the mainland market
and took Guangdong province as a model market in Mainland
China. In the development of the Group’s Mainland China business,
production-sales integration was emphasized to perfect every stage
of the production flow. Also, the Group has actively established a
variety of sales channels for both its own and franchised products. The
one-stop platform for production and sales has effectively improved
the production efficiency. The Group stipulated effective marketing
strategies via the full control in inventory management and production
capacity together with well understanding of market trend. Moreover,
such integration is very conducive to food safety control. The Group
always regards food safety as the conscience of a food enterprise. Over
the years, the Group upholds the principles of total quality control
and a well-developed system to ensure food safety starting from the
source, which enhances the happiness and confidence of the consumers

on our products.

Retail and Catering Businesses

The Group’s retail business has been growing steadily. The Group’s
retail chain, namely “Okashi Land”, has its foothold across Hong
Kong and it is popular among the young consumers. “Okashi Land”
was accredited with “QTS Merchant of the Quality Tourism Services”
Scheme, “Hong Kong & Macau Merchants of Integrity Award”,
“The Most Popular Hong Kong and Macau Brands” and “The Most
Popular Hong Kong Bright Consumer Brands”. Under the leadership
of “Okashi Land”, the Group’s retail business achieved encouraging

development.

The Group’s catering business in Mainland China and Hong Kong,
including Japanese restaurants, Japanese fast food shops, sushi
restaurant chains, high-end vegetarian restaurants, garden-style
Chinese restaurants and light meal restaurants, has been developing

during the year.
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The Group’s “Kung Tak Lam Shanghai Vegetarian Cuisine”, providing
healthy vegetarian diets with lofty style, is the first choice for many
Hong Kong vegetarians. The Japanese-style “Restaurant Shiki”,
located in business district at Admiralty, offers delicious food for
customers working in the vicinity. The Japanese fast food shop “Osaka
Ohsho” is well received by customers and is expanding its branch

network in Hong Kong.

The Group’s “Panxi Restaurant”, located in the sightseeing spot of
Liwan district in Guangzhou, is one of the largest garden-style Chinese
restaurants in Guangdong province. With its history of 66 years,
“Panxi Restaurant” is famous for its Lingnan dishes. It is one of the
few high-class Guangdong restaurants that is located in city centre
with glittering lake and lush greenery, attracting a large number of
celebrities. It has continued to perform satisfactorily during the year.
The sushi restaurant chain, “Sushi Oh”, also expanded its business
to Guangzhou during the year. Moreover, “Mori Café”, another
new brand innovated by the Group, established its first restaurant in
Guangzhou to furnish public with light meals during the year.

PROSPECTS

After 42 years of efforts, the Group has become the main pillar of
Hong Kong food industry. Since 1971, the Group has been evolving
from the business of importing snacks from Japan to an enterprise
covering food processing and production, distribution, retail and
catering businesses. The Group always strives for improving food
quality, establishing high-quality brands and expanding its broad retail
network, in order to consolidate the leading position of the Group in
Hong Kong food industry.

Footing in Hong Kong and facing the huge market in Mainland China,
the Group will proactively expand the Mainland China market. In face
of the increasing consumption power, busy lifestyle and diversified
leisure activities of the Mainland Chinese, there is a strong growth
in Chinese leisure food market. Therefore, the Group will be further
expanding its market share in Mainland China to seize the enormous
business opportunities. With our efforts all over the years, the Group’s
business in Guangdong province has been mature; hence, the Group
is going to take Guangdong province as a foundation to promote
“Four Seas” brand products and other distributed products to different
mainland cities stage by stage, in order to expand the sales network
and increase the Group’s penetration in the mainland market to strive

for a better accomplishment.
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ACKNOWLEDGEMENT

On behalf of the board of directors, I would like to express our most
sincere gratitude to the management team and all staff for their efforts
and contribution made to the Group. I would also like to take this
opportunity to thank all shareholders, customers and business partners
for their confidence and continuous support to the Group. The Group
will do its best to further enhance its business, and to grasp every

opportunity to bring sustainable returns to shareholders.

TAI Tak Fung, Stephen, GBS, SBS, JP

Chairman

Hong Kong, 27 June 2013
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14 Major Awards of the Year

A % 4 R
AFERBEREZHETREE

Continuous recognition & awards received during this year

MHNEBRAEZEBESAERENRRERE 2 — RERBUERAZHNZES
BREm AHOTEBPEAMBERME  FFEEREY  ER/X
MEBRNEEmME -

Four Seas Group is one of the leading food enterprises in Hong
Kong, distributing various kinds of renowned food brands from around
the world. The Group has been developing its own premium brand
successfully, and has been highly recognised and accredited with

various awards this year.

AEBEIFEHELBE I REUTRE:

The following awards are granted to our Group’s Chairman, Dr. Stephen Tai:

Bat/RE
Recognition/Award

TEANER
Gold Bauhinia Star (GBS)

REMESR
Silver Bauhinia Star (SBS)

DREREER

(FRAM)  FEAYAE

RmZ2EEREMARELZ
Honorary Certificate of “Distinguished Management Entrepreneur’

FREEZNRRFEAMAR

Asia Brand Year Personality Award
SRELZA YHEZEAR
011EH s EALERALE AR

SlmiE T REEEH

Top 10 Business Leader of Asia Brand

FOUR SEAS MERCANTILE HOLDINGS LIMITED e

Y1 NLAY
BERHER

Organiser

MEARANEE BB THERR

The Government of the Hong Kong Special Administrative Region of the
People’s Republic of China

hEARANEEBBHTHERR

The Government of the Hong Kong Special Administrative Region of the
People’s Republic of China

2RHERE  ARRIRNRTL  DE2ARAEERAE  $E
ERESREZSEHATH

ERANATINEBFF A

hERRE2FE

China Food Safety Annual Conference

AN ESRRIEEEETOMATANERY  BRNRY P ARE
BRRGE FELXEHRTEERBERRPOBE TN
RIRENEAGE R B SREE AR
EREARBRBRHBAERERAAERR
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Recognition/Award

BRREE

Caring Company Award
FtEENRRER 2 [ZNDARER]
“Well-known Brand Award in Asia” of Asia Brand
Ceremony

ERRABELEN1

Hong Kong's Most Valuable Companies 2012
MEESSEHE [ RARRBELHAR]
“Listed Company with the Best Brand Value” of
The China Securities Golden Bauhinia Awards
EREEHEHT011-2012

Hong Kong & Macau Merchants of Integrity Award
2011-2012

ERRETERHR

Hong Kong Top Brand Ten Year Achievement Award

gEAEDHF012
The Best Partnership 2012

BEBLKESRE
Hong Kong Famous Brand

A RERFI 82 AT 2500132015 8T
“Manpower Developer 2013-2015" of Manpower
Developer Award Scheme

BREEE

Caring Company Award
AALER AT 22011201387
“Manpower Developer 2011-2013" of

Manpower Developer Award Scheme
IS09001E 2 ERBARE

1809001 Quality Management System Certificate
150220008 R 2 EREADE

18022000 Food Safety Management System Certificate
HERBER

EatSmart Restaurant

[BERERHEIATHF

“QTS Merchant” of the Quality Tourism Services Scheme
EREREES

The Most Popular Hong Kong and Macau Brand
[BERERBIATEF

“QTS Merchant” of the Quality Tourism Services Scheme
BRRER

Caring Company Award

BREEHEBR011-2012

Hong Kong & Macau Merchants of Integrity Award
2011-2012

SRRNEEREHERM

The Most Popular Hong Kong Bright Consumer Brands
IREEIEREIES

The Most Comprehensive MTR Shops
ERRREAME

Hong Kong Famous Brand with Best Quality

BeXREZ[BEHESR]

Health & Beauty Awards

Bh2RES LERER

QOutstanding Category Performance Award of the
Favourite Brands Awards
[Yahoo!BERE £ %2011-12- 2 R A R
[Yahoo10F S ABER AR

Yahoo! Emotive Brand Award 2011-12 and 10 Years
Emotive Brand

0BT ZRER [ ERFEERE
QOutstanding Category Performance Award -
Snacks of “Favourite Brands Awards’
EEZRES (TOPE)

Hong Kong Top Brand Mark (Top Mark)

ERQEEEERDE
Hong Kong Q-Mark Licence

BRI /KR

Awardees
LY
Four Seas Group
mH&E
Four Seas Group

miEE
Four Seas Group
mifsE
Four Seas Group

mHEE
Four Seas Group

mifen

Four Seas Group

RN
Four Seas Group
L]
Four Seas Group

mi%e

Four Seas Group

FEBMNERAR
Calbee Four Seas Company Limited
FEBINERAR
Calbee Four Seas Company Limited

FEBIH OLR) ARAR

Calbee Four Seas (Shantou) Company Limited

FEBEM OLR) BRAE

Calbee Four Seas (Shantou) Company Limited

DERLERR

Kung Tak Lam Shanghai Vegetarian Cuisine
ERLEER

Kung Tak Lam Shanghai Vegetarian Cuisine
SV ES

Okashi Land

2R3

Okashi Land

eV

Okashi Land

2443

Okashi Land

ERUE
Okashi Land
ZRME
Okashi Land
ZRIE
Okashi Land

Ly
Four Seas Seaweed
mifffixfe

Four Seas Tsubu Tsubu Orange

+4p
Calbee

48
Calbee
SRR
Maid Brand

SRENE
Maid Ham

HOELT REIARMBESPIERE -
Certain recognition/awards are only provided with official Chinese name.

Major Awards of the Year
¥ R R
gaal

Organizer

Bt EREHE

Hong Kong Council of Social Services
DinRELAgZSe

Asia Brand Ceremony Organizing
Committee

Mediazone Publishing

ROR
Ta Kung Pao

BMEH
Guangzhou Daily

EERBERR/ERVEREELE
Hong Kong Brand Development Council
and The Chinese Manufacturers'
Association of Hong Kong

BRER

Lotte Japan

B AEAREA DR

Tencent Guangdong Network GD.QQ.COM/
FASHION/HK and the Nanfang Media Group
EEEEIR

Employees Retraining Board

EEnehnke

Hong Kong Council of Social Services
EEERIR

Employees Retraining Board

PEEEREED L - % -
China Quality Certification Centre
HEE SR

China Quality Certification Centre

frg

Department of Health
BAIERER ® - -
Hong Kong Tourism Board =

TEER 2
China Media

EAIERER

Hong Kong Tourism Board

i RRRE

Hong Kong Council of Social Services
EMEH

Guangzhou Daily

SREEaRAIEE

Metro Broadcast and Shenzhen Radio
EELE

MTR Corporation

B AEAREAETH

Tencent Guangdong Network GD.QQ.
COM/FASHION/HK and the Nanfang Media
Group

EE9E

Mannings China

EERAT S

Wellcome Supermarket

HRER
Yahoo Hong Kong

SERfn S

Wellcome Supermarket

EARBERR/ERVEAEELY
Hong Kong Brand Development Council
and The Chinese Manufacturers’
Association of Hong Kong
EhIZAe

The Federation of Hong Kong Industries

L
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FINANCIAL HIGHLIGHTS LR ES
Year ended 31 March Change
RE3IHIH L4 I+ 491 ke
2013 2012
= B4
HK$’000 HK$°000 (%)
BT BT T

Key income statement items TR AEREH

Revenue KA 2,899,647 2,789,334 +4.0
Gross profit BRI 885,627 785,168 +12.8
EBITDAA RETFB - s~ g
T 4 5 T i ) A 205,166 129,823 +58.0
Profit attributable to 55 T 7 A 2\ ) WE 25 B A B e
equity holders of the Company 110,779 52,581 +110.7

A~ EBITDA refers to earnings before interest, income tax, n REFE ~ FrARBE - 78 B S A A (S B 6
depreciation and amortisation (excluding share of profits and JRE A Yk 7 2 ] e R % e )

losses of associates)

During the year, revenue of the Group has increased by 4% to R AREEZ WA EFH4%%2,899,647,000% IT °
HK$2,899,647,000. Gross profit as a percentage of the revenue has B EKAZ OB EE228.1% L BEAREZ
increased from 28.1% in the previous year to 30.5% in the year. This 30.5% > 1 B B Z B F) 4 #8 b 25 4 2 785,168,000
has contributed to the increase of gross profit from HK$785,168,000 Wt b 2 AR 4E 2885,627,0009 o > I8 B kT
in the previous year to HK$885,627,000 in the year, representing an 100,459,000% 70 » B £ 4 L F+12.8% - B 2 |
increase of HK$100,459,000 which is equivalent to an increase of Tt BT PR R A T R I R AR A RO 0 AR PR A
12.8%. The increase in the gross profit was attributable to the well H B =z B2 B i 32 2 > WK B (B 2% A 45 10 R O o 11
controlled production and purchasing costs. Such favourable factor M2 HEEEW o BRI HE - RFFE -
is further enhanced by the depreciation in Japanese yen which is one FRASHBE ~ BT 85 T 4k 63 1 ¥ ) % B JB A A 2 W) BE £
of the major currencies for the purchase of imported items. With the A E GG E A NS IEZ TR > 40 EFES8.0%
improvement of gross profit, EBITDA and profit attributable to equity 5%110.7% °

holders of the Company also witnessed encouraging growth of 58.0%

and 110.7%, respectively.

ZF - ZF F H o N W &£ B AR AR
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Management Discussion and Analysis
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During the year, revenue of the Group has increased by 4.0% as
compared with the previous year. Sales revenue of the major items are:

AR A S A B AR IR 4.0% M R o
a2 WAWMT

Year ended 31 March Change
RE3IHIH LR I+ 391 ke

2013 2012

e St o G~y
HK$’000 HK$°000 (%)

BT T BT
Snack N 1,121,713 1,055,317 +6.3
Confectionery bR 488,756 469,145 +4.2
Ham and sausage DY & 334,520 305,389 +9.5
Beverage and dairy products OB B FL A b 310,442 266,827 +16.3
Food materials/ingredients o EOREHCORE 235,905 224,853 +4.9

The sales of the major items of the Group have been growing steadily
during the year. Snack items continue to be the major items carried
by the Group with a growth of 6.3%. The launching of potato chips,
prawn crackers and corn sticks under the brand of “Four Seas” in
Mainland China has been carried out during the year. It has received
good response from the market due to the brand power of “Four Seas”
brand and is anticipated to bring sustainable growth of these products
for the Group.

Sales of confectionery items increased by 4.2% during the year and
continue to be well received by the market because many products
of the Group are under very famous brands. Gift box confectionery
enjoys very good sales during the festive seasons such as the Chinese
New Year. The recent addition of YOKU MOKU, a famous Japanese
food souvenir brand, to the Group’s product portfolio will further
enhance the sales growth of such gift box items.

Ham and sausage items are sold under “Maid” brand by the Group.
“Maid” brand products are renowned for its historical brandname
and good quality in Hong Kong market. Coupled with proper media
advertising, “Maid” brand products have captured good market shares.
Sales turnover of ham and sausage products have grown by 9.5%
during the year.

Beverage and dairy products have enjoyed a satisfactory sales growth
of 16.3% during the year. The increasing market demand for quality
and safe products in both Hong Kong and Mainland China markets has
brought about the growth of the beverage and dairy products business
of the Group. Four Seas Milk Drink, an item produced by the Group’s
beverage factory in Suzhou, China, has been well-received by the
consumers with good market potential.

Sales revenue of food materials/ingredients business has grown
steadily by 4.9% during the year. Major customers of the business
include restaurants, bakery and various kinds of food manufacturing
plants.
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MOKU > 51 % 4 [ 2 48 5578 fih 2 6 £ 20 20 1 2 3
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AHE [ 22 K B T I 7 i DA T A kR | ks R A
WG LR R > R AR B DL S
Hle ke E) > A RN EGE > SEFREN
B SHZ W o

FORE B LR TR 4F 9 Bk AH16.3% M T S BB R o R
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The directors present their report and the audited financial statements
of the Company and of the Group for the year ended 31 March 2013.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The principal activity of the Company is investment holding. Details
of the principal activities of the principal subsidiaries and associates
are set out in notes 19 and 20 to the financial statements, respectively.
There were no significant changes in the nature of the Group’s
principal activities during the year.

RESULTS AND DIVIDENDS

The Group’s profit for the year ended 31 March 2013 and the state of
affairs of the Company and the Group at that date are set out in the

financial statements on pages 52 to 171.

An interim dividend of HK2.0 cents per share was paid by the
Company on 10 January 2013. The directors recommend the payment
of a final dividend of HKS5.0 cents per share in respect of the year to
shareholders on the register of members on 3 September 2013. This
recommendation has been incorporated in the financial statements
as an allocation of retained profits within the equity section of the

statement of financial position.
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SUMMARY FINANCIAL INFORMATION

A summary of the results and of the assets and liabilities of the Group
for the last five financial years, as extracted from the published audited

SUh 5 28 e R 2%
A5 8 2 A A 2 38 2 R

FH L A e A7 A 1 S 85 e P R I > AR TR O 8

financial statements, is set out below: H:
Year ended 31 March
BEZH=1T—HILFEE
2013 2012 2011 2010 2009
SRS DRI DR ZE-RF ZEFINLE
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
T BT T T BT oo
RESULTS E¥
REVENUE N 2,899,647 2,789,334 2,561,847 2,347,582 2,290,626
PROFIT FOR THE YEAR =S| 107,203 43,787 72,733 83,319 90,537
Attributable to: BB .
Equity holders of the AR ) I 2
Company K 110,779 52,581 72,324 86,440 105,048
Non-controlling interests I 4 B WE 2% (3,576) (8,794) 409 (3,121) (14,511)
107,203 43,787 72,733 83,319 90,537
As at 31 March
BREA=+—H
2013 2012 2011 2010 2009
SRR ZF - SR DR -FE ZEFAE
HK$’000 HKS$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
BT BT BT Vo o T T o
ASSETS AND LIABILITIES ¥ & J fif&
TOTAL ASSETS HE E 2,465,385 2,425,843 2,362,492 2,163,798 2,086,086
TOTAL LIABILITIES S =Eiy (1,236,643)  (1,290,006)  (1,242,763)  (1,142,127)  (1,092,247)
1,228,742 1,135,837 1,119,729 1,021,671 993,839

The information set out above does not form part of the audited

financial statements.
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PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT
AND INVESTMENT PROPERTY

Details of movements in the property, plant and equipment, and an
investment property of the Group during the year are set out in notes
14 and 15 to the financial statements, respectively. Further details of

the Group’s investment property are set out on page 172.

SHARE CAPITAL

Details of movements in the Company’s share capital during the year

are set out in note 31 to the financial statements.

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There are no provisions for pre-emptive rights under the Company’s
articles of association or the laws of the Cayman Islands which would
oblige the Company to offer new shares on a pro rata basis to existing
shareholders.

RESERVES

Details of movements in the reserves of the Company and the Group
during the year are set out in note 33(b) to the financial statements and

in the consolidated statement of changes in equity, respectively.

DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES

At 31 March 2013, the Company’s reserves available for cash distribution
and/or distribution in specie amounted to HK$296,155,000, of which
HK$19,395,000 has been proposed as a final dividend for the year.

BORROWINGS

Details of the Group’s bank borrowings as at the end of the reporting

period are set out in note 29 to the financial statements.

| i =
ZEE i

Report of the Directors

o3
Yok ~ W b3 B i i B B ¥ 2%

ASRE F 3~ W5 S B BB SRR AR N 2 )
wF G 23 BB B B R 14 015 o ARG B
YRZ IR E172H -

JBe A
A P A 2 A Y RN T B B 9 31

85 S % DBt HiE

AR T 2 A F) AL AR R A B B R 2 ] s 3
SR AE A ) e 780 1) L B TR SR 4 R B L 491 B 4T R
JBe Ay 2 {8 S B EL A

ot A
TAAAEFEA > A ) B AR B2 1 5 4 2 B B AV 4
U 1 25 0 M RE 33 (b) B At W A 4 Y K o

] 23 0% 4 A

MRoB—Z4EZH=Z1—H > KARTHUB 45
IR %, BE 4 IRk Z ik 4 £5296,155,0008 6 > Hod
19,395,000%% 70 T 8 i A 2y AC4E BE M K A B B,
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DIRECTORS

The directors of the Company during the year were:
Executive directors:

TAI Tak Fung, Stephen (Chairman)

WU Mei Yung, Quinly (Managing Director)
MAN Wing Cheung, Ellis

YIP Wai Keung

WU Wing Biu

NAM Chi Ming, Gibson

Independent non-executive directors:

LEUNG Mei Han
CHAN Yuk Sang, Peter
Tsunao KIJIMA

In accordance with article 119 of the Company’s articles of
association, Ms. Wu Mei Yung, Quinly, Mr. Nam Chi Ming, Gibson
and Ms. Leung Mei Han shall retire and being eligible, will offer
themselves for re-election at the forthcoming annual general meeting.

The Company has received annual confirmations of independence
from Ms. Leung Mei Han, Mr. Chan Yuk Sang, Peter and Mr. Tsunao
Kijima pursuant to Rule 3.13 of the Rules Governing the Listing of
Securities on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock
Exchange”) (the “Listing Rules”) and still considers them to be

independent.

DIRECTORS’ SERVICE CONTRACTS

None of the directors who is proposed for re-election at the
forthcoming annual general meeting has a service contract with the
Company which is not determinable by the Company within one year

without payment of compensation, other than statutory compensation.
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DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION

The directors’ remuneration is reviewed by the remuneration
committee of the Group and determined by the Company’s board
of directors with reference to directors’ duties, responsibilities and
performance and the results of the Group. Particulars of the duties
and responsibilities of the remuneration committee are set out in

“Corporate Governance Report” of this annual report.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN CONTRACTS

No director had a material interest, either directly or indirectly, in
any contract of significance to the business of the Group to which the

Company or any of its subsidiaries was a party during the year.

DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S
INTERESTS AND/OR SHORT POSITIONS
IN THE SHARES AND UNDERLYING
SHARES OF THE COMPANY OR ANY
ASSOCIATED CORPORATION

As at 31 March 2013, the interests and short positions of the directors
and chief executive of the Company in the shares and underlying
shares of the Company or any of its associated corporations (within
the meaning of Part XV of the Securities and Futures Ordinance
(the “SFO”)), as recorded in the register required to be kept by the
Company under Section 352 of the SFO, or as otherwise notified to
the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to the Model Code
for Securities Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers (the “Model

Code”) as set out in Appendix 10 of the Listing Rules were as follows:

Long positions in the ordinary shares of the Company:

Report of the Directors
=5 f Wk

o 0 A

T 4 T o AR I T 2 B B % bR A A
PO B - BRI RR B AR 3
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AR R A A

TRAEIE P 57 16 B A 24 ) g B o I G 24
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T
N
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REF-ZF=ZA=Z4—H o KAFESR K&
BN B AR A ) sl H AT A AR B 3 P O 28 2 o B 01
R (TR 27 BB ) SEXVIER) Z JBe iy S A I
Jeir v > A A 2 TR R R 7 S0 65 R 491 5 3 5200
B Z B AU T e $% o SRR 8 b vin L B R 8% 10 B i
Z LTI BRAT N A 2 A2 S WA A S (A
S L) 2 AR 2 R R 28 i Z B AR BRI

TR AR 2y v 5 BB By 2 AT

Approximate
Number of percentage of

ordinary shares the Company’s

Name of director Capacity held/interested issued share capital
i
W Iy %7 ET9 %S
L XA E-gils #45 B4 WH eI H 2 e
Tai Tak Fung, Stephen Interest of controlled corporations 259,478,000 66.89%
wpEw J ) 2 ) HE 2
Wu Mei Yung, Quinly Interest of spouse and interest of 259,478,000 66.89%
controlled corporations
IR CAHS R i % 2 o 2 ) 2
Yip Wai Keung Beneficial owner 680,000 0.17%

R WA A

ZF - ZF F H o N W &£ B AR AR

25



_—

24 Report of the Directors

E R

DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S
INTERESTS AND/OR SHORT POSITIONS
IN THE SHARES AND UNDERLYING
SHARES OF THE COMPANY OR ANY
ASSOCIATED CORPORATION (continued)

Notes:

()

(i)

Such shares comprise:

(a)

(b)

(c)

70,000,000 shares, representing 18.05% of the Company’s issued
share capital, are held by Careful Guide Limited (“CGL”) which is
wholly-owned by Mr. Tai Tak Fung, Stephen;

74,250,000 shares, representing 19.14% of the Company’s issued
share capital, are owned by Special Access Limited (“SAL”), a
company wholly owned by Mr. Tai Tak Fung, Stephen, and his
spouse, Ms. Wu Mei Yung, Quinly. Accordingly, Mr. Tai Tak Fung,
Stephen and Ms. Wu Mei Yung, Quinly are deemed to be interested
in the 74,250,000 shares held by SAL; and

115,228,000 shares, representing 29.70% of the Company’s issued
share capital, are owned by Capital Season Investments Limited
(“CSI”). CSI is wholly owned by Advance Finance Investments
Limited (“AFI”), which is a wholly-owned subsidiary of Hong
Kong Food Investment Holdings Limited (“HKFH”). Accordingly,
HKFH is deemed to be interested in 115,228,000 shares in the
Company. HKFH is owned as to 0.07% by the Company, 2.59%
by Mr. Tai Tak Fung, Stephen, 20.38% by SAL, and as to 11.91%
by CGL. As Ms. Wu Mei Yung, Quinly is the spouse of Mr. Tai
Tak Fung, Stephen, Ms. Wu Mei Yung, Quinly is deemed to be
interested in the shares of Mr. Tai Tak Fung, Stephen and vice
versa. Therefore, Mr. Tai Tak Fung, Stephen, and his spouse, Ms.
Wu Mei Yung, Quinly are considered to have deemed interests in
the 115,228,000 shares of the Company by virtue of their interests
in HKFH.

As mentioned in note (i)(b) above, Ms Wu Mei Yung, Quinly and her

spouse, Mr Tai Tak Fung, Stephen are deemed to be interested in the
74,250,000 shares held by SAL. In addition to the deemed interests
of 115,228,000 shares in the Company’s issued share capital as stated

in note (i)(c) above, Ms. Wu Mei Yung, Quinly is also deemed to be

interested in the 70,000,000 shares through the interests of her spouse,
Mr. Tai Tak Fung, Stephen, in CGL.

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 March 2013, none of the directors

and chief executive of the Company had any interests or short

positions in the shares and underlying shares of the Company or any of

its associated corporations (within the meaning of Part XV of the SFO)

as recorded in the register required to be kept by the Company under

Section 352 of the SFO, or as otherwise notified to the Company and

the Stock Exchange pursuant to the Model Code.
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(a) 70,000,000J8 JB 4 (A6 A 2 & 8 47 B
A 218.05% ) J5 HiCareful Guide Limited
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WA

(b) 74,250,000/8 M i (A A< 2 W) © 8 47
A 2Z19.14% ) 75 HSpecial Access Limited
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St JoW] R L WS IR SALFT R
274,250,000/ Bt 4 B RESS 5 I

(c) 115,228,000/ JB A% (4 A 24\ % 47 B AR
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Limited ([ CSTJ) ##f o CSIHAdvance
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DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S
INTERESTS AND/OR SHORT POSITIONS
IN THE SHARES AND UNDERLYING
SHARES OF THE COMPANY OR ANY
ASSOCIATED CORPORATION (continued)

During the year ended 31 March 2013, none of the directors and chief
executive of the Company (including their spouse and children under
18 years of age) had been granted or exercised, any rights to subscribe
for shares in the Company required to be disclosed pursuant to the
SFO.

DIRECTORS’ RIGHTS TO ACQUIRE
SHARES OR DEBENTURES

Save as disclosed above, at no time during the year were rights to
acquire benefits by means of the acquisition of shares in or debentures
of the Company granted to any of the directors or their respective
spouses or minor children, or were any such rights exercised by them;
or was the Company, its holding company, or any of its subsidiaries or
fellow subsidiaries a party to any arrangement to enable the directors

to acquire such rights in any other body corporate.

SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS’
INTERESTS AND/OR SHORT POSITIONS
IN THE SHARES AND UNDERLYING
SHARES OF THE COMPANY

As at 31 March 2013, the following parties (other than the directors
and chief executive of the Company as disclosed above) had interests
of 5% or more in the shares of the Company as recorded in the register

required to be kept by the Company under Section 336 of the SFO:

Long positions in the ordinary shares of the Company:

Name of substantial
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Approximate
Number of percentage of

ordinary shares the Company’s

shareholder Capacity held/interested issued share capital
fiang

% B FATRA

FEBRAH S B4/ WA %A BERIH 2
SAL Beneficial owner E #5 #EH A 74,250,000 19.14%
CGL Beneficial owner B 25 #EH A 70,000,000 18.05%
CSI Beneficial owner B 25 #EH A 115,228,000 29.70%
AFI® Interest of controlled corporation ¥ il 2 &) #E %5 115,228,000 29.70%
HKFH 7 & i & Interest of controlled corporation 4 i 2w # 35 115,228,000 29.70%
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SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS’
INTERESTS AND/OR SHORT POSITIONS
IN THE SHARES AND UNDERLYING
SHARES OF THE COMPANY (continued)

Notes:

(i)  AFI is deemed by virtue of its holding of the entire issued share capital of
CSI to be interested in the shares of the Company held by CSI.

(i) HKFH is deemed to be interested in the shares of the Company held by
CSI by virtue of its holding in the entire issued share capital of AFI,

which in turn wholly owns CSI.

Save as disclosed above, to the best knowledge of the directors of the
Company, as at 31 March 2013, no persons (other than the directors
and chief executive of the Company, whose interests are set out in the
above section headed “Directors’ and chief executive’s interests and/or
short positions in the shares and underlying shares of the Company or
any associated corporation”) had interests and/or short positions in the
shares or underlying shares of the Company which were recorded in
the register required to be kept by the Company under Section 336 of
the SFO.

SHARE OPTION SCHEME

The share option scheme commenced on 17 September 2002 was
terminated on 28 August 2012 (the “Terminated Scheme”) and was
replaced by a new share option scheme approved by the shareholders
of the Company on 28 August 2012 (the “Scheme”). Details of the

share option scheme are set out in note 32 to the financial statements.

There was no outstanding share option under the Terminated Scheme
and/or the Scheme at the beginning and at the end of the year. During
the year ended 31 March 2013, no share option under the Terminated

Scheme and/or the Scheme was granted.
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PROFILES OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR
MANAGEMENT

Executive Directors

Dr. TAI Tak Fung, Stephen, GBS, SBS, JP, PhD (honoris causa),
aged 65, has been an executive director of the Company since June
1993. Dr. Tai is the founder and chairman of the Group, in charge
of corporate and policy planning. Apart from being awarded the
Gold Bauhinia Star and Silver Bauhinia Star by the Government
of the Hong Kong Special Administrative Region (“HKSAR”), Dr.
Tai has also been appointed as Justice of the Peace. He holds the
Visiting Professor of South China Normal University and South
China Agricultural University, member of the Board of Trustees
of Jinan University. He is a Standing Committee Member of the
National Committee of the Chinese People’s Political Consultative
Conference and a Standing Committee Member of the Guangdong
Provincial Committee of the Chinese People’s Political Consultative
Conference (“CPPCC”). Dr. Tai holds several public positions,
including the president of the Hong Kong Foodstuffs Association, the
president of Hong Kong Japan Confectionery, Biscuit & Foodstuffs
Association, the president of Friends of Hong Kong Association, the
founding chairman of the Hong Kong CPPCC (Provincial) Members
Association, the chairman of the Hong Kong Guangdong Chamber
of Foreign Investors, the consultant of the China National Food
Industry Association, Economic Adviser of Jilin City and a member
of the Greater Pearl River Delta Business Council of the HKSAR.
He received a number of awards and accolades, including the World
Outstanding Chinese Award, the Philanthropist Award of the Grand
Charity Ceremony 2011, the 30th Food Industry Distinguished Service
Award, the Award of the Ministry of Agriculture, Forestry and
Fisheries of Japan for the Overseas Promotion of Japanese Food, the
Outstanding Contribution Award of the China National Food Industry,
the China Food Safety Annual Conference Award of Distinguished
Management Entrepreneur, the Social Responsibility Contribution
Award, “Honourable Citizen of Shantou City”, “Honourable Citizen of
Guangzhou City” and “Honourable Citizen of Jilin City” in Mainland
China. He is also the chairman of Hong Kong Food Investment
Holdings Limited (“HKFH”), a substantial shareholder of the
Company and the shares of which are listed on the Main Board of the
Stock Exchange, and a director of Careful Guide Limited and Special
Access Limited, both of which are the substantial shareholders of the
Company. Dr. Tai is the spouse of Dr. Wu Mei Yung, Quinly, the

managing director and an executive director of the Company.
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PROFILES OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR
MANAGEMENT (continued)

Executive Directors (continued)

Dr. WU Mei Yung, Quinly, PhD (honoris causa), aged 60, has been
an executive director of the Company since June 1993. Dr. Wu is a
co-founder and the managing director of the Group, responsible for
the Group’s strategic planning and operation policies, leading the
Group’s core business in congruence with its corporate development.
She has more than 30 years’ experience in the food and confectionery
business. Dr. Wu is also a director of Careful Guide Limited and
Special Access Limited, both of which are the substantial shareholders
of the Company. She is the spouse of Dr. Tai Tak Fung, Stephen, the
chairman and an executive director of the Company. Dr. Wu is a sister

of Mr. Wu Wing Biu, an executive director of the Company.

Mr. MAN Wing Cheung, Ellis, aged 57, has been an executive
director of the Company since August 1999. Mr. Man is the finance
director of the Group, responsible for corporate finance, accounting,
information technology and project investments of the Group. Mr.
Man has a Master of Commerce degree from the University of New
South Wales in Australia. He is also a member of the CPA Australia
and the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants. He has
gained extensive experience in finance and accounting from overseas
multinational corporations. Mr. Man joined the Group in 1992. He is

also the managing director of HKFH.

Mr. WU Wing Biu, aged 54, has been an executive director of the
Company since June 1993. Mr. Wu has extensive experience in sales,
marketing and merchandising and is now responsible for product
purchasing, merchandising, brand name development, and assisting
in the establishment of close relationship with mainland Chinese and
overseas suppliers. He has more than 30 years’ experience in the food
and confectionery industry. Mr. Wu joined the Group in 1978. He is
a brother of Dr. Wu Mei Yung, Quinly, the managing director and an

executive director of the Company.

Mr. YIP Wai Keung, aged 63, has been an executive director of
the Company since June 1993. Mr. Yip is responsible for project
development of the Group and liaising with joint venture partners.
Prior to joining the Group, Mr. Yip was responsible for the sales and
marketing activities in a Japanese food company in Hong Kong. He
has more than 30 years’ experience in sales development. Mr. Yip

joined the Group in 1979. He is also an executive director of HKFH.
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PROFILES OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR
MANAGEMENT (continued)

Executive Directors (continued)

Mr. NAM Chi Ming, Gibson, aged 52, has been an executive
director of the Company since April 2010. Mr. Nam is responsible for
managerial controls and company secretarial affairs. He holds a Master
of Business Administration degree from The Chinese University of
Hong Kong. Mr. Nam is a member of the Hong Kong Institute of
Certified Public Accountants, a fellow member of the Association
of Chartered Certified Accountants in the United Kingdom and an
associate of both the Hong Kong Institute of Chartered Secretaries
and the Institute of Chartered Secretaries and Administrators. He has
extensive financial and managerial experience. Mr. Nam worked in the
Group from 1996 to 1999, and re-joined the Group in 2001.

Independent Non-executive Directors

Ms. LEUNG Mei Han, aged 54, has been an independent non-
executive director of the Company since December 1998. Ms.
Leung holds a Bachelor of Commerce degree from the University of
Queensland in Australia and is a fellow member of the CPA Australia.
Ms. Leung has more than 20 years’ experience in accounting,
securities, corporate finance and related areas. Ms. Leung is an
executive director of AMCO United Holding Limited. She is also an
independent non-executive director of Bossini International Holdings
Limited and Yue Da Mining Holdings Limited. The shares of these
companies are listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange.

Mr. CHAN Yuk Sang, Peter, aged 67, has been an independent non-
executive director of the Company since July 2000. Mr. Chan was the
chairman of a company listed on the Stock Exchange until July 2002.
He was a senior general manager of a local bank until November 1998.
Mr. Chan was also a director of a listed company in Hong Kong from
1993 to 1995 and an executive director of a joint Chinese foreign bank
in Shenzhen until 1995. He has more than 30 years’ experience in the
banking and finance industry. Mr. Chan is currently an independent
non-executive director of GOME Electrical Appliances Holding
Limited and Imagi International Holdings Limited, companies whose
shares are listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange.
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PROFILES OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR
MANAGEMENT (continued)

Independent Non-executive Directors (continued)

Mr. Tsunao KIJIMA, aged 65, has been appointed as an independent
non-executive director of the Company since July 2011. Mr. Kijima
holds a Bachelor of Arts degree in Economics from Keio University in
Japan. He was the executive vice president of Mitsubishi Corporation
and also the chief representative for China and Europe of Mitsubishi
Corporation during different periods of time. Mr. Kijima has more
than 35 years’ experience of worldwide trading of processed foods,
beverages, snack foods and other food products. Mr. Kijima served as
a non-executive director of Lianhua Supermarket Holdings Co., Ltd.,
a company whose shares are listed on the Main Board of the Stock
Exchange, from 2001 to 2006. He was an independent non-executive
director of the Company from 1997 to 2006.

Senior Management

Mr. Kaoru ISHIKAWA, aged 57, is the general manager of the
Group, responsible for planning and managing the Group’s businesses
in Mainland China. Before joining the Group, Mr. Ishikawa was the
president of Calbee Four Seas Company Limited, a joint venture
company of the Group and CALBEE, Inc. of Japan. He was later
promoted to the position of an operating officer of CALBEE, Inc. of
Japan and became the general manager of its West Japan Division,
responsible for food production, sales and marketing. Mr. Ishikawa
has more than 30 years’ experience in the food industry and joined the
Group in 2012.

Mr. TSE Siu Wan, aged 52, is a director and the general manager
of Hong Kong Ham Holdings Limited (“HK Ham”), a wholly-
owned subsidiary of the Group, responsible for the overall strategic
planning and production operation of the Group’s ham manufacturing
operations. He has extensive experience in the manufacturing of ham
and ham related products. Mr. Tse joined HK Ham in 1980. He is also
an executive director of HKFH.

Mr. LAI Yuk Fai, Patrick, aged 58, is the director of the Group’s
Hong Kong and Macau sales department, responsible for sales
development and strategic management planning of Hong Kong and
Macau markets. Mr. Lai has a Bachelor of Business Administration
degree from The Chinese University of Hong Kong. Prior to joining
the Group, he was the general manager of sales department of a
multinational company. Mr. Lai joined the Group in 1998 and
temporarily left in the latter part of 2007 and re-joined the Group in
2008.
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PROFILES OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR
MANAGEMENT (continued)

Senior Management (continued)

Mr. FUNG Kwok Wing, Kenny, aged 52, is the associate director of
the Group’s internal audit department, responsible for internal audit
function. Mr. Fung holds a Master of Business Administration degree,
Master of Corporate Governance degree, Master of Finance degree
and Master of Professional Accounting degree. He is also a member
of various professional institutes, including the Hong Kong Institute
of Certified Public Accountants, the Institute of Chartered Secretaries
and Administrators and the Chartered Institute of Marketing in the
United Kingdom. Mr. Fung has extensive experience in accounting and
administration. He joined the Group in 1985 and temporarily left in the
latter part of 2007 and re-joined the Group in 2008.

Ms. TAM Bo Yee, Joan, aged 35, is the financial controller of the
Group, responsible for finance and accounting. She holds a degree of
Bachelor of Business Administration in accountancy from the City
University of Hong Kong and a Master of Business Administration
degree from The Chinese University of Hong Kong. She is a member
of the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants and a
fellow member of the Association of Chartered Certified Accountants.
Ms. Tam has extensive experience in finance and accounting
profession. Prior to joining the Group, she was a manager of an
international accounting firm. Ms. Tam joined the Group in 2008.

MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

In the year under review, sales to the Group’s five largest customers
accounted for less than 30% of the Group’s total sales for the year.
Purchases from the Group’s five largest suppliers accounted for less
than 30% of the Group’s total purchases for the year.

None of the directors of the Company or any of their associates or any
shareholders (which, to the best knowledge of the directors, own more
than 5% of the Company’s issued share capital) had any beneficial

interest in the Group’s five largest customers and suppliers.
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LIQUIDITY AND FINANCIAL RESOURCES

The Group generally finances its operations with internally
generated cash flows and facilities granted by its principal bankers.
As at 31 March 2013, the Group held cash and cash equivalents
of HK$610,724,000. As at 31 March 2013, the Group had banking
facilities of HK$1,756,545,000 of which 49% had been utilised.
The Group had a gearing ratio of 71% as at 31 March 2013. This is
expressed as the total bank borrowings to equity attributable to equity
holders of the Company. Bank borrowings of the Group, denominated
in Hong Kong dollars, Japanese yen, Renminbi and United States
dollars, mainly comprise trust receipt loans and bank loans (the
“Interest-Bearing Bank Borrowings”) at prevailing market interest
rates. The Interest-Bearing Bank Borrowings which are classified as
current liabilities are repayable on demand or within one year and
the Interest-Bearing Bank Borrowings in non-current liabilities are
repayable in the second to third years. Certain bank loans of a non-
wholly-owned subsidiary are secured by the pledge of that non-
wholly-owned subsidiary’s certain leasehold land of HK$1,474,000
and certain buildings of HK$3,498,000. As at 31 March 2013, the

Group had no significant contingent liabilities.

STAFF EMPLOYMENT

The total number of employees of the Group as at 31 March 2013
was approximately 4,100. Remuneration packages are generally
structured by reference to market terms and individual qualifications.
Salaries and wages are normally reviewed on an annual basis based on

performance appraisals and other relevant factors.
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PURCHASE, REDEMPTION OR SALE OF
LISTED SECURITIES OF THE COMPANY

During the year, the Company repurchased certain of its shares on the
Stock Exchange. Together with 108,000 shares repurchased but not yet
cancelled during the year ended 31 March 2012, all the repurchased
shares were cancelled by the Company. The summary details of the
repurchases by the Company on the Stock Exchange during the year
ended 31 March 2013 were as follows:

B
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Purchase price per share

Number of 49 JBE Ik ST I Total

shares repurchased Highest Lowest price paid

Month of repurchase Ji I H By Pt W el JBe B % H 5w A% [SRERE ]
HK$ HKS$ HK$’000

# # BT

April 2012 —F—_FIH 2,286,000 2.51 1.88 5,180
December 2012 —“F—-ZH#+ZH 404,000 2.28 2.03 864
2,690,000 6,044

The issued share capital of the Company was reduced by the nominal
value of these cancelled shares. The premium paid on the repurchase
was charged to the share premium account. An amount equivalent to
the par value of the ordinary shares cancelled was transferred from

retained profits to the capital redemption reserve.

The repurchase of the Company’s shares during the year was effected
by the directors, pursuant to the mandates granted by shareholders at
the annual general meetings held on 18 August 2011 and 28 August
2012 respectively, with a view to benefiting shareholders as a whole
by enhancing the net asset value per share and earnings per share of

the Group.

Except as disclosed above, neither the Company, nor any of its
subsidiaries purchased, redeemed or sold any of the Company’s listed

securities during the year.

AR T Z OB AT BAC O I 2% S R B R 2 T
1B o i 18] C A R A % 96 M v (BT 0 B o B B
0 T A T AL 2 R Tl sk 2 DR 9 v )t A
el fif 4t 1A o

FER ERRES IR ZF——F )N\ HNHLEZ
E S VIV IS YINER I d LN i Wi
BT Z RN AR AT Z By > HF A AT Z
B JB A M R I A > T PR OR Al 3 R R 2 o

B bSO ER A A > AR TR SLAT (o] B A 7R AR A
B S0 0 L~ I A WA AT B R O

ZF - ZF F H o N W &£ B AR AR

| &= - P ——

33



34

[N yF i /(
i | f 4
; 7 .I
I

Reportofthel)kééhns
E R

CONTINUING CONNECTED
TRANSACTIONS

During the year, the Company and the Group had the following
continuing connected transactions, certain details of which are
disclosed in compliance with the requirements of Chapter 14A of the
Listing Rules.

On 6 August 2012, the Company entered into a Master Supply
Agreement with HKFH, a substantial shareholder of the Company,
pursuant to which the Company agreed to supply or procure its
subsidiaries to supply certain pre-packed food and beverage products
to HKFH and its subsidiaries for their retail business in Mainland
China. The Master Supply Agreement has a term commencing from
the date of the signing of the Master Supply Agreement until 31
March 2015, further details of which are included in the Company’s
announcement dated 6 August 2012. For the year ended 31 March
2013, the sales of goods to a subsidiary of HKFH amounted to
approximately HK$3,113,000.

The independent non-executive directors of the Company have
reviewed the continuing connected transactions set out above and have
confirmed that these continuing connected transactions were entered
into (i) in the ordinary and usual course of business of the Group; (ii)
on normal commercial terms or on terms no less favourable to the
Group than terms available to independent third parties; and (iii) in
accordance with the relevant agreements governing them on terms that
are fair and reasonable and in the interests of the shareholders of the

Company as a whole.

Ernst & Young, the Company’s auditors, were engaged to report on
the Group’s continuing connected transactions in accordance with
Hong Kong Standard on Assurance Engagements 3000 Assurance
Engagements Other Than Audits or Reviews of Historical Financial
Information and with reference to Practice Note 740 Auditor’s
Letter on Continuing Connected Transactions under the Hong Kong
Listing Rules issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants. Ernst & Young have issued their unqualified letter
containing their findings and conclusions in respect of the continuing
connected transactions disclosed above by the Group in accordance
with Rule 14A.38 of the Listing Rules. A copy of the auditors’ letter
has been provided by the Company to the Stock Exchange.

FOUR SEAS MERCANTILE HOLDINGS LIMITED ¢ ANNUAL REPORT 2013

5 281 Il L 32 B

N ARAT RAREEES TR RERELZ S H
H o T ORE T 8 R T LRI S 14 ATE 2 B i A
Wiz o

WF—TAENANHE > AR E B (R
A R ) 5T or — 4 32 BERE 1k o RRAR R Ik AR
2 i [v) 7 3% B AR o R JB 2 ) Bt B T B B
£ S OB B v A L HE A ) > DABEIL R
Bk R 48 R R o B s 2 AR T LR
gz ET e E _F—HEZHA=+—H1 >
HHBRRRAARAR T4 NHANBZAHE
o BMETR-ZE=ZA=ZF - HIREE > HFHE
Bz — [ BB A W 8 B B R WA 43,113,000
ik

A0y W B L AT HE S LR B B SO i e 2 B
B2 Gy o S W %A R A B R 5 T () AR I 2 H
WRE 5 (DI BB VO AR > %%
8 5y BB K AS T8 T T8 S 30 = 5 P BUAR Z AK 5 K (i)
WU B 32 5 2 Wil R A AT > T A R A0 i 8
BB SR A ROR Z B 2 o

A 2 ) A% SR 22 K LR R T R R RS
w7 A Y A v B s 3 e I SR 300055 [ &
B 7 B B F LS | e 2 R
SET40%% [ B2 vl (L 17 B R ) T 4 1 488 g 7 58 4 1)
12 2R R F 1A AR A T 0 R B R AR B o K T
B B AR R bR R SR 14 A 38R B8 H AR B
TR E 5 B A A R AR AR R bSO
BB R G AL B MR B R AR o AR ) D
il bR 1 ) AR 2% I A8 BT o



SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT

Based on information that is publicly available to the Company and
within the knowledge of the directors, at least 25% of the Company’s
total issued share capital was held by the public as at the date of this

report.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

Details of the Company’s corporate governance practices are set out in
the “Corporate Governance Report” of this annual report.

AUDIT COMMITTEE

The Company has an audit committee which was established in
compliance with Rule 3.21 of the Listing Rules, for the purposes
of reviewing and providing supervision over the Group’s financial
reporting process and internal controls. The audit committee comprises

the independent non-executive directors of the Company.

The summary of duties and works of the audit committee is set out in

the “Corporate Governance Report” of this annual report.

AUDITORS

Ernst & Young retire and a resolution for their reappointment as
auditors of the Company will be proposed at the forthcoming annual

general meeting.

ON BEHALF OF THE BOARD

TAI Tak Fung, Stephen, GBS, SBS, JP

Chairman

Hong Kong, 27 June 2013
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The board of directors (the “Board”) of the Company is pleased to
present this Corporate Governance Report in the Group’s annual report
for the year ended 31 March 2013.

The Company’s corporate governance policies and practices are
applied and implemented in the manners as stated in the below

Corporate Governance Report.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRACTICES

The Company and the management are committed to maintain a
good corporate governance with an emphasis on the principles of
transparency, accountability and independence to all shareholders.
The Company believes that good corporate governance is essential
to a continual growth and enhancement of shareholders’ value. The
Company periodically reviews its corporate governance practices
with reference to the latest development of corporate governance.
Throughout the year under review, the Company has applied the
principles of and complied with most of the code provisions of the
Corporate Governance Code (the “CG Code”) as set out in Appendix
14 of the Listing Rules with the exception of code provisions A.4.1
and A.4.2 of the CG Code, details will be set out below.

The key corporate governance principles and practices of the Company

are summarised as follows:

BOARD OF DIRECTORS

Responsibilities, Accountabilities and Contributions of the Board

and Management

The role of the Board is to set up strategic goals, performance
objectives and operational policies; establish a framework of prudent
and effective controls which enables risk to be assessed and managed;
delegate authorities to the management to manage and supervise
the business of the Group; and ensure the management monitor
performance against objectives being set.

The Company has formalised a written guideline for the division
of responsibilities between the Board and the management. Certain
responsibilities or functions have been delegated by the Board to
the management which include the day-to-day business operation of
the Group, execution of corporate strategies approved by the Board,
business and financial plans and budgets approved by the Board and
preparation of annual and interim financial statements. The Board has
reserved for its decisions matters of the Group covering the approval
of significant changes in accounting or capital structure; approval of
public announcements and the financial statements; approval of major
acquisitions, disposals and major capital projects; approval of material
borrowings and any issuing or buying back of equity securities;
approval of the annual budget and setting of the dividend policy.
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS (continued)

Board Composition

The Board of the Company comprises nine directors consisting of six
executive directors and three independent non-executive directors.

The following chart shows the structure and membership of the Board

and Board’s Committees as at 31 March 2013:
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BRECR-=Z2F=ZA=ZFH EHGREREH
2R B BB R T 3

WA

BT H

WS (EH)

SCRFE

Yip Wai Keung
R

Wu Wing Biu
WK AR

&

B LI THEH
Leung Mei Han

e
Tsunao Kijima

A s 40 1

Board of Directors

Executive directors

Tai Tak Fung, Stephen (Chairman)

Wu Mei Yung, Quinly (Managing Director)
WIS (FFH AP
Man Wing Cheung, Ellis

Nam Chi Ming, Gibson

Independent non-executive directors

Chan Yuk Sang, Peter

Company Secretary
2 ) B

Nam Chi Ming, Gibson
L]

Executive Committee
Wi EAH

Tai Tak Fung, Stephen
(Chairman)

WY ()

Wu Mei Yung, Quinly
R

Man Wing Cheung, Ellis
SO

Yip Wai Keung

25 5t

Audit Committee
HBEERG

Leung Mei Han
(Chairperson)
B (EH)

Chan Yuk Sang, Peter
PR A=

Tsunao Kijima

NS

Remuneration Committee Nomination Committee

FMELE REZOE

Chan Yuk Sang, Peter Tai Tak Fung, Stephen
(Chairman) (Chairman)

BRE A (L) BB (L)

Wu Mei Yung, Quinly Leung Mei Han
Leung Mei Han Chan Yuk Sang, Peter

Biographical information of the directors and relevant relationships

among the directors are set out in the section headed “Profiles of

S 1 R AT R IR R U A A R R O R
M R BN B R A ] — 6 -

Directors and Senior Management” in the Report of the Directors of

this Annual Report.
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS (continued)

Board Meeting
Number of Meetings and Directors’ Attendance

The Board meets regularly throughout the year to discuss and
formulate overall strategies for the Company, monitor financial
performance and discuss the interim and annual results, as well as
other significant matters.

The Board has convened four regular meetings during the year ended
31 March 2013 and the attendance record of each director at the said
board meeting and the annual general meeting of the Company is set
out below:

A (5)
0 1

1 i ok B T I Y

AR 9 R 9 Bk DA e % i RT AR A ]
R SR B K U AR B b U A AR R A
IR R FIH -

FHEERBREF-=H=ZA=Z1—HILEEH
BH I A2 S0 7 vk o T A% R i 2 o R B
A KT B R R SRS T

Number of meetings attended/held

R BT K B
Regular Annual
Board General
Meeting Meeting
Name of director WA WHEGgEH e BEHEERE
Executive directors PuAT ok g8
Tai Tak Fung, Stephen (Chairman) RN (L) 4/4 1/1
Wu Mei Yung, Quinly (Managing Director) W SEIY (F H A A BE) 4/4 1/1
Man Wing Cheung, Ellis K HE 4/4 /1
Yip Wai Keung BE ff ol 4/4 /1
Wu Wing Biu (iR 4/4 1/1
Nam Chi Ming, Gibson [y 4/4 1/1
Independent non-executive directors S Ik P AT g
Leung Mei Han e 4/4 1/1
Chan Yuk Sang, Peter R E R 4/4 1/1
Tsunao Kijima A B 4 4/4 0/1

Practices and Conduct of Meetings

Notice of regular Board meetings is served to all directors at least 14
days before the meetings while reasonable notice is generally given for
other Board meetings. For committee meetings, notices are served in
accordance with the required notice period stated in the relevant terms

of reference.

Board papers together with all appropriate, complete and reliable
information are sent to all directors or committee members at least
3 days before each Board meeting and each committee meeting
to keep the directors or committee members apprised of the latest
developments and financial position of the Company and to enable
them to make informed decisions. All directors are encouraged to take
independent professional advice, at the Company’s expense, upon the
performance of their duties as and when deemed necessary. The Board
and each director have separate and independent access to the senior

management where necessary.
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS (continued)

Board Meeting (continued)
Practices and Conduct of Meetings (continued)

Minutes of all Board meetings and committee meetings are kept by the
Company Secretary. Draft minutes are normally circulated to directors
for comment within a reasonable time after each meeting and final

version is open for directors’ inspection.

If a substantial shareholder or a director has a conflict of interest in
a matter to be considered material by the Board, the matter will be
dealt with in accordance with applicable rules and regulations and, if
appropriate, an independent Board committee will be set up to deal

with the matter.

Directors’ Appointment and Re-election

The Board is empowered under the articles of association of the
Company (the “Articles of Association”) from time to time and at any
time to appoint any person as a director either to fill a casual vacancy
or as an additional member of the Board. Appointments are first
considered by the Nomination Committee and recommendations of the
Nomination Committee are then put to the Board for decision. Details
in respect of the process and criteria for the Nomination Committee to
select and recommend candidates for directorship are provided in the
section headed “Nomination Committee”.

In accordance with the Articles of Association, one-third of the
directors for the time being or, if their number is not three or a
multiple of three, then the number nearest to but not less than
one-third, shall retire from office by rotation for re-election by
shareholders at annual general meeting, such that every director is

subject to retirement by rotation at least once every three years.

Under the code provision A.4.1, non-executive directors should be
appointed for a specific term, subject to re-election. Currently, all
independent non-executive directors of the Company are not appointed
for a specific term but are subject to retirement by rotation and re-
election at the annual general meeting of the Company in accordance
with the Articles of Association. As such, the Board considers that
sufficient measures have been taken to ensure that the Company’s
corporate governance practices are no less exacting than those in the
CG Code.
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS (continued)

Directors’ Appointment and Re-election (continued)

Under the code provision A.4.2, all directors appointed to fill a casual
vacancy should be subject to election by shareholders at the first
general meeting after their appointment. Every director, including
those appointed for a specific term, should be subject to retirement
by rotation at least once every three years. In accordance with the
Articles of Association, any director appointed to fill a casual vacancy
shall hold office only until the next following annual general meeting
and shall then be eligible for re-election. The Board considers that
such a deviation is not material as casual vacancy seldom appears and
interval between the appointment made to fill casual vacancy and the

immediate following annual general meeting is short.

Directors’ Continuous Professional Development

Each newly appointed director receives a comprehensive, formal
and tailored induction on the first occasion of his/her appointment
to ensure proper understanding of the operations and business
of the Company and full awareness of director’s responsibilities
and obligations under the Listing Rules and relevant regulatory

requirements.

All directors have complied with the code provision in relation
to continuous professional development to develop and refresh
their knowledge and skills. The board of directors of the Company
comprising Mr. Tai Tak Fung, Stephen, Ms. Wu Mei Yung, Quinly,
Mr. Man Wing Cheung, Ellis, Mr. Yip Wai Keung, Mr. Wu Wing
Biu and Mr. Nam Chi Ming, Gibson as executive directors and
Ms. Leung Mei Han, Mr. Chan Yuk Sang, Peter and Mr. Tsunao
Kijima as independent non-executive directors, all of them have
attended a briefing during a board meeting of the Company held
during the year, with relevant reading materials given to directors,
on corporate governance, regulatory developments and changes of
accounting standards. In addition, relevant reading materials on the
abovementioned topics or other topics relevant to the Company’s
business and director’s duties and responsibilities have been given to
the directors of the Company from time to time during the year ended
31 March 2013.

The Company continuously updates the directors on developments in

the statutory and regulatory regime and the business environment to

facilitate the discharge of their responsibilities.
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS (continued)

Chairman and Managing Director

Currently, Mr. Tai Tak Fung, Stephen and Ms. Wu Mei Yung, Quinly
hold the positions of Chairman and Managing Director respectively.
Their respective responsibilities are clearly defined and set out in

writing.

The Chairman provides leadership for the Board and is responsible
for the effective functioning of the Board in accordance with
good corporate governance practice. With the support of the
executive directors and senior management, the Managing Director
is responsible for managing the Group’s business, including
implementation of objectives, policies and major strategies and
initiatives adopted by the Board. She is also in charge of the
Company’s day-to-day operation in accordance with the instructions
from the Board.

Independent Non-executive Directors

During the year ended 31 March 2013, the Board at all times met
the requirements of the Listing Rules relating to the appointment
of at least 3 independent non-executive directors, representing one-
third of the Board, with at least one of them possessing appropriate
professional qualifications or accounting or related financial
management expertise as required under Rules 3.10(1) and (2), and
3.10A of the Listing Rules. The Company has received a written
annual confirmation from each independent non-executive director
of his/her independence and the Company considers the existing
independent non-executive directors to be independent under the
independence guidelines set out in Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules up to
the date of this Annual Report.
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BOARD COMMITTEES

The Board has established four committees, namely the Executive
Committee, the Audit Committee, the Remuneration Committee
and the Nomination Committee, for overseeing particular aspects of
the Company’s affairs. All Board committees of the Company are
established with specific written terms of reference which are available
to shareholders upon request. The terms of reference of the Board
committees, except those of Executive Committee, are also available

for viewing on the websites of the Company and the Stock Exchange.

Executive Committee

The Executive Committee was established with specific written terms

of reference and all of its members are executive directors.

The primary duties of the Executive Committee include approval and
execution of the corporate guarantees to be provided by the Company
to individual bankers in respect of the banking facilities granted to
any member of the Group, including wholly-owned subsidiaries, non-
wholly-owned subsidiaries and associated corporations within the

meaning of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

Audit Committee

The Audit Committee was established with specific written terms
of reference and all of its members are independent non-executive
directors, one of them possesses the appropriate professional
qualifications or accounting or related financial management expertise.
The Audit Committee currently comprises three independent non-
executive directors, namely Ms. Leung Mei Han (Chairperson of the
Audit Committee), Mr. Chan Yuk Sang, Peter and Mr. Tsunao Kijima.

The primary duties of the Audit Committee are to review and
supervise the financial reporting process and internal control system
of the Group, to monitor the integrity of the Company’s financial
statements and financial reporting, to maintain an appropriate
relationship with the Company’s auditors, and to oversee the audit

process.

The Audit Committee held two meetings during the year ended 31
March 2013 to review the accounting principles and practices adopted
by the Group and discuss internal controls and financial reporting
matters including a review of the interim financial statements for
the six months ended 30 September 2012 and the annual financial
statements for the year ended 31 March 2012 of the Company. The
Audit Committee has also reviewed the annual results for the year
ended 31 March 2013 of the Group.
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BOARD COMMITTEES (continued)

Audit Committee (continued)

The attendance records of the Audit Committee during the year are set
out below:

| o= 4
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1 5% B 0 W

wREZHG ()
WHE UG (5

W% H AR A B R O SRS R

Number of meetings attended/held

Name of committee member ZHEWHAM Y Y ZiRf /e 1
Leung Mei Han (Chairperson of Audit Committee) REW(FHRZAGTEE) 2/2
Chan Yuk Sang, Peter 1 e 2/2
Tsunao Kijima y N 2/2
Remuneration Committee HZE R e

The Remuneration Committee was established with specific written
terms of references and is currently constituted by two independent
non-executive directors, namely Mr. Chan Yuk Sang, Peter (Chairman
of the Remuneration Committee) and Ms. Leung Mei Han and an

executive director, namely Ms. Wu Mei Yung, Quinly.

The Company has adopted the model where the Remuneration
Committee makes recommendations to the Board on the remuneration
packages of individual executive directors and senior management.
The primary duties of the Remuneration Committee are to make
recommendations to the Board on the policy and structure for
the remuneration of all directors and senior management and the
remuneration packages of individual directors and senior management

of the Company.

The Remuneration Committee has convened one meeting during
the year to review, inter alia, the Group’s remuneration policy and
structure, and the remuneration of all directors for the year under
review. Details of the emoluments of each director of the Company are
set out in note 8 to the financial statements.

The attendance records of the Remuneration Committee during the

year are set out below:

Wi Z& B OB ar o S DL AT B Y Ik R
W > B R B A T 2 S R AT B R A Sk
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A5 ) 7% 1B R4 JBE 1 A 2 T W 7 T 1B SR A48 DL R 2
B SO o AR 2 R 2% 3 o B0 T < 5 1 AR A AR
S 5 o M S o

W& H B R AR AR R RS BRI E

Number of meetings attended/held

Name of committee member ZHOAWBAR W8T f ik B
Chan Yuk Sang, Peter B £ 2k

(Chairman of Remuneration Committee) (FFWZ B &F5) 1/1
Wu Mei Yung, Quinly [iEE: 1/1
Leung Mei Han PLE S 1/1
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BOARD COMMITTEES (continued)

Remuneration Committee (continued)

For the year ended 31 March 2013, the remuneration of the members
of the senior management, not being the directors of the Company, by

band is set out below:

wREZHG ()
LESRACT

BRER-=SHZA=Z1THIEFEEERAE R
HAREHANB ZH WAL T

Number of persons

Remuneration band i TN 4 50 N
(HKS$) (#7c)

Nil to 1,000,000 £ 51,000,000 4
2,000,001 to 2,500,000 2,000,001%2,500,000 1

Further particulars regarding the directors’ and chief executive’s
emoluments and the five highest paid employees as required to be
disclosed pursuant to Appendix 16 of the Listing Rules are set out in

notes 8 and 9 to the financial statements.

Nomination Committee

The Nomination Committee was established with specific written
terms of reference and currently comprises an executive director,
namely Mr. Tai Tak Fung, Stephen (Chairman of the Nomination
Committee) and two independent non-executive directors, namely Ms.
Leung Mei Han and Mr. Chan Yuk Sang, Peter.

The primary duties of the Nomination Committee are to review
the Board composition, developing and formulating the relevant
procedures for nomination and appointment of directors, monitoring
the appointment and succession planning of directors and assessing the

independence of independent non-executive directors.

The Nomination Committee also would carry out the selection process
when there were vacancies on the Board, by making reference to the
skills, experience, professional knowledge, personal integrity and time
commitments of the proposed candidates, the Company’s needs and

other relevant statutory requirements.

The Nomination Committee has convened one meeting during the year
under review, inter alias, the Board’s structure, size and composition
to ensure that it had a balance of expertise, skills and experience

appropriate to the requirements of the business of the Company.
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BOARD COMMITTEES (continued)

Nomination Committee (continued)

The attendance records of the Nomination Committee during the year
are set out below:
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Number of meetings attended/held

Name of committee member ZEFRBAR HR B AT Ak
Tai Tak Fung, Stephen E Iy

(Chairman of Nomination Committee) (1BEZHAFEMH) 171
Leung Mei Han I 1/1
Chan Yuk Sang, Peter [ 1/1
Corporate Governance Functions e X g1 i

For corporate governance, the Board is responsible for performing the

functions set out in code provision D.3.1 of the CG Code.

The Board reviewed the Company’s corporate governance policies
and practices, training and continuous professional development
of directors and senior management, the Company’s policies and
practices in compliance with legal and regulatory requirements,
the compliance of the Model Code for Securities Transactions by
Directors of Listed Issuers (the “Model Code”) as set out on Appendix
10 to the Listing Rules and the Company’s compliance with the CG

Code and disclosure in this Corporate Governance Report.

MODEL CODE FOR SECURITIES
TRANSACTIONS

The Company has adopted the Model Code as the Company’s code of
conduct regarding securities transactions by directors of the Company
(the “Code of Conduct”). Having made specific enquiry of all directors
of the Company, the directors have confirmed that they have complied
with the required standard of dealings as set out in the Code of
Conduct throughout the year ended 31 March 2013.

The Company has also established the Code for Securities Transaction
by the Relevant Employees (the “Employees Code”) on no less
exacting terms than the Model Code for securities transactions by the
employees who are likely to be in possession of inside information of
the Company. No incident of non-compliance of the Employees Code
by the employees was noted by the Company throughout the year
ended 31 March 2013.
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ACCOUNTABILITY AND AUDIT

Financial Reporting

The directors acknowledge their responsibility for preparing the
financial statements of the Company for the year ended 31 March
2013. In preparing the financial statements for the year ended 31
March 2013, appropriate accounting principles and policies are
selected and applied consistently; judgments and estimates made are
appropriate and reasonable; and these financial statements have been

prepared on a going concern basis.

The senior management of the Company provides the Board with
such information and explanations as are necessary to enable the
Board to carry out an informed assessment of the Company’s financial

information and position, which are put to the Board for approval.

The Board is also responsible for presenting a balanced, clear and
understandable assessment of both annual and interim reports, inside
information announcements and other disclosures required under the

Listing Rules and other regulatory requirements.

The responsibilities of the Company’s external auditor, Messrs. Ernst
& Young (“E&Y”), are set out in the Independent Auditors’ Report of
this Annual Report.

There are no material uncertainties relating to events or conditions that
may cast significant doubt upon the Company’s ability to continue as a

going concern.

External Auditor’s Remuneration

E&Y have been re-appointed as the Company’s external auditor by
shareholders at the 2012 annual general meeting until the conclusion
of the next annual general meeting. They are primarily responsible for
providing audit services in connection with the financial statements for
the year ended 31 March 2013.

For the year ended 31 March 2013, E&Y received approximately
HK$2,480,000 (2012: HK$2,250,000) for audit and related services
and HK$519,000 (2012: HK$456,000) for other non-audit services
which include the taxation services.
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INTERNAL CONTROLS

The Board is responsible for maintaining an adequate internal control
system to safeguard shareholders investments and the Company’s
assets and reviewing its effectiveness. The system has been designed
to manage the risk of failure to achieve corporate objectives rather
than eliminate the risk of failure to achieve the business objective.
Therefore, it can only provide reasonable but not absolute assurance
against material misstatement, loss or fraud. The Board has delegated
to the management the implementation of the strategies and policies on
internal controls and risk management adopted by the Board and the
review of relevant financial, operational and compliance controls and

risk management procedures.

During the year under review, the Board has reviewed the effectiveness
of the internal controls of the Group including the adequacy of resources,
qualifications and experience of staff of the Group’s accounting and

financial reporting function and their training programmes and budget.

COMPANY SECRETARY

Mr. Nam Chi Ming, Gibson, an executive director of the Company,
is the company secretary. During the year under review, Mr. Nam

undertook more than 15 hours of relevant professional training.
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SHAREHOLDERS’ RIGHTS

Convening of Extraordinary General Meeting by Shareholders

Pursuant to Article 73 of the Articles of Association of the Company,
the Board may, whenever it thinks fit, convene an extraordinary
general meeting. General meetings shall also be convened on the
written requisition of shareholders holding at the date of deposit not
less than one-tenth of the paid up capital of the Company which carries
the right to vote at the principal office of the Company in Hong Kong

specifying the objects of the meeting and signed by the requisitionists.

If the Board does not within 30 days from the date of deposit of the
requisition proceed to convene the general meeting, the requisitionists
themselves may convene the general meeting in the same manner, as
nearly as possible, as that in which meetings may convened by the
Board, and all reasonable expenses incurred by the requisitionists as
a result of the failure of the Board shall be reimbursed to them by the
Company.

Proposing a Person for Election as a Director

The procedures for shareholders to propose a person for election as a
director of the Company are available for viewing on the Company’s

website at www.fourseasgroup.com.hk.

Shareholders’ Enquiries and Proposals

Shareholders may send their enquiries or requests for putting forward
proposals at shareholders’ meetings to the Company’s principal place
of business at Four Seas Group Building, No. 1 Hong Ting Road, Sai
Kung, Hong Kong for the attention of the Company Secretary.

FOUR SEAS MERCANTILE HOLDINGS LIMITED ¢ ANNUAL REPORT 2013
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COMMUNICATION WITH
SHAREHOLDERS

On 1 April 2012, the Board adopted a Shareholders’ Communication
Policy reflecting mostly current practices of the Company
for communication with its shareholders. Such policy aims at
disseminating information in relation to the Group to shareholders in
a timely manner through a number of formal channels, which include
interim and annual reports, announcements and circulars, and is

reviewed regularly by the Board to ensure its effectiveness.

The Company maintains a website at www.fourseasgroup.com.hk as
a communication platform with shareholders and investors, where
information and updates on the Company’s announcements, business
developments/operations and other information are available for public

access.

The Company’s annual general meeting provides a forum for
communication between the Board and the shareholders. The chairman
of the Board and Board committees actively participate in the annual
general meeting and answer questions from the shareholders. Notice
of the annual general meeting is sent to the shareholders at least 20
clear business days before the meeting. All resolutions put forward
at shareholder meetings including the annual general meeting will be
voted on by poll pursuant to the Listing Rules and the poll results will
be posted on the websites of the Stock Exchange and of the Company

after each shareholder meeting.

During the year under review, the Company has not made any
changes to the Articles of Association. A consolidated version of the
Company’s Memorandum and Articles of Association is available on

the websites of the Company and the Stock Exchange.
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Independent Auditors’ Report
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Ell ERNST & YOUNG
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To the shareholders of Four Seas Mercantile Holdings Limited
(Incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of Four Seas
Mercantile Holdings Limited (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries
(together, the “Group”) set out on pages 52 to 171, which comprise
the consolidated and company statements of financial position as at 31
March 2013, and the consolidated income statement, the consolidated
statement of comprehensive income, the consolidated statement of
changes in equity and the consolidated statement of cash flows for the
year then ended, and a summary of significant accounting policies and

other explanatory information.

DIRECTORS’ RESPONSIBILITY FOR
THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation of
consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair view in
accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards issued
by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants and the
disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance,
and for such internal control as the directors determine is necessary
to enable the preparation of consolidated financial statements that are

free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

AUDITORS’ RESPONSIBILITY

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these consolidated
financial statements based on our audit. Our report is made solely
to you, as a body, and for no other purpose. We do not assume
responsibility towards or accept liability to any other person for the

contents of this report.

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards
on Auditing issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants. Those standards require that we comply with ethical
requirements and plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable
assurance about whether the consolidated financial statements are free

from material misstatement.
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To the shareholders of Four Seas Mercantile Holdings Limited
(Incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

AUDITORS’ RESPONSIBILITY (continued)

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence
about the amounts and disclosures in the consolidated financial
statements. The procedures selected depend on the auditors’
judgement, including the assessment of the risks of material
misstatement of the consolidated financial statements, whether due to
fraud or error. In making those risk assessments, the auditors consider
internal control relevant to the entity’s preparation of consolidated
financial statements that give a true and fair view in order to design
audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not
for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of
the entity’s internal control. An audit also includes evaluating the
appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of
accounting estimates made by the directors, as well as evaluating the

overall presentation of the consolidated financial statements.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and

appropriate to provide a basis for our audit opinion.

OPINION

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and
fair view of the state of affairs of the Company and of the Group as
at 31 March 2013, and of the Group’s profit and cash flows for the
year then ended in accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting
Standards and have been properly prepared in accordance with the
disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

Ernst & Young
Certified Public Accountants

Hong Kong
27 June 2013
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Consolidated Income Statemenf

A W R

Year ended 31 March 2013 &E_F—-Z4£=ZA=+—HILEE

2013 2012
—g—=4 SR
Notes HK$’000 HK$’000
7t T o T
REVENUE WA 5 2,899,647 2,789,334
Cost of sales BB R AR (2,014,020) (2,004,166)
Gross profit EH 885,627 785,168
Other income and gains FE At e A B W 25 5 46,478 13,722
Selling and distribution expenses R Y &gtk | (495,545) (460,828)
Administrative expenses AT BUBA 32 (255,755) (237,559)
Other operating expenses A 225 8 B S (30,732) (25,904)
Finance costs il R AR 6 (18,577) (16,808)
Share of profits and losses of associates JRE A W28 28 ] e R K e 1R 9,244 9,741
PROFIT BEFORE TAX % B wij i A 7 140,740 67,532
Income tax expense Pt 44 . B 32 10 (33,537) (23,745)
PROFIT FOR THE YEAR AR P9 %k A 107,203 43,787
Attributable to: B
Equity holders of the Company A2\ B W 2 R 11 110,779 52,581
Non-controlling interests I ¥ IR W 2 (3,576) (8,794)
107,203 43,787
HK cents HK cents
A A
EARNINGS PER SHARE A A ¥ AR T
ATTRIBUTABLE TO ORDINARY JHE A 9 B 28 )
EQUITY HOLDERS OF
THE COMPANY
— Basic and diluted — B R 4 13 28.5 13.5

Details of the dividends paid and proposed for the year are disclosed in

note 12 to the financial statements.
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Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income 53

A A i W AR R

Year ended 31 March 2013 E -F—-Z4£=A=+—HILEE

2013 2012
R A —F—_4
Notes HKS$’000 HK$’000
Mt W T B F T
PROFIT FOR THE YEAR 4 e A 107,203 43,787
OTHER COMPREHENSIVE Hofb 2w 2E Ol #1)
INCOME/(LOSS)
Available-for-sale investments: R R < g
Changes in fair value oV {E 5 ) 13,994 (25,039)
Reclassification adjustments for HAlamEZ R
gains/losses included in the & Z EH B
consolidated income statement e %
— gain on disposal - HEZ W 5 (8,655) (5,109)
— impairment losses — VE i 4R 7 13,627 11,051
Income tax effect It 44 o 5 4% - =
18,966 (19,097)
Share of other comprehensive R A T 2 > ] G At 4 i WAL 2
income of associates 870 3,417
Release of exchange fluctuation reserve B B R A R R R B
upon disposal of subsidiaries T 58, ¢ ) 1ok 4 34 (4,639) -
Exchange differences on translation 0055 g A1 S T 1 I B 25
of foreign operations 13,213 14,944
OTHER COMPREHENSIVE A Al A R, Ol 4L »
INCOME/(LOSS) FOR THE B B 4%
YEAR, NET OF TAX 28,410 (736)
TOTAL COMPREHENSIVE A Py 48 2 i W 2%
INCOME FOR THE YEAR 135,613 43,051
Attributable to: Bk
Equity holders of the Company AN R R % 11 138,519 50,953
Non-controlling interests I I RE 25 (2,906) (7,902)
135,613 43,051
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Position

0 B IR D R

31 March 2013 R=ZF—=4=H=+—H

2013 2012
—F—-Z4R - St 2
Notes HKS$’000 HKS$’000
At it YT BT T
NON-CURRENT ASSETS kU By
Property, plant and equipment L/ B & ] 14 563,834 569,189
Investment property ER g/ ES 15 19,998 19,669
Prepaid land lease payments TH AT 4 Hb LB 3K0E 16 113,146 116,164
Goodwill [k 17 36,809 38,177
Non-current livestock EEMEE 18 - 119
Investments in associates REEARZRE 20 158,698 151,289
Available-for-sale investments ]k R 21 77,533 93,208
Deposits I 25 18,092 20,715
Deferred tax assets 8 48 I 30 1,576 1,281
Total non-current assets J 3 Bl B A 989,686 1,009,811
CURRENT ASSETS i B ¥
Due from associates R W Wi 7 2 ) 20 15 561
Current livestock HHAE 22 179 3,647
Inventories Feyt 23 253,094 218,220
Trade receivables JE W B 5 Bk 24 502,953 525,978
Prepayments, deposits FAT R ~ 7T R
and other receivables At JRE WK S 25 94,798 110,028
Tax recoverable ) g [l A TE 1,924 5,451
Financial assets at fair value W TEBE BB
through profit or loss AMRZ &g A 26 12,012 -
Cash and cash equivalents BREeRBE&EMEEA 27 610,724 552,147
Total current assets B & e A 1,475,699 1,416,032
CURRENT LIABILITIES i B £ £
Trade payables, other payables JE A B 5 Rk~ At
and accruals AR MM R U 28 335,484 316,683
Interest-bearing bank borrowings SR BT R B Z SRAT K 29 781,630 862,868
Tax payable JRE A B I 26,745 20,909
Total current liabilities B R A 1,143,859 1,200,460
NET CURRENT ASSETS Ui B 331,840 215,572
TOTAL ASSETS LESS BT DL U ) £
CURRENT LIABILITIES 1,321,526 1,225,383

FOUR SEAS MERCANTILE HOLDINGS LIMITED ¢ ANNUAL REPORT 2013
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a5 B B IR D R

31 March 2013 R=E—=Z#=A=+—H

2013 2012
R =4 e =—— U8
Notes HK$’000 HK$’000
Mt BT BT o
NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES IR ) £ %
Interest-bearing bank borrowings AR B Z SRAT B 29 74,533 71,724
Deferred tax liabilities I HE A5 JE £ 30 18,251 17,822
Total non-current liabilities I B & AR AR 92,784 89,546
Net assets &R 1,228,742 1,135,837
EQUITY i 2%
Equity attributable to equity B JB 0 AN 2 ) A
holders of the Company UEEAGE £
Issued capital CEE AT B AR 31 38,790 39,070
Reserves it HE 33(a) 1,146,540 1,047,376
Proposed final dividend R R B B 12 19,395 19,416
1,204,725 1,105,862
Non-controlling interests I I8 2% 24,017 29,975
Total equity HE 25 44 {8 1,228,742 1,135,837

TAI Tak Fung, Stephen ¥ & Wl

Director # %

YIP Wai Keung % it &

Director & %
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Consolidated. Statement of Changes in Equity
B ME 4R 52 B) 3R

Year ended 31 March 2013 &E_F—-Z4£=ZA=+—HILEE

Attributable to equity holders of the Company

BRI B
Available-
for-sale
Share investment ~ Capital ~ Exchange Proposed Non-
Issued  premium  Reserve Revaluation Capital revaluation redemption fluctuation  Retained final controlling Total
capital  account funds reserve reserve reserve reserve reserve profits  dividend Total ~interests equity
Wik
(it ¢i) ey HES  WARE  ERYS ERAN Fik

WA WER O RMEE RGO YRR Bl B BE REWAM RE MG BR HEAR
Notes  HKS'000  HKS'000 ~ HKS'000  HKS'000 ~ HKS'000  HKS'000 ~ HKS'000  HKS'000 ~ HKS'000  HKS'000 ~ HKS'000  HKS'000  HKS'000

Wi #ETT #NTT EETT BETT BNTT ENTT O#NTT ENTT O ERTL BETL ENTT #RTT #RTT

(note 31) (note 33(a)) (note 33(a)) (note 33(a)
(Hits1) (Hits3) (Watssa) (Witssw)
At 1 April 2011 REZ——HENA—A 39,070 22482 6,138 24938 750 4751 886 87,056 676,922 19535 1,082,534 37,195 1,119,729
Profit for the year WA - = S S = = = A - sl 8794 43787
Other comprehensive LR ]
income/(loss) for the year: Wi/ (B ) «
Changes in fair value of W ERECATE
available-for-sale 28 Rk
investments, net of tax - - - - - (19,097) - - - - (19,097) - (19,097)
Share of other comprehensive  HEAFB A AT L
income of associates 6! - - - - - - - 3417 - - 3417 = 3417
Exchange differences on BB Y
translation of foreign %
operations - - - - - - - 14,052 - - 14,052 892 14,944
Total comprehensive income 4N A 24
for the year - - - - - (19,097) - 17469 52,581 - 50,953 (190 43081
Contribution by BRI ki
non-controlling interests - - - - - - - - - - - 1,764 1,764
Dividend paid to iRl Tl
non-controlling interests - - - - - - - - - - - (1,884) (1,884)
Repurchase of shares not T B
yet cancelled 31 - - - - - - (212) - - - (212) - (212)
Final 2011 dividend declared ~ ER-F——FKBRA - - - - - - - - S (195) (195%) - (19539)
Interim 2012 dividend ZF-CEPHRA 12 = - = = = = = 5 (1814) = (1814) = (1814)
Proposed final 2012 dividend ~ “F-CEREAMRE 1 = = 5 5 5 5 5 S (19416) 19416 = 5 5
Transfer to reserve funds BREMEL = = 401 = = = = = (401) = = = =
Disposal of an interest HEREAR 2
in a subsidiary - - - - - - - - (64) - (64) 802 738
Release of revaluation reserve on -~ Hl MR BEL
leasehold land and buildingsto ~ H (R 2
retained profits TR BaR = = s (533) = = = = 535 = s 5 =
At31 March 2012 REZZ-ZEZA=A-H 3070 222482% 6,539%  24403* 7504 (14340)% 674 104525% 702343 19416 1,105,862 29975 1,135,837
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Consolidated Statement of’-'C_h__a.rges in Equity
B HE 4R 52 B 3R

Year ended 31 March 2013 RE_F—Z4£ZA=+—HIL4EE

Attributable to equity holders of the Company

BRI B
Available-
for-sale
Share investment ~ Capital ~ Exchange Proposed Non-
Issued  premium  Reserve Revaluation Capital revaluation redemption fluctuation  Retained final controlling Total
capital  account funds reserve reserve reserve reserve reserve profits  dividend Total ~interests equity
kg
(it ¢i) ey HES  SARE  ERYH ERAN R
Rk BER REE EREE  SkEE L B Bl RERA & st B R
Notes  HKS'000  HKS'000  HK$'000  HKS$'000  HK$'000 ~ HKS$'000  HKS$'000  HKS'000  HKS$'000  HKS'000  HKS'000  HKS$'000  HK$'000
Wit BEFT ERFT BNFL BETL BETL BETL REFT BRFT BNFL BETL OBNTL BETL RWFX
(note 31) (note 33(a)) (note 33(a)) (note 33(a)
(Hits1) (Hits3) (Watssa) (Hit33a)
At 1 April 2012 RZZ-ZHENA—-A 39,070 220482 6,539 24403 750 (14,340) 674 104,525 702,343 19416 1,105,362 20975 1,135,837
Profit for the year L] - - - - - = = -0 - 10T (3576 107.203
Other comprehensive LR ]
income/(loss) for the year: Wi/ ()«
Changes in fair value of W ERECATE
available-for-sale 28 Rk
investments, net of tax - - - - - 18,966 - - - - 18,966 - 18,966
Share of other comprehensive MR A 2
income of associates 2Tl = = = = = = S 870 = = 870 5 870
Release of exchange fluctuation i & R A IR EHZ
reserve upon disposal T 5 B0 e
of subsidiaries - - - - - - -6 - ) - )
Exchange differences on BB Y
translation of foreign EiER
operations - - - - - - - 12,543 - - 12,543 670 13,213
Total comprehensive fE A 2T
income for the year - - - - - 18,966 - 8,774 110,779 - 138,519 (2,906) 135,613
Acquisition of W 3 o
non-controlling interests - - - - - - - 1,848 (8,284) - (6.436) (5,285) (11,721)
Contribution by EREUI Inkia
non-controlling interests - - - - - - - - - - - 3,087 3,087
Dividends paid to BT R
non-controlling interests - - - - - - - - - - - (854) (854)
Repurchase of shares T 3 (280 (5976 S S S S 49 = (280) = (6,044) S (6,04)
Final 2012 dividend declared HER-F-ZEKBRA - - - - - - - - - (19416)  (19.416) - (19416)
Tnterim 2013 dividend ZE-ZERHRE 12 = = S = = = = = (1,760) = (1,760) = (1,760)
Proposed final 2013 dividend ~ “F-ZHEREAMME 12 = = = = = S S - (19395) 19395 = = =
Transfer to reserve funds HREREL = = 654 = = = = = (654) = = = =
Release of revaluation reserve B MR BEL
on leasehold land and buildings ~ H MR 2
to retained profits il - - - (535) - - - - 535 - - - -
At31 March 2013 RZB-ZEZA=A-H 3879  216506% 7093 23868+ 750% 4,626* 1166  115,147¢  777284% 19305 1,204,725 01T 12874
*  These reserve accounts comprise the consolidated reserves of o ZEMERAF AL AWM BRI R P Z LA G
HK$1,146,540,000 (2012: HK$1,047,376,000) in the consolidated statement 1,146,540,000% JC (=& — Z4F : 1,047,376,000%
of financial position. JL) e
S® - = F R e W OW KM A R A A
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2013 2012
e St - St 2
Notes HK$’000 HK$’000
Kt it T T BT T
CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING  #&# 3% Pi 14
ACTIVITIES ZB e
Profit before tax I 36 T ¥4 A 140,740 67,532
Adjustments for: BT 5 45 TE AR HY A R
Share of profits and losses of associates JRE A B 7 A ) s B % G 1H (9,244) (9,741)
Bank interest income AT B WA 5 (1,215) (1,085)
Dividend income from listed At B REZ
available-for-sale investments B B A 5 (6,815) (1,866)
Gain on disposal of available-for-sale HWETHRLEREZ
investments L& 5 (8,655) (5,109)
Fair value gain on financial assets AT EEBRERARY
at fair value through profit or loss G E EZ AT HK 5 (2,827) =
Increase in fair value less estimated HERIEEHEEYRE
point-of-sale costs attributable to SEE) 2 A AR
physical change on non-current T E B R AR
livestock 7 (8) (15)
Decrease in fair value less estimated S B 0 I 0 A o AR
point-of-sale costs attributable to S 2 AP AL A
price change on non-current livestock WRFE T A 7 1 2
Finance costs (592 %S 6 18,577 16,808
Loss/(gain) on disposal/write-off of WE ¥~ W5 K&
items of property, plant and RWIEE ZEE
equipment, net (Wesk) » 7 (12,504) 1,033
Gain on disposal of subsidiaries A B A 7] 2 W2k 5 (4,724) -
Depreciation Eii 7 51,810 51,937
Recognition of prepaid land lease R LAY 1
payments P& K 7 3,281 3,272
Amortisation of non-current livestock I H 0B % 7 2 15
Impairment of available-for-sale o gt B 3
investments 7 13,627 11,051
Impairment of trade receivables JRE Wt 58 5 W 3K B 7 1,035 3,680
Impairment of slow-moving inventories W B WA 7 618 1,275
Impairment of goodwill T B Yk A 7 1,942 -
Impairment of non-current livestock I H & & A 7 66 -
Fair value gain on an investment waEYEZ A FHEKE
property 5 - (1,824)
185,707 136,965
Decrease in non-current livestock FEEBEEZ WD 58 321
Decrease/(increase) in amounts due JE W T 2% A T 2Z A (B )
from associates 546 (119)
Decrease in current livestock HHBEE R 3,468 387
Increase in inventories FEZHm (36,388) (10,841)
Decrease/(increase) in trade receivables WEW R SRk =z WA (3 m) 28,300 (26,241)
Decrease/(increase) in prepayments, AT SRIE ~ 5T 4 KAl
deposits and other receivables JE Wk 3E 2 S A () 19,560 (6,162)
Increase in trade payables, other AT B 5 R K~ A B A
payables and accruals K B st B A 2 B 14,314 2,289
Cash generated from operations REEBRBZEE 215,565 96,599
Hong Kong profits tax paid ERREEREIEEY i) (16,452) (13,284)
Overseas taxes paid A e th A JE (8,250) (2,556)
Net cash flows from operating REEBE BB & WA G
activities — page 59 - 59K 190,863 80,759
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Year ended 31 March 2013 E _F—-Z4£=A=+—H I

2013 2012
e St O Toiet A
Note HK$’000 HK$°000
Mt it T T BT T
Net cash flows from operating activities REXEBEMBZHESTWAGTH
— page 58 - 58H 190,863 80,759
CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING BREH ST
ACTIVITIES
Bank interest received R AT R B 1,215 1,085
Dividends received from listed investments & Z Kk S A 6,815 1,866
Dividends received from associates W BRI 2 ] B B 3,601 2,919
Purchases of items of property, plant WA E - BE K&
and equipment I H (54,486) (52,552)
Proceeds from disposal of items WY -~ B Ko
of property, plant and equipment ERENIELY Q| 15,944 125
Proceeds from disposal of WEWHLERE
available-for-sale investments Jr £ 2k E 43,954 28,079
Proceeds from disposal of financial HEEATHEBBESARZ
assets at fair value through profit or loss 4 b E P AR R E 4,902 -
Disposal of subsidiaries B W & 4 ) 34 (194) =
Proceed from disposal of an interest H B O J 2 ) HE A BT A5 sk
in a subsidiary - 738
Capital contributions to an associate W& T & A F - (3,108)
Purchases of available-for-sale AW ERE
investments (14,285) (67,475)
Purchases of financial assets at fair AR A TEEBER
value through profit or loss ANRZ &g E (14,087) -
Net cash flows used in investing activities & E B Z Bl & H 4 (6,621) (88,323)
CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING RE 5 B 2 B A G
ACTIVITIES
New bank and trust receipt loans 4G SRAT B R AE
ook Bk 1,651,664 1,549,804
Repayment of bank and trust receipt loans #4783k X 15 G W I8 £ 3k
Z B (1,730,499) (1,526,262)
Interest paid E AT F) B (18,577) (16,808)
Acquisition of non-controlling interests WAL I e e E 2 (123) =
Contribution by non-controlling interests IR REAR TR 3,087 1,764
Dividends paid AT BB (27,176) (27,349)
Dividends paid to non-controlling B AT T I 4 e I R B
shareholders (854) (1,884)
Repurchase of shares ARy (6,044) (212)
Net cash flows used in financing activities & 3if By Z Bl 4 i Hh i 4 (128,522) (20,947)

F - = F F£ H o I W EE AR AF
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows

N =N
HABEWRER
Year ended 31 March 2013 RE -F—=4=H=+—H k4%
2013 2012
ot BNt - R
Note HK$’000 HK$’000
M &t T o T
NET INCREASE/(DECREASE) IN BeRBEEMHEH
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS Bim/ (W4) 58 55,720 (28,511)
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning ERZB 2 RB4&EMEEE
of year 552,147 576,424
Effect of foreign exchange rate oBE 2 5 T Y 2B >
changes, net 2,857 4,234
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS R ZBERBRAEFMHEH
AT END OF YEAR 610,724 552,147
ANALYSIS OF BALANCES OF Bl& BB S H &4
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS Z 5 H
Cash and bank balances Bla RARATH A 27 371,467 287,900
Time deposits with original maturity BEAEZEHHEAR=MA
of less than three months Z & WAk
when acquired 27 239,257 264,247
Cash and cash equivalents as stated A M ERBLR K
in the consolidated statement of HAEBERE
financial position and the Fin 2Bl K&
consolidated statement of cash flows BHe%EEA 610,724 552,147
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31 March 2013 Z2—=4#=HA=+—H

2013 2012
=2 =4 TR =4
Notes HK$’000 HK$’000
Mt it T o BT
NON-CURRENT ASSETS R o) ¥
Investments in subsidiaries RS AR 2 E 19 93,108 93,108
Available-for-sale investments ]k 21 148 152
Total non-current assets I B A A A 93,256 93,260
CURRENT ASSETS Ui Y
Due from subsidiaries JRE W o e A 19 649,707 615,653
Prepayments AT K 25 139 46
Cash and bank balances R4 T SRAT B 27 804 463
Total current assets i B AR 650,650 616,162
CURRENT LIABILITIES i 18 4%
Due to subsidiaries JE A} B Jig 2 ) 19 406,723 369,600
Accruals FEFH AR 28 1,059 1,097
Total current liabilities i By £ A5 AR 407,782 370,697
NET CURRENT ASSETS Ui B 242,868 245,465
Net assets B A A 336,124 338,725
EQUITY B %
Issued capital T AT IR AR 31 38,790 39,070
Reserves Tt #H 33(b) 277,939 280,239
Proposed final dividend et % S S 12 19,395 19,416
Total equity HE £ A8 AH 336,124 338,725

TAI Tak Fung, Stephen 8% 1
Director #

YIP Wai Keung %t &
Director # F

ZF - ZF F H o N W &£ B AR AR

A S

‘Statement ofsFinaficial Position
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Year ended 31 March 2013 &E_F—-Z4£=ZA=+—HILEE

1. CORPORATE INFORMATION

Four Seas Mercantile Holdings Limited is a limited liability
company incorporated in the Cayman Islands. The registered
office of the Company is located at the offices of Caledonian
Trust (Cayman) Limited, Caledonian House, 69 Dr. Roy’s
Drive, P.O. Box 1043 KY1-1102, George Town, Grand Cayman,

Cayman Islands.

During the year, the Group is principally engaged in
investment holding, manufacturing and trading of snack foods,
confectionery, beverages, frozen food products, noodles, poultry
products, ham and ham-related products, and the operations of

restaurant.

2.1 BASIS OF PREPARATION

These financial statements have been prepared in accordance with
Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards (“HKFRSs”) (which
include all Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards, Hong
Kong Accounting Standards (“HKASs”) and Interpretations)
issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants (“HKICPA™), accounting principles generally
accepted in Hong Kong and the disclosure requirements of the
Hong Kong Companies Ordinance. They have been prepared
under the historical cost convention, except for certain non-
current livestock, an investment property, certain properties
classified as property, plant and equipment, derivative financial
instruments, a club debenture, financial assets at fair value
through profit or loss and certain available-for-sale investments,
which have been measured at valuation or fair value. These
financial statements are presented in Hong Kong dollars (“HK$”)
and all values are rounded to the nearest thousand except when
otherwise indicated.

Basis of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements include the financial
statements of the Company and its subsidiaries (collectively
referred to as the “Group”) for the year ended 31 March 2013. The
financial statements of the subsidiaries are prepared for the same
reporting period as the Company, using consistent accounting
policies. The results of subsidiaries are consolidated from the date
of acquisition, being the date on which the Group obtains control,
and continue to be consolidated until the date that such control
ceases. All intra-group balances, transactions, unrealised gains and
losses resulting from intra-group transactions and dividends are

eliminated on consolidation in full.

FOUR SEAS MERCANTILE HOLDINGS LIMITED ¢ ANNUAL REPORT 2013
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Caledonian Trust (Cayman) LimitedZ Jf A % »
ik % Caledonian House, 69 Dr. Roy’s Drive,
P.O. Box 1043 KY1-1102, George Town, Grand
Cayman, Cayman Islands °
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2.1 BASIS OF PREPARATION (continued)

Basis of consolidation (continued)

Total comprehensive income within a subsidiary is attributed to
the non-controlling interest even if it results in a deficit balance.

A change in the ownership interest of a subsidiary, without a loss

of control, is accounted for as an equity transaction.

If the Group loses control over a subsidiary, it derecognises (i)
the assets (including goodwill) and liabilities of the subsidiary,
(ii) the carrying amount of any non-controlling interest and
(iii) the cumulative translation differences recorded in equity;
and recognises (i) the fair value of the consideration received,
(i1) the fair value of any investment retained and (iii) any
resulting surplus or deficit in profit or loss. The Group’s share
of components previously recognised in other comprehensive
income is reclassified to profit or loss or retained profits, as

appropriate.

2.2 CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICY

AND DISCLOSURES

The Group has adopted the following revised HKFRSs for the

first time for the current year’s financial statements.

HKFRS 1 Amendments Amendments to HKFRS 1 First-time
Adoption of Hong Kong Financial
Reporting Standards — Severe
Hyperinflation and Removal of Fixed
Dates for First-time Adopters

Amendments to HKFRS 7 Financial

Instruments: Disclosures — Transfers

HKFRS 7 Amendments

of Financial Assets
HKAS 12 Amendments Amendments to HKAS 12 Income Taxes —
Deferred Tax: Recovery of Underlying

Assets

Other than as further explained below regarding the impact of
amendments to HKAS 12, the adoption of the revised HKFRSs
has had no significant financial effect on these financial

statements.
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Year ended 31 March 2013 &E_F—-Z4£=ZA=+—HILEE

2.2 CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICY

2.2 €l WOR Ko e 2 52 0 (57)

AND DISCLOSURES (continued)

The HKAS 12 Amendments clarify the determination of deferred
tax for investment property measured at fair value and introduce
a rebuttable presumption that deferred tax on investment property
measured at fair value should be determined on the basis that its
carrying amount will be recovered through sale. Furthermore, the
amendments incorporate the requirement previously in HK(SIC)-
Int 21 Income Taxes — Recovery of Revalued Non-Depreciable
Assets that deferred tax on non-depreciable assets, measured
using the revaluation model in HKAS 16, should always be

measured on a sale basis.

The presumption that deferred tax on investment property
measured at fair value should be determined on the basis that its
carrying amount will be recovered through sale has been rebutted
by the Group as the Group’s investment property is held within a
business model whose objective is to consume substantially all of
the economic benefits embodied in the investment property over
time, rather than through sale. Accordingly deferred tax has been
determined on the basis of recovery through use. The adoption of
the amendments did not have any impact on the financial position

or performance of the Group.
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2.3ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE

HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING

STANDARDS

The Group has not applied the following new and revised

HKFRSs, that have been issued but are not yet effective, in these

financial statements.

HKFRS 1 Amendments

HKFRS 7 Amendments

HKFRS 9

HKEFRS 10

HKEFRS 11

HKFRS 12

HKFRS 10, HKFRS 11 and
HKFRS 12 Amendments

HKFRS 10, HKFRS 12 and
HKAS 27 (2011)
Amendments

HKFRS 13
HKAS 1 Amendments

HKAS 19 (2011)
HKAS 27 (2011)
HKAS 28 (2011)

HKAS 32 Amendments

HK(IFRIC)-Int 20

Annual Improvements
2009-2011 Cycle

Amendments to HKFRS 1 First-time
Adoption of Hong Kong Financial
Reporting Standards — Government
Loans *

Amendments to HKFRS 7 Financial
Instruments: Disclosures — Offsetting
Financial Assets and Financial
Liabilities *

Financial Instruments *

Consolidated Financial Statements *

Joint Arrangements *

Disclosure of Interests in Other Entities*

Amendments to HKFRS 10, HKFRS 11
and HKFRS 12 - Transition Guidance *

Amendments to HKFRS 10, HKFRS 12
and HKAS 27 (2011) — Investment
Entities 3

Fair Value Measurement >
Amendments to HKAS 1 Presentation of
Financial Statements — Presentation of

Items of Other Comprehensive Income

Employee Benefits *

Separate Financial Statements *

Investments in Associates and
Joint Ventures *

Amendments to HKAS 32 Financial
Instruments: Presentation — Offsetting
Financial Assets and Financial
Liabilities *

Stripping Costs in the Production Phase of
a Surface Mine ®

Amendments to a number of HKFRSs

issued in June 2012 2

b gl 1 X
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2.3 %%ﬁﬁ*iiﬁiﬁ%ﬁi%ﬁ%

SR [0 3 AR 7 A B 2 4k e M DR AR A
AR BT AT B ARG BT A o A i R A

Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 July 2012
Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2013

Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2014

A 0w N =

Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2015
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2.31ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE

———

HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (continued)

Further information about those HKFRSs that are expected to be

applicable to the Group is as follows:

The HKFRS 7 Amendments require an entity to disclose
information about rights to set-off and related arrangements
(e.g. collateral agreements). The disclosures would provide
users with information that is useful in evaluating the effect
of netting arrangements on an entity’s financial position.
The new disclosures are required for all recognised financial
instruments that are set off in accordance with HKAS 32
Financial Instruments: Presentation. The disclosures also
apply to recognised financial instruments that are subject to an
enforceable master netting arrangement or similar agreement,
irrespective of whether they are set off in accordance with HKAS
32. The Group expects to adopt the amendments from 1 April
2013.

HKFRS 9 issued in November 2009 is the first part of phase 1 of
a comprehensive project to entirely replace HKAS 39 Financial
Instruments: Recognition and Measurement. This phase focuses
on the classification and measurement of financial assets.
Instead of classifying financial assets into four categories, an
entity shall classify financial assets as subsequently measured
at either amortised cost or fair value, on the basis of both
the entity’s business model for managing the financial assets
and the contractual cash flow characteristics of the financial
assets. This aims to improve and simplify the approach for the
classification and measurement of financial assets compared with
the requirements of HKAS 39.

FOUR SEAS MERCANTILE HOLDINGS LIMITED ¢ ANNUAL REPORT 2013

33@%@*&%z§%%%%¢

L (%

AL 5 9T A 5 D 4 750 B S )
e R T

7 B 5 o A SR TR (AT AR) B - H
ZRCH % R 1K R A R 4 B (4] K 4 B
i) Z BB o R% S BT A O A B AL RE A
MEFLEHTRM BRI BZANE
BE o B A LR 9 &t e 320 2 T A -
7Y 8 2 O 4 T E JE AR R SR e
B o W% R A FH S 52 PR T AT Z A8 A
AR B Ol M TR > R
FLR 5 ALY 7 8 7 o S SR 325 AR o AR M
FHIR —F =4 A — R R % F BT -

ZRFIA A A UM A W B R
SROUE Ay 58 2 U7 8 7wt ¥ J 263058 2 1
B R R AT A A A ) A S — R B AR —
Ay o % W B T HG R 4 W A A Y R o
RS T A R DU > T MR AR B T B B
T 5 Y S A X M 4 T R ) B Y A
T8> TR YT 0 5 B RS B P B A o
S5 A OR A0 10 7 Wt IS 305 e 1Y
B B R T K o



2.3ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE

HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (continued)

In November 2010, the HKICPA issued additions to HKFRS 9
to address financial liabilities (the “Additions”) and incorporated
in HKFRS 9 the current derecognition principles of financial
instruments of HKAS 39. Most of the Additions were carried
forward unchanged from HKAS 39, while changes were
made to the measurement of financial liabilities designated
at fair value through profit or loss using the fair value option
(“FVO”). For these FVO liabilities, the amount of change in
the fair value of a liability that is attributable to changes in
credit risk must be presented in other comprehensive income
(“OCTI”). The remainder of the change in fair value is presented
in profit or loss, unless presentation of the fair value change
in respect of the liability’s credit risk in OCI would create or
enlarge an accounting mismatch in profit or loss. However, loan
commitments and financial guarantee contracts which have been
designated under the FVO are scoped out of the Additions.

HKAS 39 is aimed to be replaced by HKFRS 9 in its entirety.
Before this entire replacement, the guidance in HKAS 39 on
hedge accounting and impairment of financial assets continues to
apply. The Group expects to adopt HKFRS 9 from 1 April 2015.
The Group will quantify the effect in conjunction with other

phases, when the final standard including all phases is issued.

HKFRS 10 establishes a single control model that applies to all
entities including special purpose entities or structured entities.
It includes a new definition of control which is used to determine
which entities are consolidated. The changes introduced by
HKFRS 10 require management of the Group to exercise
significant judgement to determine which entities are controlled,
compared with the requirements in HKAS 27 and HK(SIC)-Int
12 Consolidation — Special Purpose Entities. HKFRS 10 replaces
the portion of HKAS 27 Consolidated and Separate Financial
Statements that addresses the accounting for consolidated
financial statements. It also addresses the issues raised in
HK(SIC)-Int 12. Based on the preliminary analyses performed,
HKFRS 10 is not expected to have any impact on the currently

held investments of the Group.
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2.31ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE

HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (continued)

HKFRS 11 replaces HKAS 31 Interests in Joint Ventures and
HK(SIC)-Int 13 Jointly Controlled Entities — Non-Monetary
Contributions by Venturers. It describes the accounting for joint
arrangements with joint control. It addresses only two forms
of joint arrangements, i.e., joint operations and joint ventures,
and removes the option to account for joint ventures using

proportionate consolidation.

HKFRS 12 includes the disclosure requirements for subsidiaries,
joint arrangements, associates and structured entities previously
included in HKAS 27 Consolidated and Separate Financial
Statements, HKAS 31 Interests in Joint Ventures and HKAS 28
Investments in Associates. It also introduces a number of new

disclosure requirements for these entities.

In July 2012, the HKICPA issued amendments to HKFRS 10,
HKFRS 11 and HKFRS 12 which clarify the transition guidance
in HKFRS 10 and provide further relief from full retrospective
application of these standards, limiting the requirement to
provide adjusted comparative information to only the preceding
comparative period. The amendments clarify that retrospective
adjustments are only required if the consolidation conclusion as
to which entities are controlled by the Group is different between
HKFRS 10 and HKAS 27 or HK(SIC)-Int 12 at the beginning
of the annual period in which HKFRS 10 is applied for the first
time. Furthermore, for disclosures related to unconsolidated
structured entities, the amendments will remove the requirement
to present comparative information for periods before HKFRS 12

is first applied.

The amendments to HKFRS 10 issued in December 2012
include a definition of an investment entity and provide an
exception to the consolidation requirement for entities that meet
the definition of an investment entity. Investment entities are
required to account for subsidiaries at fair value through profit
or loss in accordance with HKFRS 9 rather than consolidate
them. Consequential amendments were made to HKFRS 12 and
HKAS 27 (2011). The amendments to HKFRS 12 also set out
the disclosure requirements for investment entities. The Group
expects that these amendments will not have any impact on the
Group as the Company is not an investment entity as defined in
HKFRS 10.
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2.3ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE

HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (continued)

Consequential amendments were made to HKAS 27 and HKAS
28 as a result of the issuance of HKFRS 10, HKFRS 11 and
HKFRS 12. The Group expects to adopt HKFRS 10, HKFRS
11, HKFRS 12, HKAS 27 (2011), HKAS 28 (2011), and the
subsequent amendments to these standards issued in July and
December 2012 from 1 April 2013.

HKFRS 13 provides a precise definition of fair value and a single
source of fair value measurement and disclosure requirements
for use across HKFRSs. The standard does not change the
circumstances in which the Group is required to use fair value,
but provides guidance on how fair value should be applied where
its use is already required or permitted under other HKFRSs. The
Group expects to adopt HKFRS 13 prospectively from 1 April
2013.

The HKAS 1 Amendments change the grouping of items
presented in OCI. Items that could be reclassified (or recycled)
to profit or loss at a future point in time (for example, net gain
on hedge of a net investment, exchange differences on translation
of foreign operations, net movement on cash flow hedges and
net loss or gain on available-for-sale financial assets) would be
presented separately from items which will never be reclassified
(for example, actuarial gains and losses on defined benefit plans
and revaluation of land and buildings). The amendments will
affect presentation only and have no impact on the financial
position or performance. The Group expects to adopt the
amendments from 1 April 2013.

HKAS 19 (2011) includes a number of amendments that range
from fundamental changes to simple clarifications and re-
wording. The revised standard introduces significant changes
in the accounting for defined benefit pension plans including
removing the choice to defer the recognition of actuarial gains
and losses. Other changes include modifications to the timing of
recognition for termination benefits, the classification of short-
term employee benefits and disclosures of defined benefit plans.
The Group expects to adopt HKAS 19 (2011) from 1 April 2013.
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2.31ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE

HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (continued)

The HKAS 32 Amendments clarify the meaning of “currently
has a legally enforceable right to setoff” for offsetting financial
assets and financial liabilities. The amendments also clarify the
application of the offsetting criteria in HKAS 32 to settlement
systems (such as central clearing house systems) which apply
gross settlement mechanisms that are not simultaneous. The
amendments are not expected to have any impact on the financial
position or performance of the Group upon adoption on 1 April
2014.

The Annual Improvements to HKFRSs 2009-2011 Cycle issued
in June 2012 sets out amendments to a number of HKFRSs. The
Group expects to adopt the amendments from 1 April 2013. There
are separate transitional provisions for each standard. While
the adoption of some of the amendments may result in changes
in accounting policies, none of these amendments are expected
to have a significant financial impact on the Group. Those
amendments that are expected to have a significant impact on the

Group’s policies are as follows:

(a) HKAS 1 Presentation of Financial Statements: Clarifies
the difference between voluntary additional comparative
information and the minimum required comparative
information. Generally, the minimum required comparative
period is the previous period. An entity must include
comparative information in the related notes to the financial
statements when it voluntarily provides comparative
information beyond the previous period. The additional
comparative information does not need to contain a

complete set of financial statements.

In addition, the amendment clarifies that the opening
statement of financial position as at the beginning of the
preceding period must be presented when an entity changes
its accounting policies; makes retrospective restatements
or makes reclassifications, and that change has a material
effect on the statement of financial position. However, the
related notes to the opening statement of financial position
as at the beginning of the preceding period are not required
to be presented.
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2.3ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE

HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (continued)

(b) HKAS 32 Financial Instruments: Presentation: Clarifies
that income taxes arising from distributions to equity
holders are accounted for in accordance with HKAS 12
Income Taxes. The amendment removes existing income tax
requirements from HKAS 32 and requires entities to apply
the requirements in HKAS 12 to any income tax arising

from distributions to equity holders.

2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT

ACCOUNTING POLICIES

Subsidiaries

A subsidiary is an entity whose financial and operating policies
the Company controls, directly or indirectly, so as to obtain

benefits from its activities.

The results of subsidiaries are included in the Company’s income
statement to the extent of dividends received and receivable. The
Company’s investments in subsidiaries are stated at cost less any

impairment losses.

Associates

An associate is an entity, not being a subsidiary, in which the
Group has a long term interest of generally not less than 20%
of the equity voting rights and over which it is in a position to

exercise significant influence.

The Group’s investments in associates are stated in the
consolidated statement of financial position at the Group’s share
of net assets under the equity method of accounting, less any
impairment losses. The Group’s share of the post-acquisition
results and reserves of associates is included in the consolidated
income statement and consolidated reserves, respectively.
Unrealised gains and losses resulting from transactions between
the Group and its associates are eliminated to the extent of the
Group’s investments in the associates, except where unrealised
losses provide evidence of an impairment of the asset transferred.
Goodwill arising from the acquisition of associates is included
as part of the Group’s investments in associates and is not

individually tested for impairment.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Business combinations and goodwill

Business combinations are accounted for using the acquisition
method. The consideration transferred is measured at the
acquisition date fair value which is the sum of the acquisition
date fair values of assets transferred by the Group, liabilities
assumed by the Group to the former owners of the acquiree and
the equity interests issued by the Group in exchange for control
of the acquiree. For each business combination, the Group elects
whether to measure the non-controlling interests in the acquiree
that are present ownership interests and entitle their holders to a
proportionate share of net assets in the event of liquidation at fair
value or at the proportionate share of the acquiree’s identifiable
net assets. All other components of non-controlling interests are
measured at fair value. Acquisition-related costs are expensed as

incurred.

When the Group acquires a business, it assesses the financial
assets and liabilities assumed for appropriate classification and
designation in accordance with the contractual terms, economic
circumstances and pertinent conditions as at the acquisition date.
This includes the separation of embedded derivatives in host

contracts by the acquiree.

If the business combination is achieved in stages, the previously
held equity interest is remeasured at its acquisition fair value and

any resulting gain or loss is recognised in profit or loss.

Any contingent consideration to be transferred by the acquirer
is recognised at fair value at the acquisition date. Contingent
consideration classified as an asset or liability that is a financial
instrument and within the scope of HKAS 39 is measured at
fair value with changes in fair value either recognised in profit
or loss or as a change in other comprehensive income. If the
contingent consideration is not within the scope of HKAS 39, it is
measured in accordance with the appropriate HKFRS. Contingent
consideration that is classified as equity is not remeasured and

subsequent settlement is accounted for within equity.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Business combinations and goodwill (continued)

Goodwill is initially measured at cost, being the excess of
the aggregate of the consideration transferred, the amount
recognised for non-controlling interests and any fair value of the
Group’s previously held equity interests in the acquiree over the
identifiable net assets acquired and liabilities assumed. If the sum
of this consideration and other items is lower than the fair value
of the net assets acquired, the difference is, after reassessment,

recognised in profit or loss as a gain on bargain purchase.

After initial recognition, goodwill is measured at cost less
any accumulated impairment losses. Goodwill is tested for
impairment annually or more frequently if events or changes in
circumstances indicate that the carrying value may be impaired.
The Group performs its annual impairment test of goodwill as
at 31 March. For the purpose of impairment testing, goodwill
acquired in a business combination is, from the acquisition date,
allocated to each of the Group’s cash-generating units, or groups
of cash-generating units, that are expected to benefit from the
synergies of the combination, irrespective of whether other assets
or liabilities of the Group are assigned to those units or groups of

units.

Impairment is determined by assessing the recoverable amount
of the cash-generating unit (group of cash-generating units) to
which the goodwill relates. Where the recoverable amount of
the cash-generating unit (group of cash-generating units) is less
than the carrying amount, an impairment loss is recognised. An
impairment loss recognised for goodwill is not reversed in a

subsequent period.

Where goodwill has been allocated to a cash-generating unit
(or group of cash-generating units) and part of the operation
within that unit is disposed of, the goodwill associated with the
operation disposed of is included in the carrying amount of the
operation when determining the gain or loss on the disposal.
Goodwill disposed in these circumstances is measured based on
the relative value of the disposed operation and the portion of the
cash-generating unit retained.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Impairment of non-financial assets

Where an indication of impairment exists, or when annual
impairment testing for an asset is required (other than inventories,
deferred tax assets, livestock, financial assets, an investment
property and goodwill), the asset’s recoverable amount is
estimated. An asset’s recoverable amount is the higher of the
asset’s or cash-generating unit’s value in use and its fair value
less costs to sell, and is determined for an individual asset,
unless the asset does not generate cash inflows that are largely
independent of those from other assets or groups of assets, in
which case the recoverable amount is determined for the cash-

generating unit to which the asset belongs.

An impairment loss is recognised only if the carrying amount
of an asset exceeds its recoverable amount. In assessing value
in use, the estimated future cash flows are discounted to their
present value using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects current
market assessments of the time value of money and the risks
specific to the asset. An impairment loss is charged to the income
statement in the period in which it arises in those expense
categories consistent with the function of the impaired asset,
unless the asset is carried at a revalued amount, in which case the
impairment loss is accounted for in accordance with the relevant

accounting policy for that revalued asset.

An assessment is made at the end of each reporting period as
to whether there is an indication that previously recognised
impairment losses may no longer exist or may have decreased.
If such an indication exists, the recoverable amount is estimated.
A previously recognised impairment loss of an asset other than
goodwill is reversed only if there has been a change in the
estimates used to determine the recoverable amount of that asset,
but not to an amount higher than the carrying amount that would
have been determined (net of any depreciation/amortisation) had
no impairment loss been recognised for the asset in prior years.
A reversal of such an impairment loss is credited to the income
statement in the period in which it arises, unless the asset is
carried at a revalued amount, in which case the reversal of the
impairment loss is accounted for in accordance with the relevant

accounting policy for that revalued asset.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Related parties

A party is considered to be related to the Group if:

(a)

or

(b)

the party is a person or a close member of that person’s

family and that person

()

(i1)

(iii)

has control or joint control over the Group;

has significant influence over the Group; or

is a member of the key management personnel of the

Group or of a parent of the Group;

the party is an entity where any of the following conditions

applies:

()

(i1)

(iii)

(iv)

)

(vi)

(vii)

the entity and the Group are members of the same

group;

one entity is an associate or joint venture of the other
entity (or of a parent, subsidiary or fellow subsidiary of

the other entity);

the entity and the Group are joint ventures of the same
third party;

one entity is a joint venture of a third entity and the

other entity is an associate of the third entity;

the entity is a post-employment benefit plan for the
benefit of employees of either the Group or an entity
related to the Group;

the entity is controlled or jointly controlled by a person

identified in (a); and

a person identified in (a)(i) has significant influence
over the entity or is a member of the key management

personnel of the entity or of a parent of the entity.

-~

LY

“ a
L 4 -
-
.

]

Notes to Financial Statements

S 5 i W Rk

Year ended 31 March 2013 E -F—-Z4£=A=+—HILEE

2.4 LA HBORIE (5

B 2 A
TE T ARG DL > — D5 S B 2 BLAC SR M AT )

(a) W&%J7 AL N LSRR R B > 1
Z AL

(i)  #EH S H ARG
(i) BARLETEAERELE 5 K

(iii) Hy ARS8 [ ol A 42 [ 2 B oy W) B R 3R A
PR B 3

(b) T 2 AF 6T SUAL T B TR

() ZEMBEAREHRR -EENRE A
il

Giy —MESELS —HHE (S —ZHEmn
/NS I i AN AT /A D)

RO TG N F BB A

(i) ZEMWEAREEBR B RS
{oE ]
(iv) ~AEEAEE=THENAEENE

o3 — BB o = 7 E B A A
Gl

(v) B R A AR ) o SR AR I A R
T R0 B A A S i i I A R R
& s

% T (a) P S N L 4 i B L3
Ie] 22 ) 5 M

(vi)

(vii) R@@OFTE#ANLEZEHEAENE
B ok v B e R M B A WA
HgHP—ZEERH -

ZF - 2= F £ H o I W AEHE AR

5 W



_—

76

e

r r

[N ' § o . y
| A | y
I

Notes to Financial Statements

W 5 Hie i W Rk

Year ended 31 March 2013 &E_F—-Z4£=ZA=+—HILEE

2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Property, plant and equipment and depreciation

Property, plant and equipment, other than construction in
progress, are stated at cost or valuation less accumulated
depreciation and any impairment losses. The cost of an item of
property, plant and equipment comprises its purchase price and
any directly attributable costs of bringing the asset to its working
condition and location for its intended use. Expenditure incurred
after items of property, plant and equipment have been put into
operation, such as repairs and maintenance, is normally charged
to the income statement in the period in which it is incurred.
In situations where the recognition criteria are satisfied, the
expenditure for a major inspection is capitalised in the carrying
amount of the asset as a replacement. Where significant parts
of property, plant and equipment are required to be replaced at
intervals, the Group recognises such parts as individual assets

with specific useful lives and depreciates them accordingly.

Property, plant and equipment carried at revalued amounts in
the financial statements relating to periods ended before 30
September 1995 are not required to be regularly revalued when
the Group does not revalue their property, plant and equipment
subsequent to 1995. An annual transfer from the revaluation
reserve to retained profits is made for the difference between
the depreciation based on the revalued carrying amount of an
asset and the depreciation based on the asset’s original cost.
On disposal of a revalued asset, the relevant portion of the
revaluation reserve realised in respect of previous valuations is

transferred to retained profits as a movement in reserves.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Property, plant and equipment and depreciation (continued)

Depreciation is calculated on the straight-line basis to write
off the cost or valuation of each item of property, plant and
equipment to its residual value over its estimated useful life. The

principal annual rates used for this purpose are as follows:

Leasehold land under finance leases Over the lease terms
Buildings 2% — 10%
Leasehold improvements 10% — 20%
Furniture, fixtures and equipment 10% — 25%
Plant and machinery 10% — 20%
Motor vehicles 15% — 30%

Where parts of an item of property, plant and equipment have
different useful lives, the cost or valuation of that item is
allocated on a reasonable basis among the parts and each part
is depreciated separately. Residual values, useful lives and the
depreciation method are reviewed, and adjusted if appropriate, at
least at each financial year end.

An item of property, plant and equipment including any
significant part initially recognised is derecognised upon disposal
or when no future economic benefits are expected from its use or
disposal. Any gain or loss on disposal or retirement recognised
in the income statement in the year the asset is derecognised is
the difference between the net sales proceeds and the carrying
amount of the relevant asset.

Construction in progress represents a building under construction,
which is stated at cost less any impairment losses, and is not
depreciated. Cost comprises the direct costs of construction
during the period of construction. Construction in progress is
reclassified to the appropriate category of property, plant and
equipment when completed and ready for use.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Investment property

An investment property is an interest in land and building
(including the leasehold interest under an operating lease for
a property which would otherwise meet the definition of an
investment property) held to earn rental income and/or for capital
appreciation, rather than for use in the production or supply
of goods or services or for administrative purposes; or for sale
in the ordinary course of business. Such property is measured
initially at cost, including transaction costs. Subsequent to initial
recognition, the investment property is stated at fair value, which
reflects market conditions at the end of the reporting period.

Gains or losses arising from changes in the fair value of the
investment property are included in the income statement in the

year in which they arise.

Any gains or losses on the retirement or disposal of the
investment property are recognised in the income statement in the
year of the retirement or disposal.

Leases

Leases that transfer substantially all the rewards and risks of
ownership of assets to the Group, other than legal title, are
accounted for as finance leases. At the inception of a finance
lease, the cost of the leased asset is capitalised at the present
value of the minimum lease payments and recorded together
with the obligation, excluding the interest element, to reflect the
purchase and financing. Assets held under capitalised finance
leases, including prepaid land lease payments under finance
leases, are included in property, plant and equipment, and
depreciated over the shorter of the lease terms and the estimated
useful lives of the assets. The finance costs of such leases are
charged to the income statement so as to provide a constant

periodic rate of charge over the lease terms.

Leases where substantially all the rewards and risks of ownership
of assets remain with the lessor are accounted for as operating
leases. Where the Group is the lessor, assets leased by the Group
under operating leases are included in non-current assets, and
rentals receivable under the operating leases are credited to the
income statement on the straight-line basis over the lease terms.
Where the Group is the lessee, rentals payable under operating
leases are charged to the income statement on the straight-line
basis over the lease terms.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Leases (continued)

Prepaid land lease payments under operating leases are initially
stated at cost and subsequently recognised on the straight-line
basis over the lease terms. When the lease payments cannot be
allocated reliably between the land and buildings elements, the
entire lease payments are included in the cost of the land and

buildings as a finance lease in property, plant and equipment.

Investments and other financial assets
Initial recognition and measurement

Financial assets within the scope of HKAS 39 are classified as
financial assets at fair value through profit or loss, loans and
receivables, and available-for-sale financial investments or as
derivatives designated as hedging instruments in an effective
hedge, as appropriate. The Group determines the classification
of its financial assets at initial recognition. When financial assets
are recognised initially, they are measured at fair value plus
transaction costs, except in the case of financial assets recorded at

fair value through profit or loss.

All regular way purchases and sales of financial assets are
recognised on the trade date, that is, the date that the Group
commits to purchase or sell the asset. Regular way purchases
or sales are purchases or sales of financial assets that require
delivery of assets within the period generally established by
regulation or convention in the marketplace.

Subsequent measurement

The subsequent measurement of financial assets depends on their

classification as follows:

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss include the
financial assets held for trading and financial assets designated
upon initial recognition as at fair value through profit or loss.
Financial assets are classified as held for trading if they are
acquired for the purpose of sale in the near term. Derivatives,
including separated embedded derivatives, are also classified as
held for trading unless they are designated as effective hedging
instruments as defined by HKAS 39.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Investments and other financial assets (continued)
Subsequent measurement (continued)
Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss (continued)

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss are carried
in the statement of financial position at fair value with net
changes in fair value presented as other income and gains and
in the income statement. These net fair value changes do not
include any dividends or interest earned on these financial assets,
which are recognised in accordance with the policies set out for

“Revenue recognition” below.

Financial assets designated upon initial recognition at fair
value through profit or loss are designated at the date of initial
recognition and only if the criteria under HKAS 39 are satisfied.

The Group evaluates its financial assets at fair value through
profit or loss (held for trading) to assess whether the intent to
sell them in the near term is still appropriate. When, in rare
circumstances, the Group is unable to trade these financial assets
due to inactive markets and management’s intent to sell them
in the foreseeable future significantly changes, the Group may
elect to reclassify them. The reclassification from financial assets
at fair value through profit or loss to loans and receivables,
available-for-sale financial assets or held-to-maturity investments
depends on the nature of the assets. This evaluation does not
affect any financial assets designated at fair value through
profit or loss using the fair value option at designation, as these

instruments cannot be reclassified after initial recognition.

Loans and receivables

Loans and receivables are non-derivative financial assets with
fixed or determinable payments that are not quoted in an active
market. After initial measurement, such assets are subsequently
measured at amortised cost using the effective interest rate
method less any allowance for impairment. Amortised cost is
calculated by taking into account any discount or premium on
acquisition and includes fees or costs that are an integral part of
the effective interest rate. The effective interest rate amortisation
is included in other income and gains in the income statement.
The loss arising from impairment is recognised in other operating

expenses in the income statement.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Investments and other financial assets (continued)
Subsequent measurement (continued)
Available-for-sale financial investments

Available-for-sale financial investments are non-derivative
financial assets in listed and unlisted equity investments and a
club debenture. Equity investments classified as available for
sale are those which are neither classified as held for trading nor

designated at fair value through profit or loss.

After initial recognition, available-for-sale financial investments
are subsequently measured at fair value, with unrealised gains
or losses recognised as other comprehensive income in the
available-for-sale investment revaluation reserve until the
investment is derecognised, at which time the cumulative gain
or loss is recognised in the income statement in other income,
or until the investment is determined to be impaired, when the
cumulative gain or loss is reclassified from the available-for-
sale investment revaluation reserve to the income statement in
other operating expenses. Interest and dividends earned whilst
holding the available-for-sale financial investments are reported
as interest income and dividend income, respectively and are
recognised in the income statement as other income in accordance

with the policies set out for “Revenue recognition” below.

When the fair value of unlisted equity investments cannot be
reliably measured because (a) the variability in the range of
reasonable fair value estimates is significant for that investment
or (b) the probabilities of the various estimates within the range
cannot be reasonably assessed and used in estimating fair value,

such investments are stated at cost less any impairment losses.

The Group evaluates whether the ability and intention to sell
its available-for-sale financial assets in the near term are
still appropriate. When, in rare circumstances, the Group is
unable to trade these financial assets due to inactive markets
and management’s intent to do so significantly changes in the
foreseeable future, the Group may elect to reclassify these
financial assets. Reclassification to loans and receivables is
permitted when the financial assets meet the definition of
loans and receivables and the Group has the intent and ability
to hold these assets for the foreseeable future or to maturity.
Reclassification to the held-to-maturity category is permitted
only when the Group has the ability and intent to hold until the

maturity date of the financial asset.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Investments and other financial assets (continued)
Subsequent measurement (continued)
Available-for-sale financial investments (continued)

For a financial asset reclassified from the available-for-
sale category, the fair value carrying amount at the date of
reclassification becomes its new amortised cost and any
previous gain or loss on that asset that has been recognised in
equity is amortised to profit or loss over the remaining life of
the investment using the effective interest rate. Any difference
between the new amortised cost and the maturity amount is also
amortised over the remaining life of the asset using the effective
interest rate. If the asset is subsequently determined to be
impaired, then the amount recorded in equity is reclassified to the

income statement.

Derecognition of financial assets

A financial asset (or, where applicable, a part of a financial asset
or part of a group of similar financial assets) is derecognised

when:

. the rights to receive cash flows from the asset have expired;

or

. the Group has transferred its rights to receive cash flows
from the asset or has assumed an obligation to pay the
received cash flows in full without material delay to a third
party under a “pass-through” arrangement; and either (a) the
Group has transferred substantially all the risks and rewards
of the asset, or (b) the Group has neither transferred nor
retained substantially all the risks and rewards of the asset,

but has transferred control of the asset.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Derecognition of financial assets (continued)

When the Group has transferred its rights to receive cash flows
from an asset or has entered into a pass-through arrangement, it
evaluates if and to what extent it has retained the risk and rewards
of ownership of the asset. When it has neither transferred nor
retained substantially all the risks and rewards of the asset nor
transferred control of the asset, the asset is recognised to the
extent of the Group’s continuing involvement in the asset. In
that case, the Group also recognises an associated liability. The
transferred asset and the associated liability are measured on a
basis that reflects the rights and obligations that the Group has

retained.

Continuing involvement that takes the form of a guarantee over
the transferred asset is measured at the lower of the original
carrying amount of the asset and the maximum amount of

consideration that the Group could be required to repay.

Impairment of financial assets

The Group assesses at the end of each reporting period whether
there is objective evidence that a financial asset or a group of
financial assets is impaired. A financial asset or a group of
financial assets is deemed to be impaired if, and only if, there
is objective evidence of impairment as a result of one or more
events that occurred after the initial recognition of the asset (an
incurred “loss event”) and that loss event has an impact on the
estimated future cash flows of the financial asset or the group
of financial assets that can be reliably estimated. Evidence of
impairment may include indications that a debtor or a group of
debtors is experiencing significant financial difficulty, default
or delinquency in interest or principal payments, the probability
that they will enter bankruptcy or other financial reorganisation
and observable data indicating that there is a measurable decrease
in the estimated future cash flows, such as changes in arrears or

economic conditions that correlate with defaults.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Impairment of financial assets (continued)
Financial assets carried at amortised cost

For financial assets carried at amortised cost, the Group first
assesses individually whether objective evidence of impairment
exists for financial assets that are individually significant,
or collectively for financial assets that are not individually
significant. If the Group determines that no objective evidence
of impairment exists for an individually assessed financial
asset, whether significant or not, it includes the asset in a
group of financial assets with similar credit risk characteristics
and collectively assesses them for impairment. Assets that
are individually assessed for impairment and for which an
impairment loss is, or continues to be, recognised are not

included in a collective assessment of impairment.

If there is objective evidence that an impairment loss has been
incurred, the amount of the loss is measured as the difference
between the asset’s carrying amount and the present value of
estimated future cash flows (excluding future credit losses that
have not yet been incurred). The present value of the estimated
future cash flows is discounted at the financial asset’s original
effective interest rate (i.e., the effective interest rate computed
at initial recognition). If a loan has a variable interest rate, the
discount rate for measuring any impairment loss is the current

effective interest rate.

The carrying amount of the asset is reduced through the use of
an allowance account and the loss is recognised in the income
statement. Interest income continues to be accrued on the reduced
carrying amount and is accrued using the rate of interest used
to discount the future cash flows for the purpose of measuring
the impairment loss. Loans and receivables together with any
associated allowance are written off when there is no realistic
prospect of future recovery and all collateral has been realised or

has been transferred to the Group.

If, in a subsequent period, the amount of the estimated
impairment loss increases or decreases because of an event
occurring after the impairment was recognised, the previously
recognised impairment loss is increased or reduced by adjusting
the allowance account. If a write-off is later recovered, the

recovery is credited to the income statement.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Impairment of financial assets (continued)
Assets carried at cost

If there is objective evidence that an impairment loss has been
incurred on an unquoted equity instrument that is not carried at
fair value because its fair value cannot be reliably measured, the
amount of the loss is measured as the difference between the
asset’s carrying amount and the present value of estimated future
cash flows discounted at the current market rate of return for a
similar financial asset. Impairment losses on these assets are not

reversed.

Available-for-sale financial investments

For available-for-sale financial investments, the Group assesses
at the end of each reporting period whether there is objective
evidence that an investment or a group of investments is

impaired.

If an available-for-sale asset is impaired, an amount comprising
the difference between its cost (net of any principal payment
and amortisation) and its current fair value, less any impairment
loss previously recognised in the income statement, is removed
from other comprehensive income and recognised in the income

statement.

In the case of equity investments classified as available for sale,
objective evidence would include a significant or prolonged
decline in the fair value of an investment below its cost. The
determination of what is “significant” or “’prolonged” requires
judgement. “Significant” is evaluated against the original cost
of the investment and “prolonged” against the period in which
the fair value has been below its original cost. Where there
is evidence of impairment, the cumulative loss — measured as
the difference between the acquisition cost and the current fair
value, less any impairment loss on that investment previously
recognised in the income statement — is removed from other
comprehensive income and recognised in the income statement.
Impairment losses on equity instruments classified as available
for sale are not reversed through the income statement. Increases
in their fair value after impairment are recognised directly in

other comprehensive income.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Financial liabilities
Initial recognition and measurement

Financial liabilities within the scope of HKAS 39 are classified as
financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss, loans and
borrowings, or as derivatives designated as hedging instruments
in an effective hedge, as appropriate. The Group determines the

classification of its financial liabilities at initial recognition.

All financial liabilities are recognised initially at fair value and,
in the case of loans and borrowings, net of directly attributable

transaction costs.

The Group’s financial liabilities include trade and other payables

and interest-bearing bank borrowings.

Subsequent measurement

The subsequent measurement of financial liabilities depends on

their classification as follows:

Loans and borrowings

After initial recognition, interest-bearing loans and borrowings
are subsequently measured at amortised cost, using the effective
interest rate method unless the effect of discounting would be
immaterial, in which case they are stated at cost. Gains and
losses are recognised in the income statement when the liabilities
are derecognised as well as through the effective interest rate

amortisation process.

Amortised cost is calculated by taking into account any discount
or premium on acquisition and fees or costs that are an integral
part of the effective interest rate. The effective interest rate

amortisation is included in finance costs in the income statement.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Financial liabilities (continued)
Financial guarantee contracts

Financial guarantee contracts issued by the Group are those
contracts that require a payment to be made to reimburse the
holder for a loss it incurs because the specified debtor fails to
make a payment when due in accordance with the terms of a
debt instrument. A financial guarantee contract is recognised
initially as a liability at its fair value, adjusted for transaction
costs that are directly attributable to the issuance of the
guarantee. Subsequent to initial recognition, the Group measures
the financial guarantee contract at the higher of: (i) the amount
of the best estimate of the expenditure required to settle the
present obligation at the end of the reporting period; and (ii) the
amount initially recognised less, when appropriate, cumulative

amortisation.

Derecognition of financial liabilities

A financial liability is derecognised when the obligation under

the liability is discharged or cancelled, or expires.

When an existing financial liability is replaced by another from
the same lender on substantially different terms, or the terms of
an existing liability are substantially modified, such an exchange
or modification is treated as a derecognition of the original
liability and a recognition of a new liability, and the difference
between the respective carrying amounts is recognised in the
income statement.

Offsetting of financial instruments

Financial assets and financial liabilities are offset and the net
amount is reported in the statement of financial position if there
is a currently enforceable legal right to offset the recognised
amounts and there is an intention to settle on a net basis, or to

realise the assets and settle the liabilities simultaneously.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Fair value of financial instruments

The fair value of financial instruments that are traded in active
markets is determined by reference to quoted market prices or
dealer price quotations (bid price for long positions and ask price
for short positions), without any deduction for transaction costs.
For financial instruments where there is no active market, the fair
value is determined using appropriate valuation techniques. Such
techniques include using recent arm’s length market transactions;
reference to the current market value of another instrument which
is substantially the same; a discounted cash flow analysis; and
option pricing models.

Derivative financial instruments

The Group invests in certain derivative financial instruments,
such as currency-linked deposits, to enhance its investment
return. Such derivative financial instruments are initially
recognised at fair value on the date on which a derivative contract
is entered into and are subsequently remeasured at fair value.
Derivatives are carried as assets when the fair value is positive
and as liabilities when the fair value is negative. Any gains or
losses arising from changes in fair value of derivatives are taken

directly to the income statement.

Treasury shares

Own equity instruments which are reacquired (treasury shares)
are recognised at cost and deducted from equity. No gain or
loss is recognised in the income statement on the purchase, sale,
issue or cancellation of the Group’s own equity instruments. Any
difference between the carrying amount and the consideration is

recognised in equity.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Livestock

Livestock are stated at fair value less estimated point-of-sale
costs, except where the fair value cannot be measured reliably, in
which case they are stated at cost less accumulated amortisation
and any impairment losses. The fair value of livestock is
determined based on market prices of livestock of similar age,
breed and genetic merit.

Net increments or decrements in the fair value of livestock are
included in the income statement, and are determined as:

(a) the difference between the total fair value of the livestock
recognised at the beginning of the financial year and the
total fair value of the livestock recognised at the end of the

financial year; and

(b) the costs incurred, during the financial year the livestock are
acquired and bred.

Non-current livestock stated at cost less accumulated
amortisation and any impairment losses, represent breeder
peafowls and are amortised over ten years using the sum-of-digits
method.

Inventories

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable
value. Cost is determined on the weighted average basis and
includes all costs of purchase, costs of conversion, and other
costs incurred in bringing the inventories to their present location
and condition. In the case of work in progress and self-produced
finished goods, cost comprises direct materials, direct labour and
an appropriate proportion of overhead. Net realisable value is
based on estimated selling prices less any estimated costs to be

incurred to completion and disposal.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Cash and cash equivalents

For the purpose of the consolidated statement of cash flows,
cash and cash equivalents comprise cash on hand and demand
deposits, and short term highly liquid investments that are
readily convertible into known amounts of cash, are subject to an
insignificant risk of changes in value, and have a short maturity
of generally within three months when acquired, less bank
overdrafts which are repayable on demand and form an integral

part of the Group’s cash management.

For the purpose of the statement of financial position, cash and
cash equivalents comprise cash on hand and at banks, including

term deposits, which are not restricted as to use.

Income tax

Income tax comprises current and deferred tax. Income tax
relating to items recognised outside profit or loss is recognised
outside profit or loss, either in other comprehensive income or

directly in equity.

Current tax assets and liabilities for the current and prior periods
are measured at the amount expected to be recovered from or
paid to the taxation authorities, based on tax rates (and tax laws)
that have been enacted or substantively enacted by the end of the
reporting period, taking into consideration interpretations and

practices prevailing in the countries in which the Group operates.

Deferred tax is provided, using the liability method, on all
temporary differences at the end of the reporting period between
the tax bases of assets and liabilities and their carrying amounts

for financial reporting purposes.

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for all taxable temporary

differences, except:

. when the deferred tax liability arises from the initial
recognition of goodwill or an asset or liability in a
transaction that is not a business combination and, at the
time of the transaction, affects neither the accounting profit
nor taxable profit or loss; and

. in respect of taxable temporary differences associated
with investments in subsidiaries and associates, when the
timing of the reversal of the temporary differences can be
controlled and it is probable that the temporary differences

will not reverse in the foreseeable future.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Income tax (continued)

Deferred tax assets are recognised for all deductible temporary
differences, the carryforward of unused tax credits and any
unused tax losses. Deferred tax assets are recognised to the extent
that it is probable that taxable profit will be available against
which the deductible temporary differences, the carryforward of
unused tax credits and unused tax losses can be utilised, except:

. when the deferred tax asset relating to the deductible
temporary differences arises from the initial recognition of
an asset or liability in a transaction that is not a business
combination and, at the time of the transaction, affects

neither the accounting profit nor taxable profit or loss; and

. in respect of deductible temporary differences associated
with investments in subsidiaries and associates, deferred tax
assets are only recognised to the extent that it is probable
that the temporary differences will reverse in the foreseeable
future and taxable profit will be available against which the

temporary differences can be utilised.

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at the
end of each reporting period and reduced to the extent that it is
no longer probable that sufficient taxable profit will be available
to allow all or part of the deferred tax asset to be utilised.
Unrecognised deferred tax assets are reassessed at the end of
each reporting period and are recognised to the extent that it has
become probable that sufficient taxable profit will be available to

allow all or part of the deferred tax asset to be recovered.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax rates
that are expected to apply to the period when the asset is realised
or the liability is settled, based on tax rates (and tax laws) that
have been enacted or substantively enacted by the end of the
reporting period.

Deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities are offset if a
legally enforceable right exists to set off current tax assets against
current tax liabilities and the deferred taxes relate to the same

taxable entity and the same taxation authority.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Revenue recognition

Revenue is recognised when it is probable that the economic
benefits will flow to the Group and when the revenue can be

measured reliably, on the following bases:

(a) from the sale of goods, when the significant risks and
rewards of ownership have been transferred to the buyer,
provided that the Group maintains neither managerial
involvement to the degree usually associated with

ownership, nor effective control over the goods sold;

(b) interest income, on an accrual basis using the effective
interest method by applying the rate that exactly discounts
the estimated future cash receipts over the expected life
of the financial instrument or a shorter period, when
appropriate, to the net carrying amount of the financial

asset;

(c) dividend income, when the shareholders’ right to receive

payment has been established;

(d) management fee income, in the period in which services are
rendered; and

(e) rental income, on a time proportion basis over the lease

terms.

Employee benefits
Pension schemes

The Group operates a defined contribution Mandatory Provident
Fund retirement benefit scheme (the “MPF Scheme”) under
the Mandatory Provident Fund Schemes Ordinance for those
employees who are eligible to participate in the MPF Scheme.
Contributions are made based on a percentage of the employees’
basic salaries and are charged to the income statement as
they become payable in accordance with the rules of the MPF
Scheme. The assets of the MPF Scheme are held separately from
those of the Group in an independently administered fund. The
Group’s employer contributions vest fully with the employees
when contributed into the MPF Scheme, except for the Group’s
employer voluntary contributions, which are refunded to the
Group when the employee leaves employment prior to the
contributions vesting fully, in accordance with the rules of the
MPF Scheme.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Employee benefits (continued)
Pension schemes (continued)

The employees of the Group’s subsidiaries which operate in
Mainland China are required to participate in a central pension
scheme operated by the local municipal government. These
subsidiaries are required to contribute 10% to 22% of their
payroll costs to the central pension scheme. The contributions
are charged to the income statement as they become payable in

accordance with the rules of the central pension scheme.

Share-based payments

The Company operates a share option scheme for the purpose
of providing incentives and rewards to eligible participants who
contribute to the success of the Group’s operations. Employees
(including directors) of the Group receive remuneration in
the form of share-based payments, whereby employees render
services as consideration for equity instruments (“equity-settled

transactions”).

The cost of equity-settled transactions with employees for grants
after 7 November 2002 is measured by reference to the fair value
at the date at which they are granted. The fair value is determined
by an external valuer using a binomial model or the Black-

Scholes model.

The cost of equity-settled transactions is recognised, together
with a corresponding increase in equity, over the period in which
the performance and/or service conditions are fulfilled. The
cumulative expense recognised for equity-settled transactions at
the end of each reporting period until the vesting date reflects the
extent to which the vesting period has expired and the Group’s
best estimate of the number of equity instruments that will
ultimately vest. The charge or credit to the income statement
for a period represents the movement in the cumulative expense

recognised as at the beginning and end of that period.

No expense is recognised for awards that do not ultimately vest,
except for equity-settled transactions where vesting is conditional
upon a market or non-vesting condition, which are treated as
vesting irrespective of whether or not the market or non-vesting
condition is satisfied, provided that all other performance and/or

service conditions are satisfied.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Employee benefits (continued)
Share-based payments (continued)

Where the terms of an equity-settled award are modified, as
a minimum an expense is recognised as if the terms had not
been modified, if the original terms of the award are met. In
addition, an expense is recognised for any modification that
increases the total fair value of the share-based payments, or is
otherwise beneficial to the employee as measured at the date of
modification.

Where an equity-settled award is cancelled, it is treated as
if it had vested on the date of cancellation, and any expense
not yet recognised for the award is recognised immediately.
This includes any award where non-vesting conditions within
the control of either the Group or the employee are not met.
However, if a new award is substituted for the cancelled award,
and is designated as a replacement award on the date that it is
granted, the cancelled and new awards are treated as if they were
a modification of the original award, as described in the previous
paragraph.

The dilutive effect of outstanding options is reflected as

additional share dilution in the computation of earnings per share.

Dividends

Final dividends proposed by the directors are classified as a
separate allocation of retained profits within the equity section of
the statement of financial position, until they have been approved
by the shareholders in a general meeting. When these dividends
have been approved by the shareholders and declared, they are
recognised as a liability.

Interim dividends are simultaneously proposed and declared,
because the Company’s memorandum and articles of association
grant the directors the authority to declare interim dividends.
Consequently, interim dividends are recognised immediately as a

liability when they are proposed and declared.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Foreign currencies

These financial statements are presented in Hong Kong dollars,
which is the Company’s functional and presentation currency.
Each entity in the Group determines its own functional currency
and items included in the financial statements of each entity
are measured using that functional currency. Foreign currency
transactions recorded by the entities in the Group are initially
recorded using their respective functional currency rates
prevailing at the dates of the transactions. Monetary assets and
liabilities denominated in foreign currencies are translated at the
functional currency rates of exchange ruling at the end of the
reporting period. Differences arising on settlement or translation

of monetary items are recognised in the income statement.

Non-monetary items that are measured in terms of historical
cost in a foreign currency are translated using the exchange
rates at the dates of the initial transactions. Non-monetary
items measured at fair value in a foreign currency are translated
using the exchange rates at the date when the fair value was
determined. The gain or loss arising on translation of a non-
monetary item measured at fair value is treated in line with the
recognition of the gain or loss on change in fair value of the item
(i.e., translation difference on the item whose fair value gain or
loss is recognised in other comprehensive income or profit or loss
is also recognised in other comprehensive income or profit or

loss, respectively).

The functional currencies of certain overseas subsidiaries and
associates are currencies other than the Hong Kong dollar. As
at the end of the reporting period, the assets and liabilities of
these entities are translated into the presentation currency of
the Company at the exchange rates prevailing at the end of the
reporting period and their income statements are translated into
Hong Kong dollars at the weighted average exchange rates for the

year.

The resulting exchange differences are recognised in other
comprehensive income and accumulated in the exchange
fluctuation reserve. On disposal of a foreign operation, the
component of other comprehensive income relating to that
particular foreign operation is recognised in the income

statement.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Foreign currencies (continued)

Any goodwill arising on the acquisition of a foreign operation
and any fair value adjustments to the carrying amounts of assets
and liabilities arising on acquisition are treated as assets and
liabilities of the foreign operation and translated at the closing
rate.

For the purpose of the consolidated statement of cash flows, the
cash flows of overseas subsidiaries are translated into Hong Kong
dollars at the exchange rates ruling at the dates of the cash flows.
Frequently recurring cash flows of overseas subsidiaries which
arise throughout the year are translated into Hong Kong dollars at
the weighted average exchange rates for the year.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
JUDGEMENT AND ESTIMATES

The preparation of the Group’s financial statements requires
management to make judgement, estimates and assumptions that
affect the reported amounts of revenues, expenses, assets and
liabilities, and their accompanying disclosures, and the disclosure
of contingent liabilities. Uncertainty about these assumptions and
estimates could result in outcomes that could require a material
adjustment to the carrying amounts of the assets or liabilities
affected in the future.

Judgement

In the process of applying the Group’s accounting policies,
management has made the following judgement, apart from those
involving estimations, which have the most significant effect on
the amounts recognised in the financial statements:

Impairment of assets

In determining whether an asset is impaired or the event
previously causing the impairment no longer exists, the Group
has to exercise judgement in the area of asset impairment,
particularly in assessing: (1) whether an event has occurred that
may affect the asset value or such event affecting the asset value
has not been in existence; (2) whether the carrying value of an
asset can be supported by the net present value of future cash
flows which are estimated based upon the continued use of the
asset or derecognition; and (3) the appropriate key assumptions to
be applied in preparing cash flow projections including whether
these cash flow projections are discounted using an appropriate
rate. Changing the assumptions selected by management to
determine the level of impairment, including the discount rates or
the growth rate assumptions in the cash flow projections, could
materially affect the net present value used in the impairment
test.
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

JUDGEMENT AND ESTIMATES
(continued)

Estimation uncertainty

The key assumptions concerning the future and other key sources
of estimation uncertainty at the end of the reporting period, that
have a significant risk of causing a material adjustment to the
carrying amounts of assets and liabilities within the next financial
year, are described below.

Impairment of goodwill

The Group determines whether goodwill is impaired at least
on an annual basis. This requires an estimation of the value
in use of the cash-generating units to which the goodwill is
allocated. Estimating the value in use requires the Group to make
an estimate of the expected future cash flows from the cash-
generating units and also to choose a suitable discount rate in
order to calculate the present value of those cash flows. Changes
to these key judgement and estimates could materially affect
the determination of whether there is an impairment and the
related amounts. If there are significant adverse changes in the
aforementioned judgement and estimates, it may be necessary
to record significant additional impairment charge in future
periods. The carrying amount of goodwill at 31 March 2013
was HK$36,809,000 (2012: HK$38,177,000). Further details are
given in note 17.

%

LY
]

E -
| A

-~

Notes to Financial Statements

S 5 i W Rk

Year ended 31 March 2013 E -F—-Z4£=A=+—HILEE

3. FEEEr A B A (8

fili vt Z A 1 9 R R

BT I AR R 2 A e £ R T A
JA T K 2 R e 2 A 2 e L At = AR S ik
PR Z w2 A B TR R AR PEST -

Py 8% 0 e

AR S B e A BB A — IR TR B A o BEE
A 5 2 T 7 R 2 B 4 s vk LA 2 B o
A EAGFHE RS R e E LR
T RAB &R > AR AHEZ IR
DR A MBI BME o %5 1 EHE X
A 55T Z 48 B W) AE S A AE A T M B A
2R R R RIS o i LB A A E
KAF S H) » QI VT REAT 75 T AR 2 [l s g
KFEIMNEE T - RF—=Z4E=ZH=+—
H » 78 2 W {E %436,809,0004 70 (& —
A 1 38,177,000¥00) o #EIE CHUR B FEL7 o

— = F £ Hf o I M £ B F R A A



_— ) A | w4

4 | /

98 Notes to Financial Statements

W 5 Hie i W Rk

Year ended 31 March 2013 &E_F—-Z4£=ZA=+—HILEE

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 3. A A (F)

JUDGEMENT AND ESTIMATES
(continued)

Estimation uncertainty (continued)
Deferred tax assets

Deferred tax assets are recognised for unused tax losses to the
extent that it is probable that taxable profit will be available
against which the losses can be utilised. Significant management
judgement is required to determine the amount of deferred tax
assets that can be recognised, based upon the likely timing and
level of future taxable profits together with future tax planning
strategies. The carrying value of deferred tax assets relating
to recognised tax losses at 31 March 2013 was HK$415,000
(2012: HK$415,000). The amounts of unrecognised tax losses
for subsidiaries situated in Hong Kong and Mainland China at 31
March 2013 were HK$128,513,000 (2012: HK$113,678,000) and
HK$175,529,000 (2012: HK$176,688,000), respectively. Further
details of the Group’s deferred tax are contained in note 30 to the

financial statements.

Impairment of available-for-sale investments

The Group classifies certain assets as available for sale and
recognises movements of their fair values in equity. When the
fair value declines, management makes assumptions about the
decline in value to determine whether there is an impairment that
should be recognised in the income statement. During the year,
impairment losses of HK$13,627,000 (2012: HK$11,051,000)
have been recognised for available-for-sale investments.
The carrying amount of available-for-sale investments was
HK$77,533,000 (2012: HK$93,208,000).

Impairment of trade receivables, deposits and other receivables

The Group conducts impairment reviews of financial assets
whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that their
carrying amounts may not be recoverable in accordance with the
relevant accounting standards. The Group makes its estimates
based on the ageing of its trade receivable balances, customers’
creditworthiness, and historical write-off experience. If the
financial condition of its customers was to deteriorate so that the
actual impairment loss might be higher than expected, the Group
would be required to revise the basis of making the allowance
and its future results would be affected. At 31 March 2013, an
aggregate impairment of trade receivables of HK$6,454,000
(2012: HK$6,196,000) has been made and the carrying
amounts of trade receivables were HK$502,953,000 (2012:
HK$525,978,000). At 31 March 2013, the carrying amounts
of deposits and other receivables were HK$73,409,000 (2012:
HK$81,251,000) and no impairment loss was made.
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4. OPERATING SEGMENT

INFORMATION

For management purposes, the Group is organised into business
units based on geographical areas and has two reportable

operating segments as follows:

(i) the Hong Kong segment is engaged in the manufacturing
and trading of snack foods, confectionery, beverages, frozen
food products, ham and ham-related products, noodles and
the retailing of snack foods, confectionery and beverages,

and the operations of restaurants; and

(i) the Mainland China segment is engaged in the manufacturing
and trading of snack foods, confectionery, beverages, frozen
food products, poultry products, and ham and ham-related

products, noodles and the operations of restaurants.

Management monitors the results of the Group’s operating
segments separately for the purpose of making decisions about
resources allocation and performance assessment. Segment
performance is evaluated based on reportable segment profit/
(loss), which is a measure of adjusted profit/(loss) before tax.
The adjusted profit/(loss) before tax is measured consistently
with the Group’s profit before tax except that interest income,
dividend income and unallocated gains, impairment of available-
for-sale investments, finance costs, share of profits and losses
of associates and corporate and other unallocated expenses are

excluded from such measurement.

Segment assets exclude available-for-sale investments, deferred
tax assets, tax recoverable, investments in associates, financial
assets at fair value through profit or loss and cash and cash

equivalents as these assets are managed on a group basis.

Segment liabilities exclude interest-bearing bank borrowings,
tax payable and deferred tax liabilities as these liabilities are

managed on a group basis.

Intersegment sales and transfers are transacted with reference to
the selling prices used for sales made to third parties at the then

prevailing market prices.
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4. OPERATING SEGMENT

INFORMATION (continued)

4

v

4. BB WER (B)

Geographical segments I 5%, 43 38
Group Hong Kong Mainland China Total
£ wi B K B Bt
2013 2012 2013 2012 2013 2012
R R ZF-= ZF-"F ZF-=£ R
HKS$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
BYTT  EETT  EBFTL  BETL BETL  BFTT
Segment revenue: WA
Sales to external customers HETIRER 1,901,473 1,818,989 998,174 970,345 2,899,647 2,789,334
Intersegment sales S 3,594 2,029 222,861 216,508 226,455 218,537
1,905,067 1,821,018 1,221,035 1,186,853 3,126,102 3,007,871
Reconciliation: i -
Elimination of intersegment sales 1A 6 84 B 4 (226,455) (218,537)
Revenue KA 2,899,647 2,789,334
Segment results Vg E3 136,140 100,906 25,652 (3,091) 161,792 97,815
Reconciliation: B -
Interest income MEBA 1,215 1,085
Dividend income and unallocated JiE B A B A 4 i
gains Kot 18,514 2,634
Impairment of available-for-sale A RE 2 WA
investments (13,627) (11,051)
Finance costs L A (18,577) (16,808)
Share of profits and losses JEEAK Tk 8 8 W ¥ A
of associates Y3 il 9,244 9,741
Corporate and other unallocated 2w R F A A4 OB
expenses (17,821) (15,884)
Profit before tax I B i 4 140,740 67,532
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4. OPERATING SEGMENT 4. BEABER ()
INFORMATION (continued)
Geographical segments (continued) B3 2 (48)
Group Hong Kong Mainland China Total
£ B il PN At
2013 2012 2013 2012 2013 2012

“F-=f “F-TH ZF-=ZF TF-TF ZF-ZF "F-TF
HK$°000  HK$'000 ~ HK$000  HKS$'000  HK$000  HKS$'000
#WTLE  EETT  #WTT  EFTT  #EWTT  #FT

Segment assets S 976,543 1,017,090 829,972 786,137 1,806,515 15803227
Reconciliation: B
Elimination of intersegment VA 0 B Wk O 8
receivables (203,597) (180,760)
Investments in associates REEARZRE 158,698 151,289
Corporate and other unallocated A RHA A 4 L
assets 703,769 652,087
Total assets e 2,465,385 2,425,843
Segment liabilities g 30 248,781 230,141 290,300 267,302 539,081 497,443
Reconciliation: B -
Elimination of intersegment payables % 3 JE £ 2 J 41 8 (203,597)  (180,760)
Corporate and other unallocated PG &R g
liabilities 901,159 973,323
Total liabilities ARG 1,236,643 1,290,006
Other segment information: b HEH -
Impairment of trade receivables W B 5 e o ik £ = 3,414 1,035 266 1,035 3,680
Impairment of slow-moving M1 B WA
inventories 60 431 558 844 618 1,275
Depreciation and amortisation®** 4785 J g +++ 19,125 17,067 35,966 38,142 55,091 55,209
Capital expenditure* A A 22,916 15,457 31,570 37,095 54,486 52,552
Non-current assets™* Je it By e 205,869 206,499 527,918 540,125 733,787 746,624
E Capital expenditure consists of additions to property, plant and o BB X AR B ¥ R Rk AT
equipment, prepaid land lease payments and investment property. Mo BRI MR B -
*#*%  Non-current assets exclude financial instruments, deferred tax assets sk JRRTEE A SRS ARl T - R RLE B E K
and investments in associates. B AR ZBE -
*#%  Depreciation and amortisation exclude amortisation of non-current wrx TR MRS AR IR B & A .
livestock.

ZF - ZF F H o N W &£ B AR AR
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S. REVENUE, OTHER INCOME AND

GAINS

Revenue, which is also the Group’s turnover, represents the

invoiced value of goods sold, net of discounts and returns. An

5. WA ~ JEfbBOA B Wt

WA BPAC SR B 2 8 SR R R R A BOR B R
R R N R U AT €

analysis of revenue, other income and gains is as follows: ZHMWTE
2013 2012
R4 e St: 2
Notes HKS$’ 000 HK$’ 000
Mt ik T T BT T
Revenue WA 2,899,647 2,789,334
Other income Ho b A
Bank interest income SRATA BB A 1,215 1,085
Dividend income from listed WA EHREZ
available-for-sale investments B B WA 6,815 1,866
Management fee income HHEEWA - 162
Rental income ik N 1,900 1,873
Others HAt 7,621 6,144
17,551 11,130
Gains W 2
Investment gains/(losses), net* WEWE (B » FHE 217 (4,341)
Fair value gain on an investment property & & #) 3 A 7 W 25 15 - 1,824
Fair value gains: AREIRE I
Available-for-sale investments B T B i 2 R
(transfer from equity on disposal) (H B iy B 2 ) 8,655 5,109
Financial assets at fair value through WATEEREZARZ
profit or loss 4 il A 2,827 -
Gain on disposal of items of property, HEWE - BEERFHEE
plant and equipment, net ZWess » HH 12,504 -
Gain on disposal of subsidiaries HENE (- /N P ) 34 4,724 -
28,927 2,592
46,478 13,722
v Investment gains/(losses), net comprise net gains from currency- * #EWE BR)  FHEOFE&YHAER

linked deposits of HK$45,000 (2012: losses of HK$2,995,000) and
net exchange gain on cash and cash equivalents of HK$172,000

(2012: loss of HK$1,346,000).
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6. ME AR

An analysis of finance costs is as follows: BE AR T ¢
Group
3L |
2013 2012
R4 TR T
HK$’000 HK$°000
BT BT
Interest on bank and trust receipt loans TR N YR Z AT R

wholly repayable within five years 5 wE R Bk A B 18,577 16,808

PROFIT BEFORE TAX

The Group’s profit before tax is arrived at after charging/

7. BB & A
AL L BB RA S GEA)

(crediting):
Group
£
2013 2012
TR AR S~
Notes HKS$’ 000 HK$’ 000
it BT T
Cost of inventories sold CEREZ A 2,013,336 2,002,891
Depreciation Vg 14 51,810 51,937
Amortisation of prepaid land lease FE AT A A Rk
payments Z B 16 3,281 3,272
Amortisation of non-current livestock Fu B R 18 2 15
Minimum lease payments under operating i AR K & 2
leases in respect of land and buildings S KA 4 148,691 134,328
Auditors’ remuneration % BT N 4 3,226 2,813
Employee benefit expense (excluding fE Bt A B (A RiE#H S
directors’ and chief executive’s Bl m AT BN B 4
remuneration (note 8)): (Htits)) -
Wages, salaries, allowances and TE) -~ #H4 - K
benefits in kind B A 275,443 243,052
Pension scheme contributions RN RS 15,527 12,910
Less: Forfeited contributions W el 4k - (561)
Net pension scheme contributions** AR PR St ) B Ak g e 15,527 12,349
290,970 255,401

ZF - ZF F H o N W &£ B AR AR
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7. PROFIT BEFORE TAX (continued)

7. BB & A (%)

Group
2013 2012
Y- St o e- St o
Notes HKS$’ 000 HK$’ 000
Mt ik T T BT T

Loss/(gain) on disposal/write-off e W ¥ - R

of items of property, plant Kk fEE Z EH

and equipment, net (We#z) > H# (12,504) 1,033
Foreign exchange differences, net [ 58 25 52 > 53 2,585 (4,299)
Rental income on an investment property BEWEZHERA R

less direct operating expenses of H %8 E B 646,000 70

HK$646,000 (2012: HK$629,000) (ZF— 248 £ 629,000% 7C) (1,254) (1,244)
Impairment of available-for-sale investments* W] fit H £ # & 2 J8 ff* 13,627 11,051
Decrease/(increase) in fair value less AR A, () W 5

estimated point-of-sale costs B R 2 AR

attributable to: B R

— physical change on non-current - FEEBBEZEA

livestock ) 18 (8) (15)

— price change on non-current livestock - EMBEZEKEE) 18 1 2
Impairment of trade receivables* JRE W B B MR A U A 24 1,035 3,680
Impairment of slow-moving inventories*** ¥ & 77 B Y fE *** 618 1,275
Impairment of goodwill* T A Y A 17 1,942 =
Impairment of non-current livestock™** I B YA 18 66 =
*  The impairment of available-for-sale investments, goodwill and o AR E - R RERE SRR BMED

trade receivables are included in “Other operating expenses” in the

consolidated income statement.

**%  During the year ended 31 March 2012, the Group had forfeited
contributions of HK$561,000 available to reduce its contributions to

the pension scheme in future years.
*#% The impairment of slow-moving inventories and non-current

livestock is included in “Cost of sales” in the consolidated income

statement.
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8. DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF

- U

Notes to Financial Statements

EXECUTIVE’S REMUNERATION

Directors’ and chief executive’s remuneration for the year,

disclosed pursuant to the Rules Governing the Listing of

Securities on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the
“Stock Exchange”) (the “Listing Rules”) and the disclosure

requirements of Section 161 of the Hong Kong Companies

Ordinance, is as follows:

S 5 i W Rk

Year ended 31 March 2013 RE_F—Z4£ZA=+—HIL4EE

o g0 R e W AT BN B 4

FNEFREHTBARMERTEEGZS
P AR (T3 B 1) e 2 Bt LA (T ki i
R 1) Je A5 9 0 WA 1) 57 16 146k 2 4% B AL AE A 4
T

Group
Y|

2013 2012

HK$’000 HKS$’000

T o BT

Fees 4 720 740
Other emoluments: oA T 4 -

Salaries, allowances and benefits in kind 4 - Hk R EY R S 8,078 7,724

Pension scheme contributions PEYY o | P 1 213 218

8,291 7,942

9,011 8,682

(a) Independent non-executive directors

The fees paid to independent non-executive directors during

the year were as follows:

(a) B IEPfT
ERNEATBIIERITEREZRWEWMT

2013 2012

e St e St

HK$’000 HK$°000

BT BT T

Leung Mei Han PZLESY ] 80 80
Chan Yuk Sang, Peter PR £ A 80 80
Hiroshi Zaizen W % - 40
Tsunao Kijima T 80 60
240 260

There were no other emoluments payable to the independent

non-executive directors during the year (2012: Nil).

= T ial=

A P Sl 0 L ft T < HE A T B SRR BT EE R
(ZF T4 ) o
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8. DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF
EXECUTIVE’S REMUNERATION
(continued)

(b) Executive directors and the chief executive

8. ¢ M dn W AT BN B4 (50)

(b) BATHE S BB AT H

Salaries,
allowances Pension
and benefits scheme Total
Fees in kind  contributions remuneration
WA~ B Bk

Wa  REDMRE a2 ¥ 1Y A 7
HK$000 HK$000 HK$°000 HK$000
W FT HHFoT HHFoT BT

2013 e S S
Tai Tak Fung, Stephen W 80 3,8407 4 3,924
Wu Mei Yung, Quinly* WIS 80 1,440% 63 1,583
Man Wing Cheung, Ellis SCKAE 80 - 4 84
Yip Wai Keung B 50 80 722 40 842
Wu Wing Biu WK B 80 1,008 51 1,139
Nam Chi Ming, Gibson B 80 1,068 51 1,199
480 8,078 213 8,771

2012 R
Tai Tak Fung, Stephen A 80 3,840/ 4 3,924
Wu Mei Yung, Quinly* e 80 1,170% 63 1,313
Man Wing Cheung, Ellis KR 80 = 4 84
Yip Wai Keung BERR 80 722 40 842
Wu Wing Biu R 80 924 50 1,054
Nam Chi Ming, Gibson [ 80 1,068 57 1,205
480 7,724 218 8,422
& Included in the above salaries, allowances and benefits in kind A 3N Bl 4~ deaE RE Y R 25 AR

is an estimated rental of HK$3,840,000 (2012: HK$3,840,000)
for a director’s quarter owned by the Group.

* Included in the above salaries, allowances and benefits in
kind is a discretionary bonus of approximately HK$270,000
(2012: Nil). Effective 1 April 2013, total annual remuneration,
excluding discretionary bonus, is HK$1,313,000.

*#*  Included in the above salaries, allowances and benefits in
kind is a discretionary bonus of HK$60,000 (2012: Nil).
Effective 1 April 2013, total annual remuneration, excluding
discretionary bonus, is HK$1,120,000.

##%  Included in the above salaries, allowances and benefits in kind
is a discretionary bonus of HK$120,000 (2012: HK$120,000).
Effective 1 April 2013, total annual remuneration, excluding
discretionary bonus, is HK$1,120,000.

# Ms. Wu Mei Yung, Quinly is also the chief executive of the
Group.

There was no arrangement under which a director or the
chief executive waived or agreed to waive any remuneration
during the year (2012: Nil).
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9. FIVE HIGHEST PAID EMPLOYEES

The five highest paid employees during the year included four
(2012: four) directors which included the chief executive, details
of whose remuneration are set out in note 8 above. Details
of the remuneration for the year of the remaining one (2012:
one) highest paid employee who is neither a director nor chief

executive of the Company are as follows:
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o 355 M e v O R

s T 0 I B R B LA Y fr (B
BREITBAR) (%24 Uf6r) » Z%ES
Z G RE O B SCHERES o MR — L (mF
s L) B w0 B (S R A4 R 3 2 e Bt
FATBN ) AR B2 B S REH I F

Group
%M

2013 2012
It BT I 2=
HK$’000 HK$’000
BT o o
Salaries, allowances and benefits in kind % 4 ~ Bt 05 X EWH 35 2,039 1,015
Pension scheme contributions PEYY o | 90 51
2,129 1,066

The highest paid non-director and non-chief executive employee
whose remuneration fell within the band of HK$2,000,001 to
HK$2,500,000 (2012: HK$1,000,001 to HK$1,500,000).

10. INCOME TAX

Hong Kong profits tax has been provided at the rate of 16.5%
(2012: 16.5%) on the estimated assessable profits arising in Hong
Kong during the year. Taxes on profits assessable elsewhere have
been calculated at the rates of tax prevailing in the countries/

jurisdictions in which the Group operates.

FERmIIEERRER RIERFHITHANBZ 4
42,000,001 # 7C 32,500,0008% 7C Z 4L 5] (—
F— T4F 1,000,001 00 £1,500,0004 78) ©

10. P 23 8¢

T Vs P A5 B G H A TR A 98 T A 2 Al R
B R #216.5% (ZF— 4 1 16.5%) Z BL R Ak
HHEA o At b [ 2 M SR 36 1) 7 AR 42 A 45
RBEBZBR FHE R ZBATRRFH -

Group
£ |
2013 2012
Y- St O —EFE T
HK$’000 HK$°000
T T W T T
Current — Hong Kong -

Charge for the year AR AR B IE 27,734 17,523
Current — Elsewhere B — A s [

Charge for the year A AR B Bl IH 6,166 6,648
Overprovision in prior years 20 A A B B A (292) )]
Deferred (note 30) AEIE (HiE30) (71) (417)
Total tax charge for the year ARAR P 2 BABLIE 3 Y 33,537 23,745

Z® - Z O Ko W OW K EARASA
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10. INCOME TAX (continued) 10. B 73 B¢ (%5)
A reconciliation of the tax expense applicable to profit before tax FEER AR o3 ) B 32 S A W P AR B R ]
at the statutory rates for the countries/jurisdictions in which the A I 2 3k S B A S L AR B B I A
Company and the majority of its subsidiaries are domiciled to Z B IE S R D R OB R R S 2 B R S Hh
the tax expense at the effective tax rate, and a reconciliation of W > DL Rdd PR (B 3k e Bl %) BB PR Bl R
the applicable rate (i.e., the statutory tax rate) to the effective tax FHHEWTF :

rate, are as follows:

Group
£
2013 2012
e SV I St
HKS$’000 % HK$°000 %
W T BT T

Profit before tax ¥ Fot. i ¥ ) 140,740 67,532
Tax at applicable tax rates e B AT L Z B 21,724 15.4 10,073 14.9
Adjustments in respect of current B 2 B T A S

tax of previous periods i % (292) 0.2) 9) -
Profits and losses attributable JREAY Wi 28 2 ] ¥4

to associates U3 Eic (1,902) (1.4) (1,840) 2.7)
Income not subject to tax WAL Z WA (3,120) (2.2) (3,183) 4.7
Expenses not deductible for tax Aol HAE R E f Rz 3 2,826 2.0 2,551 3.8
Effect of withholding tax of 5% on B %% A 5L

distributable profits of the Group’s ZHERE AR Z

subsidiaries in Mainland China LRS- viEa 2 43 - - -
Tax losses utilised from previous periods B Fi 4 A i [l = % JE i 40 (7,371) (5.2) (2,609) (3.9)
Deferred tax assets not recognised A TR 2 9 A AT 16,444 11.7 14,803 21.9
Others HAty 5,185 3.7 3,959 59
Tax charge at the Group’s effective rate  $% A< 4 [ B B Bl 3 51 45

ZBH 33,537 23.8 23,745 35.2

The share of tax attributable to associates amounting to FE AL B2 A W 2 B I8 3£3,110,0008 0 (&
HK$3,110,000 (2012: HK$3,576,000) is included in “Share — T4 13,576,000 0) CHEEREA KRR
of profits and losses of associates” in the consolidated income Z AL S ARG REERIRA -
statement.
Certain subsidiaries of the Group in Mainland China are entitled 2 A 3 A R R B 2 T R S A B AT = A A
to preferential tax rates granted by relevant authorities to these W TEEBE -
subsidiaries.
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13.

PROFIT ATTRIBUTABLE TO EQUITY
HOLDERS OF THE COMPANY

The consolidated profit attributable to equity holders of the
Company for the year ended 31 March 2013 includes a profit for
the year of HK$30,623,000 (2012: HK$27,750,000) which has
been dealt with in the financial statements of the Company (note
33(b)).
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11 A 2 il B 4 Jr A7 5 M A ik )

BEZ ===+ HILEEZAAHE
WE 25 BT A & WE Al A% A ¥ A 42 $530,623,000%5 76
(ZF— 4 £ 27,750,000 00) » B AARA
] Z 5 R (B RE33(b)) o

DIVIDENDS 12. e &
2013 2012
e St TR TR
HKS$’000 HK$’000
BT T o
Interim — HK2.0 cents o — g B A 2. 09 Il
(2012: HK2.0 cents) per ordinary share (& — 4 2.0%1) 7,760 7,814
Proposed final — HK5.0 cents S e AR Y] — 4 T RS .ovs Al
(2012: HK5.0 cents) per ordinary share (ZF— 24 5.0%A4) 19,395 19,416
27,155 27,230

The proposed final dividend for the year is subject to the approval
of the Company’s shareholders at the forthcoming annual general

meeting.

EARNINGS PER SHARE
ATTRIBUTABLE TO ORDINARY
EQUITY HOLDERS OF THE COMPANY

The calculation of basic earnings per share amounts is based
on the profit for the year attributable to ordinary equity holders
of the Company, and the weighted average number of ordinary
shares in issue during the year.

No adjustment has been made to the basic earnings per share
amounts presented for the years ended 31 March 2013 and 2012
in respect of a dilution as the Group had no potentially dilutive

ordinary shares in issue during those years.

AR B 2 S R M S ZE I i e RO 4 K
AR 2 ) B A A AR D AT AR o

0

1&%??%%%%%%%%&@&

4

15 1 A TR 7 AR A I A 2% A Wl
o735 M A B ) S 4 7 B A 5 M 2 3
Wt 57 -

HRAREARERE TR ZFER RS
H=+—HIRF RS AWE ) 2 DRIT Y
A8 M o DRI I SN S A 4 S O R AR i 251
Z A BB A 2 P A H R o

ZF - ZF F H o N W &£ B AR AR
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13. EARNINGS PER SHARE 13. 74 2 vl 15 70 ik P A 5 M AN Bt
ATTRIBUTABLE TO ORDINARY &R
EQUITY HOLDERS OF THE COMPANY
(continued)
The calculations of basic and diluted earnings per share are based 19 B J AR T HE R T AR BE T B e e A
on:
2013 2012
e St e St
HK$’000 HK$°000
T T BT T
Earnings #HA
Profit attributable to ordinary equity S P BE AR B v A
holders of the Company, used in the Fit A FH 2 A ) 0 B E 2
basic and diluted earnings per share JI A o A i R
calculation 110,779 52,581
Number of shares
ety ¥ H
2013 2012
e S o e St o
Shares It By
Weighted average number of ordinary B R R AR R 4 2 ) T A
shares in issue during the year used ZAR O BATE R i
in the basic and diluted earnings per REESE
share calculation 388,308,330 390,706,456
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14. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 14. % % - B %&%}1‘ ﬁ
Group HH
Leasehold Furniture,
Land and improve- fixtures and Plant and Motor ~ Construction
buildings ments equipment machinery vehicles in progress Total
1 A Bt WGt fi
rHE Bl REES KBS it ERLHE 3t
HES'000 HES'000 HES'000 HES'000 HES'000 HES'000 HE$000
EW T EWTr EWTr EWTr Wi Wi Vg
31 March 2013 v St =Y o8 ol
At 31 March 2012 and R-Z-ZEZHZ+—HR
at 1 April 2012: ZR-CERA-R
Cost or valuation AT 479,080 124,842 108,930 233,646 44926 6,419 997,843
Accumulated depreciation ZEHE (127,017) (44,666) (78,556) (147,780) (30,635) - (428,654)
Net carrying amount e 352,063 80,176 30,374 85,366 14291 6,419 569,189
At 1 April 2012, net of REF-CENR-H
accumulated depreciation RIS EEit 352,063 80,176 30,374 85,866 14291 6,419 569,189
Additions RE 1355 29926 5,698 6212 6,549 4746 54,486
Disposalshwrite-off /s (1,363) (3,549) (2,150 (10) (292) = (13,366)
Depreciation provided ERTHEE
during the year 2HiE (12,480) (14,680) (8,634) (11.273) (4743) 5 (51,810)
Transfers L 1/ 9875 - - - - (9,875 -
Exchange realignment Bt 2,847 1,143 451 023 164 107 533
At 31 March 2013, net of RZF-ZEZAZ-H
accumulated depreciation SR 2 iE 346,295 93,016 25,739 81,418 15,969 1,397 563,834
At31 March 2013; REB-ZEZNZ4-R:
Cost o valuation BAS 480,428 143,11 107,863 215,525 41,027 1,397 995,451
Accumulated depreciation ZitiE (134,133) (50,195) (82,124) (134,107) (31,038) 5 #31,617)
Net carrying amount R 346,295 93,016 25,739 81,418 15,969 1,397 563,834
Analysis of cost or valuation: A A T :
At cost N 395,428 14311 107,363 215,505 41,007 1,397 910451
At 31 March 1994 valuation R HANEZA=+—H
Zfhf 85,000 = = S 5 = 85,000
480,428 143,11 107,363 215,505 41,007 1,397 995,451
=%z = OE Hoe W OW K B A W A A
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14. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 14. 3% ~ Wi Bkt (4)
(continued)
Group e 0]
Leasehold Furniture,
Land and improve- fixtures and Plant and Motor ~ Construction
buildings ments equipment machinery vehicles in progress Total
4 il =2 il FOR &t

RibF B RERGRH R HE ERIE &t

HKS 000 HKS'000 HKS'000 HKS'000 HKS'000 HKS'000 HKS$ 000

Vi aon biaon Vi aon Vi aon Vi aon Vi aon bl o
31 March 2012 ot St =y Ik
At 1 April 2011 RZF-—ENA—H
Cost or valuation WA 1 460,404 81,924 102,557 225,088 40415 28,581 938969
Accumulated depreciation Rtk (113462) (37813) (69.347) (133.264) 242 = (381,308)
Net carrying amount TR 346,942 111 33,210 91,824 12,993 28,581 557,661
At 1 April 2011, net of REF——ENH -0
accumulated depreciation EHRRHTE 346,942 4111 33,010 91,824 12,993 28,581 557,661
Additions FE 6,556 1m 6,399 4401 5,929 2,000 52,552
Disposals/write-off e/ (67) (659) (226) %) (113) = (1,18)
Depreciation provided ERTHME
during the year ZHik (12.946) (11,233) (9.870) (13,178) (4,710) 5 (51.937)
Transfers &y 5,054 19,597 - - - (25,251) -
Exchange realignment L 5924 1183 861 2912 192 999 12,071
At 31 March 2012, net of RZF-ZE=H=4-0
accumulated depreciation SRR 352,063 80,176 30374 85.866 14291 6419 569,189
At31 March 2012: REZ-ZHEZA=+-H:
Cost or valuation BB 479,080 124842 108,930 233,646 44926 6,419 997,843
Accumulated depreciation Rtk (127,017) (44,666) (78,556) (147,780) (30,635) - (428,654)
Net carrying amount R 352,063 80,176 30,374 85,866 14291 6,419 569,189
Analysis of cost or valuation: BRI A :
At cost ATES 394,080 124,842 108,930 233,646 44,926 6,419 912843
At 31 March 1994 valuation R-AANEZA=ZF—H

2t 85,000 = = = = = 85,000
479,080 124842 108,930 233,646 44,926 6,419 997,843
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14. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

(continued)

The Group’s leasehold land and buildings in Hong Kong and
buildings in Mainland China included above are held under

medium term leases and are situated in:

S 5 i W Rk

Year ended 31 March 2013 RE_F—Z4£ZA=+—HIL4EE

14. Y93 ~ W55 Be st flii ()

b e AR AR [ A v 2 L el R b DL R
B K B 2 A 45 b S AL A FE R SR AR DA T b
i

At cost At valuation Total
AR e Al i Hsk
HK$’000 HK$°000 HK$’000
BT T o BT

31 March 2013 R —-ZAE=A=1+—H
Hong Kong s 130,042 85,000 215,042
Mainland China o [ K B 265,386 = 265,386
395,428 85,000 480,428

31 March 2012 R —-_4=ZA=Z+—H
Hong Kong EaE: 130,042 85,000 215,042
Mainland China TN 264,038 - 264,038
394,080 85,000 479,080

Certain of the Group’s buildings, which are situated in Hong
Kong, were revalued at 15 July 1993, by C.Y. Leung & Company
Limited, independent professionally qualified valuers. The
leasehold land and buildings were revalued at open market value,
based on their existing use. Since the year ended 31 March
1994, no further revaluations of the Group’s leasehold land and
buildings have been carried out, as the Group has relied upon the
exemption granted under the transitional provisions in paragraph
80A of HKAS 16 from the requirement to carry out future
revaluations of its property, plant and equipment which were
stated at valuation at that time.

At 31 March 2013, certain buildings of a non-wholly-owned
subsidiary with a net carrying amount of approximately
HK$3,498,000 (2012: HK$3,875,000) were pledged to secure
general banking facilities granted to that non-wholly-owned

subsidiary (note 29).

AHE A AL W Z T > TR — UL =R
G H T H H L A AR A Rl R % 2 Bl
HRATA PR 2 A AE A o AL i oA TS
HBAT & 2 A BT 5 e A th Gl - AR
—HIINHE=ZA =+ — B IR - iIRASL
VA4 2 A 9 0 U SR 1 698 80A B 2 8 I Rk
Fo R A H AR S~ WP B R A AT R TR
i > 0N 90 S A 4 P 2 LA o M AT O
— A

W —=#=H=1+—H > —HEL2EHE
FE JB3 2 ] 2 A 4 3 v R T 443,498,000 %
JG (ZF— 4 £ 3,875,0009 70) & FHEH > DA
WAGZERERA W E AR Z —RRITRE R
BE (P 5E29) o

F - = F F£ H o I W EE AR AF
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Year ended 31 March 2013 &E_F—-Z4£=ZA=+—HILEE

15. INVESTMENT PROPERTY 15. ¥ Y%
Group
e |
2013 2012
e St o e- St o
HK$°000 HK$°000
T T BT T
Carrying amount at beginning of year AEW) Z MR THAE 19,669 17,223
Gain from a fair value adjustment O E T 2 2 = 1,824
Exchange realignment [FE 58,3 4 329 622
Carrying amount at end of year AR IRTHNAE 19,998 19,669
The Group’s investment property is situated in Mainland China AR AR M B A R B K B s NI % b AL
and is held under a medium term lease. KIFEAR o
The Group’s investment property was revalued on 31 March REFZREWE R -F-=ZH=ZH=1—
2013 by DTZ Debenham Tie Leung Limited, independent H b1 28 o7 B 3 & A% A 8 B R AT A R A
professionally qualified valuers, at RMB16,000,000 (equivalent FEHMNE REMENRBTHBEZ AN
to HK$19,998,000) on an open market, existing use basis. The 7 35 Bk AR AN (A R ¥916,000,00000 (% 18
investment property is leased to an associate of the Group under 19,998,000 70) ° # & 4 3 DL AR E LA E U
an operating lease, further summary details of which are included TP AR Z W08 E] o wE G PR B
in notes 36(a) and 38(a)(iv) to the financial statements. Fif 5E36(a) & 38(a)(iv) °
Further particulars of the Group’s investment property are ARG B g ) S ARG BOR AR R GE 172 -

included on page 172 of the annual report.
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Year ended 31 March 2013 E -F—-Z4£=A=+—HILEE

16. PREPAID LAND LEASE PAYMENTS 16. T AF - ALk K
Group
3|
2013 2012
e St o e- St
HK$’000 HK$’000
YT BT T
Carrying amount at beginning of year AR H) Z HR T AE 119,472 118,621
Disposal during the year N HE (1,672) =
Recognised during the year AR N TE R (3,281) (3,272)
Exchange realignment e e, i % 1,939 4,123
Carrying amount at end of year T A ¢ 22 R T 116,458 119,472
Current portion included in prepayments,  BEFETEAT 3K IH ~ 71 & K&

deposits and other receivables Al JAE Wk JE < 3 ) & 43 (3,312) (3,308)
Non-current portion I B A 43 113,146 116,164
The Group’s prepaid land lease payments above relate to AR AR 1 bl 2 B A o LR K T B B b

leasehold land which is held under medium term leases and is A P A R > WAL B KR o

situated in Mainland China.

During the year ended 31 March 2007, the Group acquired & BREZZFLE=ZA=Z1T—HILEERN » K4
TEEEBERAR AT (“GZ Panxi”), which operates restaurants o W YR N T R R R A R A A (R B
on a piece of land (the “Land”) in Liwan District, Guangzhou, B) o MR AR EE AR I (T4 E])
the People’s Republic of China (the “PRC”). At 31 March 2013, JB N 2 b — R e ([5% i ]) BB WK »
the carrying value of the Land was HK$46,682,000 (2012: R-B—=Z4H=ZA=Z1—H M RmE
HK$47,296,000). In the opinion of the directors, based on the #46,682,0008 JC (& — 4 1 47,296,000
advice from the Group’s external legal advisors, GZ Panxi JC) AR ARLEHE B EAEMNER F5
has the right to use the Land and occupy the buildings for its WA o BN PR A REAE B s e Ak AR
restaurant operations, and upon the payment of the land premium TERBEWRZH » LR A3 22 4 i
for the Land, the Group can obtain the land use right certificate B 1% » A 45 3] W S B 22 - b il R REE o

for the Land.

At 31 March 2013, certain leasehold land of a non-wholly- R-F—=ZF=H=1+—H » —HE2EHE
owned subsidiary with a net carrying amount of approximately P JB5 2 ) 25 - L - b MR T 35 MEL 40 1,474,000%
HK$1,474,000 (2012: HK$1,522,000) were pledged to secure JC (& — 4 £ 1,522,000 78) EEF I > DA
general banking facilities granted to that non-wholly-owned R % IR A B A B A W] 2 — M SR AT Rl
subsidiary (note 29). BE (B 5E29) o

ZF - ZF F H o N W &£ B AR AR



116

A r
U 4'. |

RO o ci STtk mentd

W 5 Hie i W Rk

Year ended 31 March 2013 &E_F—-Z4£=ZA=+—HILEE

17. GOODWILL 17. % &
Group
eS|
HK$’000
BT T
At 1 April 2011: W_F——HMH—H :
Cost BA 38,340
Accumulated impairment 2t wiE (1,350)
Net carrying amount IR T 1 36,990
Cost at 1 April 2011, net of accumulated W ——FWNH—HZRA
impairment Com B B g 36,990
Exchange realignment [ 50, 34 2% 1,187
At 31 March 2012 RoZF-ZH#=HA=+—H 38,177
At 31 March 2012: N ——E=H=Z+—H:
Cost A 39,527
Accumulated impairment BEH A (1,350)
Net carrying amount e THI EE 38,177
Cost at 1 April 2012, net of accumulated MR- —HZ A
impairment B B 5T A 38,177
Impairment during the year (note 7) AR IAE (BAE7) (1,942)
Exchange realignment [ 58, ) 4% 574
At 31 March 2013 HRoE-=#£=A=+—H 36,809
At 31 March 2013: HEZF-=F=ZH=+—H:
Cost A 40,101
Accumulated impairment B AR A (3,292)
Net carrying amount IR TG 1 36,809
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17. GOODWILL (continued)

Impairment testing of goodwill

The carrying amount of goodwill allocated to the cash-generating
units is as follows:

Trading business GZ Panxi operation
YRS MR
2013 00 2013 2012
ot ST Mt St At ST At S
HES000  HKS'000 — HKS'000  HKS'000
#WFL  EWTC WL ENTE
Carrying amount of goodwill & Z KT fE 17,806 17513 12,795 12,384

IS T

Notes to Financial Statements

S 5 i W Rk

Year ended 31 March 2013 E -F—-Z4£=A=+—HILEE

17. v 2 ()
2 0

43 S % B 4 A A B AL 2 1B R T AR A
T

Poultry business Others Total

ES £ K it
2013 2012 2013 2012 2013 2012
It St et St S St St Sl S St S
HK$'000  HKS'000 ~ HK$°000  HKS$'000 ~ HK$'000  HKS$'000
#WFE NI #¥TL ENTL BWTE #WTo
401 4157 1981 3923 36,809 8,177

GZ Panxi operation and trading business cash-generating units

During the year, the recoverable amount of the GZ Panxi operation
cash-generating unit and trading business cash-generating unit
have been determined based on a value in use calculation using
cash flow projections based on financial budgets covering a ten-
year period approved by senior management. The discount rate
applied to the cash flow projections is 7%.

Assumptions were used in the value in use calculation of the GZ
Panxi operation cash-generating unit and trading business cash-
generating unit for the years ended 31 March 2013 and 2012. The
following describes each key assumption on which management
has based its cash flow projections to undertake impairment

testing of goodwill:

Budgeted gross margins — The basis used to determine the value
assigned to the budgeted gross margins is the average gross
margins achieved in the year immediately before the budget year,
increased for expected efficiency improvements.

Discount rates — The discount rates used are before tax and

reflect specific risks relating to the relevant units.

Purchase price inflation — The basis used to determine the value
assigned to inventory price inflation is the forecast price indices

during the budget year from where inventories are sourced.

The values assigned to the key assumptions on expected
efficiency improvements, discount rates and purchase price

inflation are consistent with external information sources.

T T 5 S 5 TR B Sy o 5 B < 2 A

R ENERER SRR KE SR
B 4 A AL 2 AT W [l Sk T S R A R i
FT o o AR 4 B AR B T L v R 4R
Z B W0 T S P B 4 A T HH A o B4 T
Bt Z B B2 7% o

MR E—F 2R _F-_HF=A
S HOIk AR N 5 SR B A A HLAL
Be 2 5 785 B G e L 2 3 B0 L ER AR R
B o DL $if e 47 L g A ) B < 30 T B0 R 4R A
Z A5 BB LB AT 7 5 A B

BB F — R E B BN R E 5
e R A B R Z P B AR
Sl 8 DA T 2R 4 T i 3

HEB A — PR Z BB T BRBUAT > HLR e B
T B B A B < A ) R

TR L3R — A7 B (R b Bk 2 P e o )G 3%
TH AR N A7 B R R M 2 TE AR R AR

ETH I R a5 SO - B BLR R Rk &
SR B Z (6 B4 0 S R AR IR A A — B -

ZF - 2= F £ H o I W AEHE AR

5 W
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Year ended 31 March 2013 &E_F—-Z4£=ZA=+—HILEE
17. GOODWILL (continued)

Impairment testing of goodwill (continued)
Poultry business cash-generating unit

The recoverable amount of the poultry business cash-generating
unit was based on fair value less costs to sell. Certain assets
of the poultry business cash-generating unit were valued on 31
March 2013 by DTZ Debenham Tie Leung Limited, independent
professionally qualified valuers, on an opening market, existing

use basis.

During the year, the Group recognised impairment of goodwill
of HK$1,942,000 (2012: Nil) for certain cash-generating units
classified as “Others” in the above because of the deteriorating
operating results in these cash-generating units and their carrying

amounts exceed their recoverable amounts.

18. NON-CURRENT LIVESTOCK

17. ¥ % ()
0 3 (80)

BBy T B s 7 2 WA

KB 5 Bl 4 e 2 WAL 2 T W [l R R T AR R
A U B 5 BRAR R o R S B A A A LA
ZETHEEOCR -F-=Z#=ZA=1+—HHH
S RS M Al RTE SR AT A B ) AR R B
AR 38 ¥ 2 B T 35 R R AT A A -

N AREEE LAy ] 235 T8
4 A WL AN T R T R DAL 1,942,000 T (=&
— AR ) > Ty AR YA B
SE A 5 T A A 22 TR T 8 208 G T R TR SR o

18. EE W& &

Group
ey
2013 2012
e S o —E T
HK$’000 HK$°000
T T BT T
Livestock: BE:
At fair value ANT1E - 113
At cost less accumulated amortisation B U B 8
and impairment losses VRN, Ei5 - 6
- 119
Physical quantity of peafowls: fLEHH :
Number of day-old peafowls BELEMHE 403 783
Number of breeder peafowls BREFLEMH 3,539 5,649
3,942 6,432
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18. NON-CURRENT LIVESTOCK (continued)

The Group’s non-current livestock comprises breeder and day-old
peafowls owned by a subsidiary. The day-old peafowls are raised
for sale and are valued at fair value less estimated point-of-sale
costs and any impairment losses. The breeder peafowls are held
to produce further day-old peafowls. Breeder peafowls are stated
at cost less accumulated amortisation and any impairment losses

as no active or ready markets exist for these breeder peafowls and

their fair values cannot be measured reliably.

The movements in non-current livestock at fair value are as

follows:

\.
\ﬁ \

LY
)

I R
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Year ended 31 March 2013 E -F—-Z4£=A=+—HILEE

AR AN -

18. Ew W & & ()

AL ZIEE WA E BGE R RALE > i
B — [ B 2 W) B A o R AL AR B IR
Be VL2 VB 9% TH G B BRF 2 B AR B S AT AT 3k
fERER AR o 7 LA J R A 2 R fL#E %)
5 o DY T L Sl 2 A A O i 55 R i T
SRR LA > MR LA R R T

FEHBEAFHEZEBHNT ¢

Group
£H
HK$°000
BT
Balance at 1 April 2011, at fair value W' ——FMH—HZ 4% A TPE 379
Increase/(decrease) in fair value less estimated AEAE BN, (A ) U T8 51 B I AR
point-of-sale costs attributable to: St g R
— physical change — Y H & m 15
— price change — fE ks 5 B 2
Decrease due to harvest SR AN (296)
Exchange realignment P 58, 3 4 17
Balance at 31 March 2012 and 1 April 2012, W -ZHEEZAZT AR
at fair value WH—HZ4% > %A TPHE 113
Increase/(decrease) in fair value less estimated AFER I, (A ) W TE R N AR
point-of-sale costs attributable to: 5B R
— physical change — B HZE 3
— price change — R A% 5 B (D
Decrease due to harvest IR WA )k i U A (54)
Impairment during the year (note 7) N YRAE (K EE7) (66)
Balance at 31 March 2013, R_F-=ZF=ZA=Z1T—HZHR
at fair value AR E -

RS FE e

Mo oK Em oA R A
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Year ended 31 March 2013 &E_F—-Z4£=ZA=+—HILEE
18. NON-CURRENT LIVESTOCK (continued)

Particulars of the gross carrying amount and the accumulated
amortisation of breeder peafowls, which are stated at cost less

18. e M & & (A1)

VIR A o 2R it 4 9 e A Ao ok L s 4R 31 M 2 5
FLAE Z T A8 Je R et B EE G T

accumulated amortisation and any impairment losses, are as

follows:
Group
£ 3|
HK$°000
BT T

31 March 2013 R -Z4ZA=+—H
At 1 April 2012: W -THENA—H

Cost B AR 2,854

Accumulated amortisation and impairment losses BAT 4k £ e 9 AE A 18 (2,848)

Net carrying amount R T Y 6
At 1 April 2012, net of accumulated P_F-ZHMHA—H -

amortisation and impairment losses L 10 B 3R B B a1 e 4R 6
Decrease due to harvest SR AT 4)
Amortisation provided during the year RN T (2)
At 31 March 2013, net of accumulated W_F—-=4£=H=+—H>

amortisation and impairment losses 0 Bk 2R 4 % T s 4R =
At 31 March 2013: RoF-=#=HA=+—H:

Cost B AR 2,854

Accumulated amortisation and impairment losses BEH 4 £ e 9 AE A 18 (2,854)

Net carrying amount JITRE A -
31 March 2012 —F-ZH=EA=Z4—H
At 1 April 2011: W' ——HMYH—H :

Cost JRA 3,863

Accumulated amortisation and impairment losses FAT R 8 T R AE S 1B (3,817)

Net carrying amount IR T v 46
At 1 April 2011, net of accumulated amortisation R ——44MH—H >

and impairment losses L 10 B B 8 % I e 4R 46
Decrease due to harvest SR AN (25)
Amortisation provided during the year BN R Z R (15)
At 31 March 2012, net of accumulated R_F—-ZFE=ZH=+—H>

amortisation and impairment losses C 1 B B T o % s e 4R 6
At 31 March 2012: WoF-ZHE=HA=1+—H:

Cost B AR 2,854

Accumulated amortisation and impairment losses ZET R 8 T 9 AE S 18 (2,8438)

Net carrying amount R T Y 6
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Year ended 31 March 2013 RE_F—Z4£ZA=+—HIL4EE

19. WY I 2 vi] 2 8L %

Company
A
2013 2012
R =4 R
HKS$’000 HK$’000
T o o
Unlisted shares, at cost I B A > B E 93,108 93,108

The amounts due from/to subsidiaries included in the Company’s

current assets and current liabilities respectively are unsecured,

interest-free and repayable on demand.

Particulars of the principal subsidiaries are as follows:

53 BUTA 2 W B K ) £ R
ASF B o 2 ) sk S S SR - SRS > HLZEARIE A

K o

A28 T 2 45 I 26 RN T

Place of Nominal value of Percentage of equity
incorporation/ issued ordinary/ attributable to
registration registered and fully the Company
Name and operations paid-up capital Direct Indirect Principal activities
C#f 72 o) HE AV 2
R DV Rk HAKR
H il kKRB e B R JBe A i L H# IR % FERH
Cowboy Food Company Hong Kong HK$6,000,000 - 85.0 Manufacturing of
Limited i 6,000,000% G peanut products
FFRMARAT T4 A i
Crowne Profits Limited* British Virgin US$1 - 100.0 Investment holding
Islands B BE R
I JB I 4 B s
E-Options Technology Limited* British Virgin Us$1 - 100.0 Property holding
Islands EH VE LY
5 JB g 4 B
Eat & International (H.K.) Hong Kong HK$7,000,000 - 51.0 Restaurant operations
Co., Limited* i (2012: HK$700,000) RERE
KIREHA WA T 7,000,0003 7G
(Cg—k
700,000% 7¢)
Ever Media Limited Hong Kong HK$10,000 - 100.0 Investment holding
i 10,000% 7 B
Fancy Talent Limited* Hong Kong HK$100,000,000 - 100.0 Marketing of
FRWTA WA A il 100,000,000 7& snack foods
N2
R

RS FE e

Mo oK Em oA R A
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19. INVESTMENTS IN SUBSIDIARIES
(continued)

19. 7/ B ) 2 vil 2 B ¥ (A1)

AN F Z EEEME AR T ()

Particulars of the principal subsidiaries are as follows: (continued)

Place of Nominal value of Percentage of equity
incorporation/ issued ordinary/ attributable to
registration registered and fully the Company
Name and operations paid-up capital Direct Indirect Principal activities
B4 ¢h) 7 i) M A 2
i3V Ave VR ik
k0 Xl K8 B 80 R B A i Hik Ihl 4% TEEH
Four Seas Enterprises British Virgin US$20,000 100.0 - Investment holding
(BVI) Limited* Islands 20,0003 78 BEER
REELRE
Four Seas Investment Hong Kong HK$10,000 100.0 - Investment holding
Holdings Limited B 10,0009 7t BB R
O B 5 M A A
Four Seas China British Virgin US$1,000,000 - 100.0 Investment holding
Holdings Limited* Islands 1,000,0003% 76 BB
VY e 4 A R EBELTE
Four Seas Mercantile Limited Hong Kong (i) Ordinary HK$200 - 100.0 Trading in snack
DU A WA B (i) Non-voting deferred foods, confectionery
HK$20,000,000 and beverages
(i) %% 4 2009 7 MR R
(i) A6 48 55 Rz 85
BSR4
20,000,000% G
Four Seas Property Hong Kong HK$50,000,000 - 100.0 Investment holding
Holdings Limited B 50,000,000% 7t BB R
VG 3 A R
Four Seas Confectionery PRC/ HK$23,320,000 - 100.0 Manufacturing
(Shantou) Company Mainland China (2012: HK$14,320,000) of cakes
Limited* A g K B 23,320,000%7¢ BREIE
I BT R R ]+ A (ZF—24:
14,320,000% 7t
Four Seas (Suzhou) PRC/ US$16,500,000 - 100.0 Manufacturing
Food Co., Ltd. *» Mainland China (2012: US$11,000,000) of beverages
VO (AN ) £ b A R i A g/ K B 16,500,0003% 7E Bk i
(224
11,000,000 7¢)
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19. INVESTMENTS IN SUBSIDIARIES 19. A BB A 6] 2 $% (48)

(continued)
AAFAZEEMBARFEEWT « (4)

Particulars of the principal subsidiaries are as follows: (continued)

Place of Nominal value of Percentage of equity
incorporation/ issued ordinary/ attributable to
registration registered and fully the Company
Name and operations paid-up capital Direct Indirect Principal activities
C#fT A ) MEAN B 2
ik BBk HAW
H il kKB e B R Bt A T H# [GEES TR
Four Seas (Shantou) Foods PRC/ HK$30,500,000 - 100.0 Property holding
Industrial Park Management Mainland China 30,500,000% JC LIEZGd)d
Co., Ltd.* A i VL PN
VO (R B) % i T3
BB A A
Four Seas (Yang Shan) PRC/ HK$20,000,000 - 100.0 Property holding
Development Company Mainland China 20,000,000 7t LIESEY
Limited* A i VL PN
PO (W3 L) B8 i A R ) A
Four Seas Foods PRC/ HK$96,000,000 - 100.0 Trading in
(Shantou) Co., Ltd.* A Mainland China 96,000,0003 G confectionery
T i Il B ) A7 R 2 ) A VA PN and food
products
BER KA
ZH%
Four Seas (Hebei) PRC/ HK$24,000,000 - 100.0 Processing
Food Company Limited * * Mainland China 24,000,000% G of chestnuts
VY Gt ) fe A B A W] A Gl VRl PN EfmI
Four Seas Logistics Hong Kong HK$200,000 - 100.0 Provision of
Company Limited B 200,000% 7G transportation services
VG 5 R T W R
Four Seas Catering Hong Kong HK$10,000 - 100.0 Investment holding
Enterprises Company B 10,0009 72 BE R
Limited
POk A E A RRA

F - = F F£ H o I W EE AR AF
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19. INVESTMENTS IN SUBSIDIARIES
(continued)

19. 7/ B ) 2 vil 2 B ¥ (A1)

AN F Z EEEME AR T ()

Particulars of the principal subsidiaries are as follows: (continued)

Place of Nominal value of Percentage of equity

incorporation/ issued ordinary/ attributable to

registration registered and fully the Company
Name and operations paid-up capital Direct Indirect Principal activities

C#fT A ) HEAN B 2

ik W Wk HAW
H il kBN e B R Bt A T L H# [EES TR
Four Seas Confectionery PRC/ HK$7,000,000 - 80.0 Manufacturing
(Shenzhen) Co., Ltd.* A Mainland China 7,000,0003 JC of snack foods
O R (TR A R ] A v, of K B NEBE
Four Seas (Qingyuan) Tourism PRC/ HK$20,000,000 - 100.0 Property holding
Development Company Mainland China 20,000,000% 7C and restaurant
Limited* * R K operations
VI (7% 22 ) ik i 5% e WA R
HRRA T« A BRBRE
Guang Dong Fourseas PRC/ RMB20,300,000 - 100.0 Trading in
Frozen Food Products Mainland China (2012: RMB10,300,000) frozen food
Co., Ltd.* A L A PN A\ B #20,300,00078 products and
JEE T A A (ZF—Z4: snack foods
PR ] A AR 10,300,0007) &R K&
MEZHE S
Guangzhou Four Seas Catering PRC/ HK$2,500,000 - 100.0 Restaurant
Co., Ltd.* * Mainland China 2,500,000% 7t (2012: Nil) operations
AR 7 7 K £ A A D o K B CE-ZE RELE
Guangzhou Sushi Oh Catering PRC/ HK$6,000,000 - 2R Restaurant
Co., Ltd.* # Mainland China 6,000,000% 7¢ (2012: Nil) operations
TN 35 R AR A R« A o K B CE-2E RELE
Hong Kong Confectionery Hong Kong HK$7,000,000 - 100.0 Investment holding
Company Limited B 7,000,000% 7C BE R

BWHRARA

Hong Kong Ham Holdings Hong Kong HK$20 - 100.0 Manufacturing
Limited B 20¥ 7T and packaging
B BRI A of ham and
ham-related
products
R A%
RBERA B
KB
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19. INVESTMENTS IN SUBSIDIARIES 19. AW B A "l 2 8% (4)

(continued)

Particulars of the principal subsidiaries are as follows: (continued)

A F) Z T EM A R FERE R ¢ ()

Place of Nominal value of Percentage of equity
incorporation/ issued ordinary/ attributable to
registration registered and fully the Company
Name and operations paid-up capital Direct Indirect Principal activities
C#fT A ) MEAN B 2
ik Wk HAW
H il kKB e B R Bt A T H# [GEES TR
Hong Kong Biscuit Hong Kong HK$40,000,000 - 99.3 Investment holding
(International) Limited* il 40,000,000 7 R e
s B e (18 Be) #7 R 7]«
Homeright Properties British Virgin US$1 - 100.0 Holding of
Limited* Islands 17 trademarks
KA R 5 JB A B Fr A
IFSCO Hong Kong Limited Hong Kong HK$57,200,000 100.0 - Investment holding
ik 57.200,000% 7 BE B
J.P. Inglis Company Limited Hong Kong HK$1,000,000 - 100.0 Trading in
KR LA HRAR i 1,000,000% ¢ food materials
BB S
KTC Corporation* Japan JPY10,000,000 - 100.0 Trading in cakes
JoG 5 5 7 o A o Ak HA 10,000,000 H [l ERE A
Kanro Four Seas Foods Hong Kong HK$50,550,000 - 82.5 Investment holding
Company Limited B 50,550,000% G RE R
MM & A RAT
Kanro Four Seas Foods PRC/ HK$50,203,380 - 82.5 Manufacturing
(Shantou) Co., Ltd.* * Mainland China 50,203,380 7C of candies
UM i (s o K B BRI
HRA T« A
Kung Tak Lam Shanghai Hong Kong HK$3,660,000 - 99.0 Restaurant operations
Vegetarian Cuisine PRl 3,660,00036 G RERE
Limited
THER LR EHRAR
Li Fook (Qingdao) PRC/ US$3,970,000 - 100.0 Manufacturing of noodles
Foods Co., Ltd.* A Mainland China (2012: US$3,320,000) LR35
PR (5 B & i VRl PN 3,970,000 7¢
HREA T« A (ZF—24:
3,320,000 7C)

F - = F F£ H o I W EE AR AF
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19. INVESTMENTS IN SUBSIDIARIES 19. i BB A vl 2 B (4)

(continued)

Particulars of the principal subsidiaries are as follows: (continued)

AN F Z EEEME AR T ()

Place of Nominal value of Percentage of equity
incorporation/ issued ordinary/ attributable to
registration registered and fully the Company
Name and operations paid-up capital Direct Indirect Principal activities
C#fT A ) HEAN B 2
ik W Wk HAW
H il kBN e B R Bt A T L H# [EES TR
Luck Healthy Limited Hong Kong HKS$1 = 100.0 Property holding
i 1t B ST
Matchless Bakery Company British Virgin HK$20,000,000 - 100.0 Investment holding
Limited* Islands 20,000,000% ¢ /880l
5 A S 75 B R )+ b il
More Ways Industrial Limited Hong Kong HK$10,000 - 66.7 Investment holding
SREFARAF it 10,0003 7t B
Men Taishou Co., Ltd. Hong Kong HK$1 - 100.0 Restaurant operations
TR TR AE R 1t BBRE
Namtien Noodle Limited* Hong Kong HK$1,000 - 51.0 Manufacturing
R A R W]+ RS 1,000% 70 of noodles
iR E
New Kondo Trading Hong Kong HK$1,000,000 - 100.0 Trading in
Company Limited B 1,000,000% 7T Japanese food
ETEE S H WA T materials
HACR fl
SRR 5
Nico Four Seas (Shantou) PRC/ HK$28,000,000 - 51.0 Manufacturing
Co., Ltd.* » Mainland China 28,000,000 7C of seaweed products
R T IY Gil ) A RA ]« o K B ER A IE
Nico-Nico Four Seas Hong Kong HK$28,000,000 - 51.0 Investment holding
Co., Ltd. il 28,000,000 7t /8800
O 178 A A R
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19. INVESTMENTS IN SUBSIDIARIES 19. AW E A vl 2 $e % (%)

(continued)
ARAFRZEEME AR FEWT « (8)

Particulars of the principal subsidiaries are as follows: (continued)

Place of Nominal value of Percentage of equity
incorporation/ issued ordinary/ attributable to
registration registered and fully the Company
Name and operations paid-up capital Direct Indirect Principal activities
C#fT A ) MEAN B 2
03 D BBk iFi1:4
H il kKB e 88 R JBe A i H# [GEES TR
Okashi Land (Macau) Macau MOP500,000 - 100.0 Retailer of
Company Limited* B 500,0003 9 & snack foods
B (M) AR A ME2ZEE
Papochou Holdings Limited* British Virgin HK$15,000,000 - 100.0 Investment holding
AHWEEARAR: Islands 15,000,000 7 B
5 JB A B B
Restaurant Shiki Limited Hong Kong HK$3,200,000 - 100.0 Restaurant operations
i 3,200,000% 7 RELR
Shenzhen Matchless Food PRC/ HK$12,300,000 - 100.0 Bakery and factory
Co., Ltd.* » Mainland China 12,300,000% 7t operations
HINFEA DR g/ Bk B T B G 0 T
R A TRz &
Sushi Pro Limited Hong Kong HK$9,000,000 - 100.0 Investment holding
A RARAT i 9,000,000% 7t B
Shousihuang Restaurant PRC/ HK$7,300,000 - 100.0 Restaurant operations
(Shenzhen) Mainland China 7,300,000% 7 BRELE
Company Limited* A R K
A 2RE D
HRA T« A
Tohato Four Seas Hong Kong HK$7,000,000 - 80.0 Investment holding
Company Limited B 7,000,000% 7C BE R
SR WA AR
Tsun Fat (Huizhou) PRC/ HK$13,000,000 - 99.3 Manufacturing
Biscuit Factory Limited* * Mainland China 13,000,0003% 7C of biscuits
R N B I I K B B

AR

Z= F F H o MW £ B AR A A
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19. INVESTMENTS IN SUBSIDIARIES 19. i BB A vl 2 B (4)

(continued)

Particulars of the principal subsidiaries are as follows: (continued)

AR T Z EEEHE AR T ()

Place of Nominal value of Percentage of equity
incorporation/ issued ordinary/ attributable to
registration registered and fully the Company
Name and operations paid-up capital Direct Indirect Principal activities
C#fT A ) HEAN B 2
03 D H Rk [iFi1:4
H il kBN e 88 R JBe A i H# [EES TR
T & M Advertising Hong Kong HK$20 - 100.0 Advertising agency
Company Limited PRl 20¥ 70 & 4
MRE A A RA
L TR B S IR A PRC/ RMB300,000 = 100.0 Trading in
Mainland China A\ B#500,00078 confectionery
VAl PN and food products
BER R
BMZE 5%
VY ) PR ] A PRC/ HK$10,000,000 = 100.0 Manufacturing
Mainland China 10,000,000% 7C of snack foods
B/ R K B MR
56 DU I 1A A R ) PRC/ HK$37,000,000 = 100.0 Manufacturing
Mainland China 37,000,000% G and packaging
K of ham and
ham-related
products
RERa%
KB B AT B
KB E
BHLE % A A ] A PRC/ HK$8,000,000 = 66.7 Poultry business
Mainland China 8,000,0003 7t REEH
o K B
B T B T KA R ]+ An PRC/ RMB73,959,210 - 99.0 Restaurant operations
Mainland China AR #73,959,2107¢ RERE
L VPN
BN 7 35 7 A AL R A R A PRC/ RMB6,500,000 = 100.0 Raising and sale
Mainland China A R#6,500,0007C of peafowls
I Bk B i RS &
LR
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19. INVESTMENTS IN SUBSIDIARIES 19. AW B A vl 2 86 % (%)

(continued)
AAFZ EEMEA RN - (8)

Particulars of the principal subsidiaries are as follows: (continued)

Place of Nominal value of Percentage of equity
incorporation/ issued ordinary/ attributable to
registration registered and fully the Company
Name and operations paid-up capital Direct Indirect Principal activities
B4 ¢h) A ) MEAN B 2
03 D BBk iFi1:4
H Xl KB e 88 R JBe A i H# Ihl 4% TEEH
B 5 (I AR A A PRC/ HK$5,600,000 = 100.0 Trading in
Mainland China (2012: HK$3,200,000) food materials
i Vi PN 5,600,000% ¢ KR Z B 5
(ZR—4
3,200,000% 7¢)
BEM KB 5 A A PRC/ RMB1,000,000 = 65.0 Trading in
Mainland China A B#1,000,0007¢ snack foods
g/ R K B MEZH S

Hk

AN

Not audited by Ernst & Young, Hong Kong or another member firm
of the Ernst & Young global network

Guangzhou Sushi Oh Catering Co., Ltd. is a subsidiary of a non-
wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company and, accordingly, is
accounted for as a subsidiary by virtue of the Company’s control

over it.

These subsidiaries are registered as wholly-foreign-owned

enterprises under PRC law.

This subsidiary is registered as a Sino-foreign co-operative joint

venture under PRC law.

Pursuant to the stock purchase agreement entered into by the Group
and BN T 2% ¥ N RBOM B A7 & &2 BB HLR  (the “Vendor™)
for the acquisition of GZ Panxi, the Vendor retains 1% shareholding
in GZ Panxi and is not entitled to any share of the profit or loss
in GZ Panxi nor has the right to participate in the operation or
management of GZ Panxi but has the veto right in the following:

- the alteration of the tax registration of GZ Panxi in Liwan
District, Guangzhou, the PRC;

- the alteration of the use of the building occupied by GZ Panxi
other than the Cantonese style restaurant operation; and

- the use of the trademark of GZ Panxi.

ok

AN

— = F & W e

3 i o A W2 K w2 B T B K A BR A AR
Fo bl 5 2 R %

B HFA LK EHRAF BAAF —~RIERE
o Jeg 2 W) 2 B A R o BRI AR A R B 2
P2 1 R A ) A0 L D A D o

% 245 A A ) % 4% R A s 4 S A R
egioe

% A S 2 W) T 4% v B R A e A AR AR

R A 45 o) B T A N N RO A
S A BR (5 7 1) B B 2 T 5 2 i
JB tih vk BT R B 1 % 2 S M P R SR > 4B
TR 53 =52 B M P 2 AT oy v ) sl 1R > O JEAE 2
B PR AR B B S M T R AR
B YA

— SN PR o B 179 B
il s

— BN PEER AN A 2 R K
REBUSNZ HE ;s K

- MR -

5 W

Mo % om oA W
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19. INVESTMENTS IN SUBSIDIARIES

20

(continued)

During the year, the Group acquired the remaining 40%
equity interest of a non-wholly-owned subsidiary for a cash
consideration of HK$123,000, and the economic benefit
attributable to the former non-controlling shareholder on the
disposal of property, plant and equipment of that non-wholly-

owned subsidiary.

The above table lists the subsidiaries of the Company which, in
the opinion of the directors, principally affected the results for
the year or formed a substantial portion of the net assets of the
Group. To give details of other subsidiaries would, in the opinion

of the directors, result in particulars of excessive length.

19.

W R JE A ) 2 B ()

R AREEKE—HIER KBRS A F 8
T Z40%0E % > AAE % Bl 4:123,00045 00 > DA K
B0 o A T S e R P R B B R A A
AT WY ~ 5 B s i R 25 o

AR DA R TR T A AR R 2 SR AR
K5 B A 4 T 2 TR o R 2 R
AT > HAGE W EES AR T R R 2 W e A
WA I -

INVESTMENTS IN ASSOCIATES 20. RIBB AR 2B E
Group
M

2013 2012
TR AR S~
HKS$’000 HK$’000
YT BT T
Goodwill on acquisition PR W i e A 2 T 477 477
Share of net assets JE A 2 158,221 150,812
158,698 151,289

The amounts due from the associates included in the Group’s
current assets are unsecured, interest-free and repayable on

demand.

The Group’s trade receivable and payable balances with the
associates are disclosed in notes 24 and 28 to the financial

statements, respectively.

FOUR SEAS MERCANTILE HOLDINGS LIMITED ¢ ANNUAL REPORT 2013
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20. INVESTMENTS IN ASSOCIATES 20. AW A v 2 B ()
(continued)
Particulars of the associates are as follows: A = = [
Place of Percentage of
Particulars of incorporation/ equity attributable Principal
Name issued shares held registration to the Group activities
FACHT il W 3 7 45 180 M A
£ JBe B ¥ N % c o L E-¥ipid A ER S 37
Calbee Four Seas Ordinary shares Hong Kong 50.0 Manufacturing
Company Limited of HK$1 each R of snack foods
REEBIY A A T o JB T L 19 70 NERE
Z ¥
Calbee Four Seas (Shantou) Paid-up capital PRC/ 50.0 Manufacturing
Company Limited @ 40 e e A Mainland China of snack foods
REBIYH () 7 FRAF O Sl T PN NERE
Guangzhou Meiji Confectionery Paid-up capital PRC/ 30.0 Manufacturing
Company Limited © B B AR Mainland China of snack foods
JBE N B v SR A R 4y W] 060 LA PN and confectionery
UNYE P ¥
Guangdong M&F-Yantang Paid-up capital PRC/ 21.0 Manufacturing
Dairy Products Company SR B AR Mainland China of ice-cream and
Limited @ PN dairy products
Jig S Y B e o FLSE A BR A RO £ Y ek
JE il B0
Meiji-Four Seas Ordinary shares Hong Kong 30.0 Investment holding
Company Limited @ of HK$1 each o ES-EY)a
W96 Y AR A w6 i JB T A1 98 0
Z 0 i
MFD Holding Company Ordinary shares Hong Kong 30.0 Investment holding
Limited @ of HK$1 each Y ES-ECY
VU FL AT R A O B JB TH A 1 9 0
Z W B
Want Want Four Seas Ordinary shares Hong Kong 30.0 Trading in
Company Limited @ of HK$1 each R snack foods
TEE D 9 A IR 2 ] o B Ji THI fE 1 9 0 MR G
Z ¥ i %
Lotte Four Seas Ordinary shares Hong Kong 30.0 Investment holding
Limited ©® of US$1 each i BB B
28X 1WA FR 2w 0w B Ji T 158 70
Z 0 i B
Thai Okashi Land Ordinary shares Thailand 14.70  Investment holding
Holdings Ltd. ® of THB10,000 each e ERS< gy
5 JB T B 10,0007 8k
Z 0 i B
Thai Okashi Land Ltd. ®@® Ordinary shares Thailand 22,24 Retailer of
of THB10,000 each x5 snack foods
5 JB T {110,000 8k MEZFE
Z W R
Z® - Z O Ko W OW K EARASA
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20. INVESTMENTS IN ASSOCIATES

(continued)

Notes:

(i)  Not audited by Ernst & Young, Hong Kong or another member firm
of the Ernst & Young global network.

(i) The financial years of these associates are not coterminous with
that of the Group and have financial year ending 31 December.
These associates use 31 December as their financial year end date
to conform with their holding companies’ reporting date or statutory

requirements.

(iii) Thai Okashi Land Holdings Ltd. and Thai Okashi Land Ltd. are
subsidiaries of Lotte Four Seas Limited and, accordingly, are
accounted for as associates by virtue of the Group’s significant
influence through the Group’s shareholding in Lotte Four Seas
Limited.

The financial years of above associates are coterminous with
that of the Group, except for associates as mentioned in note
(ii) above, for which the consolidated financial statements are
adjusted for the material transactions between their financial year

end date and the Group’s year end date.

During the year ended 31 March 2012, the Group disposed of its
30% of equity interest in Cadbury Four Seas Company Limited,
at a cash consideration of HK$1. Cadbury Four Seas Company
Limited was engaged in the trading in confectionery.

The following table illustrates the summarised financial

20. RIBE A 2 B E (B

Wik

()

(i)

(iii)

3 e Hh A 4 K B D B T ek A BRAE A
HoA il 2 R AL o

% S TG ) R B BOAE E A O I SRR AR R
Mo HMBEEARA R+ ZA=1T—H-&
FEUT A=A B R B A H 2 BB
B B P A W 2 2 F O R
o

Thai Okashi Land Holdings Ltd.&Thai Okashi
Land Ltd.}J ZLotte Four Seas LimitedZ Fff &
2 ) s % I AR 4 B R Lotte Four Seas

Limited Z A BT BE AT 2 K 5% 38 03 i 97 44 Tk 8

AT

S Mg ) 2 B A B SR 5 T B B4 R

ﬁ_.

T > M SRR R G JE BT A 2 BB A ] B

Bb o fk B S R AN S T A 4 I B B4
KA H Z T Z K A2 oy A 8 o

REREZZF-CHEEZA=ZT—HILEE > K4
P B R Y O A PR R 2 30% M B > B
SAVE R 10T A A PR A
RS

T 2 e A 4 T 0 A W 2 B R - TG

information of the Group’s associates extracted from their WiskB S EHERH -
management accounts:

2013 2012
—R—-E4E SRR
HK$°000 HKS$°000
BT o
Assets j=¢73 509,694 466,017
Liabilities =R 83,626 70,612
Revenue LN 518,490 460,913
Profit it F1) 33,398 28,210
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21. Wk i A B ¥

—:_._

21. AVAILABLE-FOR-SALE

INVESTMENTS
Group Company
ey | Al
2013 2012 2013 2012
R AR R R -CE RO
HK$°000 HK$’000 HK$°000 HK$’000
BT 3 BT T BT T
Listed equity investments s LSRR Y
in Hong Kong, at fair value A TAE 74,473 90,148 148 152
Club debenture, at fair value IE SR - AT 327 327 - -
Unlisted equity investments, R ERRE -
at cost HRA 2,733 2,733 - -
77,533 93,208 148 152

During the year, the net gain in respect of the Group’s available-
for-sale investments recognised in other comprehensive income
amounted to HK$13,994,000 (2012: net loss of HK$25,039,000),
of which a gain of HK$8,655,000 (2012: HK$5,109,000) was
reclassified from other comprehensive income to the income

statement for the year.

The above investments consist of investments in equity securities
which were designated as available-for-sale financial assets and

have no fixed maturity date or coupon rate.

There was a significant decline in the market value of certain
listed equity investments during the year. The directors consider
that such a decline indicates that the listed equity investments
have been impaired and an impairment loss of HK$13,627,000
(2012: HK$11,051,000), which included a reclassification
from other comprehensive income of HKS$13,627,000 (2012:

AR > AR S R At 2 v A T R 2 T G B
PG FIEE 513,994,000 70 (ZF — 4 : &
J# 1625,039,0009 78) > 1 5 #18,655,000% 7L Z
Wezk (ZF— 4 £ 5,109,00040) B AS4E E
I A M A TR S EEREE -

Pl E A E RSS2 G > R R
it B e A > FLAE 2 B0 H SR 18R o

ER-FT RN ESEEZWHEERT -

HERL AR TEE R LR R E
JAE > T IRAE M 1 713,627,000 00 (—F —
A2 11,051,000 J6) » 5 L HE il 2 T I
25 2 BT 4 $H13,627,0008 06 (T — 4F ¢
11,051,000% 70 ) » M T A 48 B 78 0 25 26 9

HK$11,051,000), has been recognised in the income statement Ao
for the year.
As at 31 March 2013, certain unlisted equity investments with a N _FE—-=Z=F=HAH=1+—H > BHES

carrying amount of HK$2,733,000 (2012: HK$2,733,000) were
stated at cost less impairment because the range of reasonable
fair value estimates is so significant that the directors are of the
opinion that their fair value cannot be measured reliably. The

Group does not intend to dispose of them in the near future.

2,733,000% 70 (=8 — T4F 1 2,733,000%70) Z
5T I bR A 3 T DL AR YR A B R o Bt
TR EBA PHEMFTZRERK » FFEREL
o R N U N Y K g i |
HE balig -

ZF - ZF F H o N W &£ B AR AR
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22. CURRENT LIVESTOCK 2. EHEE
Group
EL
2013 2012
e S R
HK$°000 HK$’000
W T T T T
Breeder chicks AR - 1,829
Hatchable eggs Tl R - 406
Day-old chicks HE T 179 1,412
179 3,647
Due to the generally short breeding and raising cycle of the A S 2 — B ) e B R e e R
chicks and because an active market does not exist, these MRS WL ESEEEARBEE »
livestock are classified as current assets and are stated at cost less N 32 B A VAT T VA 1 AR o S AR B BUAR
any impairment and a reconciliation of changes in the carrying VIBEZZIENEEEH 2 HERMEHRZY) -
amount of biological assets between the beginning and the end of
the current financial year is not presented.
23. INVENTORIES 23, fit%
Group
£ 3L
2013 2012
e S o R
HK$’000 HK$’000
W T T
Raw materials JEORE 54,293 53,212
Work in progress e B 10,443 10,251
Finished goods 73 J3 i 188,358 154,757
253,094 218,220
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24, JHE R B MRk

Group
3L |

2013 2012

R AR e St ot

HK$’000 HK$’000

T T BT T

Trade receivables JFE W B 5 WAk 509,407 532,174
Impairment AR (6,454) (6,196)

502,953 525,978

The Group’s trading terms with its customers are mainly on
credit, except for new customers, where payment in advance is
normally required. The credit period is generally for a period
of one to three months, extending up to four to five months for
major customers. Each customer has a maximum credit limit.
The Group seeks to maintain strict control over its outstanding
receivables to minimise credit risk. Overdue balances are
reviewed regularly by senior management. In view of the
aforementioned and the fact that the Group’s trade receivables
relate to a large number of diversified customers, there is no
significant concentration of credit risk. The Group does not
hold any collateral or other credit enhancements over its trade

receivables. Trade receivables are non-interest-bearing.

An aged analysis of the trade receivables as at the end of the

AREEEE P Z W AR DA BT W&
P i RS o E s — 2=
HoBMELEEPWE > TERENERMA -

W% FSHERBEER -
1] 1 AR WA M kO

ARSIy SR e
A 15 5 L i

e o A B & R AR R IE I AL R o B
T LA > DA B AR 4 1 2 M AR 5 R R LR
EZF(ALUE-ISECY BRI NA RS ONEICE L
JE B o A R L SIS A % S A B AT AT K
A RRT - BB ERTIRE -

T AR AR B AT H Y] AT B A

reporting period, based on the invoice date and net of provisions, B AR IR AT T -
is as follows:
Group
ey

2013 2012
e St o —E -
HK$’000 HK$°000
T T BT
Within 1 month i A A 192,727 212,549
1 to 2 months 12218 A 91,457 98,603
2 to 3 months 2231 A 97,863 71,614
Over 3 months 3 H YL E 120,906 143,212
502,953 525,978

RS FE e

Mo oK Em oA R A
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24. TRADE RECEIVABLES (continued)

The movements in provision for impairment of trade receivables

are as follows:

24, EWCE 5 Rk (7)

JRE W S 5 MR ik < AL A S B B DL AN

Group
e 0|

2013 2012

HK$’000 HK$’000

BT o oo

At beginning of year HAER) 6,196 3,364
Impairment losses recognised (note 7) ORI G ] (M 7) 1,035 3,680
Amount written off as uncollectible B A Ji 30 WA T 2 i 4 sk O (777) (848)
At end of year AR 6,454 6,196

Included in the above provision for impairment of trade
receivables is a provision for individually impaired trade
receivables of HK$6,454,000 (2012: HK$6,196,000) with a
gross carrying amount before provision of HK$6,454,000 (2012:
HK$6,196,000). The individually impaired trade receivables
relate to customers that were in default or delinquency in

payments and are not expected to be recovered.

The aged analysis of the trade receivables that are not considered

to be impaired is as follows:

b R M B 5 R R YA T I 8
i 45 5% A 756,454,000 70 (& — 4R
6,196,000 70 ) = 15 731 HE W B 5% B sk AF HH I A
8 146,454,000 76 (& — Z4F 1 6,196,000%
J6) o H BN E B Z R B TR AE = i E 5 IR
K By TR R B R R K IR B AN AT o

BT R Z FEW B 5 Bk Z IR e 2 AT 4 °F

Group
£ L

2013 2012
e S o - -
HK$°000 HK$’000
BT o W oo
Neither past due nor impaired 7 406 76 0 sk vl 1 485,218 505,237
Less than 1 month past due A — M A 11,554 10,375
1 to 3 months past due W — 2= H 4,740 4,404
Over 3 months past due W= H DL L 1,441 5,962
502,953 525,978

Receivables that were neither past due nor impaired relate to a
large number of diversified customers for whom there was no

recent history of default.
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25.

TRADE RECEIVABLES (continued)

Receivables that were past due but not impaired relate to a
number of customers that have a good track record with the
Group. Based on past experience, the directors of the Company
are of the opinion that no provision for impairment is necessary
in respect of these balances as there has not been a significant
change in credit quality and the balances are still considered fully

recoverable.

Included in trade receivables are amounts due from the Group’s
associates of HK$1,567,000 (2012: HK$1,600,000) and a
subsidiary of Hong Kong Food Investment Holdings Limited
(“HKFH”), a substantial shareholder of the Company, of
HK$181,000 (2012: Nil), which are repayable on similar credit
terms to those offered to the major customers of the Group.
The trade receivables due from the subsidiary of HKFH are
in accordance with the master supply agreement entered into
between HKFH and the Company, details of which are included
in the Company’s announcement dated 6 August 2012.

PREPAYMENTS, DEPOSITS AND
OTHER RECEIVABLES

LY
]

E -
" A

Notes to Financial Statements

S 5 i W Rk

Year ended 31 March 2013 E -F—-Z4£=A=+—HILEE

24, HEWCE B MR (78)

B?ﬁﬂmﬂjﬁﬂiﬁ{ﬁz}}ﬁl&%{ﬁﬁ&ﬂi%@%?
R R Z R o R AR > AN T
ERBR Hﬂﬁ"&%%ﬁ?zfﬁ’ﬁ?jﬁmik
SR > %S AR VDR A T A WOl el o il e
At o A o

JRE WAt B 5 ek A A 5 T Ok 7 s ] 5 R 2 K
1,567,000% 70 (= F— Z4F : 1,600,000%7C) K&
AAF—HBFEBRREBEHB/EEBRARL
A ([ o — B8 A B &K Z 30
181,0009 0 (& — Z4F « fIE) » i Rkl Bk
BERTHEEEFZERIEYEN - FiBE
i % BB 2 W) 45 R Z HEWURE 5 MR BRI AR B v
AN B A W) BT O 2 BB R > SR TR
MARAR ZF—ZHENANBZAEES -

25. FAAF KO > T 4 B JUfib I Ok

Group Company
£ | 2
2013 2012 2013 2012
TR DA R TUE RS R TR
HK$°000 HK$’000 HK$°000 HK$’000

W T T T T T

Prepayments AT K 39,481 46,184 139 46
Deposits and other receivables HE XN 3 ¢ 73,409 84,559 = =
112,890 130,743 139 46

Less: Deposits classified W B4y R IR IR B
as non-current assets BEREZW & (18,092) (20,715) = =
Current portion i By R 43 94,798 110,028 139 46

None of the above assets is either past due or impaired. The
financial assets included in the above balances relate to

receivables for which there was no recent history of default.

bt S AR o b At A R L4 Y
T S ) 2 ) B O A T 8k 2 M WK OH o

ZF - ZF F H o N W &£ B AR AR
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26.

27.

FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FAIR VALUE 26. $% 2 F-{E 3% 8 4 2 A iR 2 S ik ¥
THROUGH PROFIT OR LOSS E
Group
M
2013 2012
R4 TR
HKS$’000 HKS$’000
T BT
Listed equity investments in W B R AR 5 5
Hong Kong, at market value 12,012 -

The above equity investments at 31 March 2013 were classified
as held for trading and were, upon initial recognition, designated

by the Group as financial assets at fair value through profit or

ERBAZER T =F=ZA = HE
BRI EE > RALERI G R ER
A FEEBE AR Z S E -

loss.
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS 27. & RB&5HEH
Group Company
e L A

2013 2012 2013 2012
TR EAE R B -=4 F -8
HK$°000 HKS$°000 HK$’000 HK$°000
BT BT T o T
Cash and bank balances Bla R ARAT R 371,467 287,900 804 463
Time deposits EWAF 3K 239,257 264,247 = =
Cash and cash equivalents B4 J Bl S HIE H 610,724 552,147 804 463

At the end of the reporting period, the cash and bank balances
of the Group denominated in Renminbi (“RMB”) amounted
to HK$154,519,000 (2012: HK$109,757,000). RMB is not
freely convertible into other currencies, however, under
Mainland China’s Foreign Exchange Control Regulations and
Administration of Settlement, Sale and Payment of Foreign
Exchange Regulations, the Group is permitted to exchange RMB
for other currencies through banks authorised to conduct foreign

exchange business.

Cash at banks earns interest at floating rates based on daily bank
deposit rates. Short term time deposits are made for varying
periods of between one day and three months depending on the
immediate cash requirements of the Group, and earn interest at
the respective short term time deposit rates. The bank balances
are deposited with creditworthy banks with no recent history of
default.
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i Z Bl 4 % SRAT 4577 #5154,519,000% 00 (= F
— 4 2 109,757,000 50) - AREARRH H
SE A 2 JL Al BN > ARAR 4R o B K e A I A LR
511 0 265 TE > B R R ) IR A B G > AR R VAL o
75 B R VT HEAT A I SR M S T 2 SRAT I N R

SRAT Bl 1R A H BT A2 R A % DL B A1) 3¢ e X
MG o BRI EN T HE=ZMHZ
AT o BT AR 2 B B R
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28. TRADE PAYABLES, OTHER
PAYABLES AND ACCRUALS
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Year ended 31 March 2013 RE_F—Z4£ZA=+—HIL4EE

28. HEAF 515 Mk ~ L il M Aok sk 2 B
Wit £1 45

A ~
Group Company
ESL |
2013 2012 2013 2012
TR SAE R T B -ZE R T
HKS$’000 HK$°000 HK$°000 HK$’000

BT T BT T T T T T

Trade payables AT B 5 MRk
Other payables oAt JE A 35K I
Accruals JEwE AR

187,862 173,596 - -
56,783 56,909 - -
90,839 86,178 1,059 1,097

335,484 316,683 1,059 1,097

An aged analysis of the trade payables as at the end of the
reporting period, based on the invoice date, is as follows:

FHE IR > AR PR H I AR S Rk
MR AT T

Group
£

2013 2012
0 SN fr St
HK$’000 HK$’000
0T o o
Within 1 month E A AN 119,485 111,997
1 to 2 months 12218 A 38,376 37,734
2 to 3 months 2231 A 14,681 9,264
Over 3 months 3ME A A | 15,320 14,601
187,862 173,596

Included in the trade payables are trade payables of HK$41,733,000
(2012: HK$49,599,000) due to associates, which are normally
settled on 30-day to 60-day terms.

The trade payables are non-interest-bearing and are normally
settled on 30-day to 60-day terms. Other payables are non-

interest-bearing and have an average term of three months.

A GEXCEBRBERBFEARNZENE S
HE #%41,733,0008 76 (=& — 4E 49,599,000
WIt) > A —MIE30E60 H W PR 45 AT -

FEAT & 5 MR 3k 5 %0 8 B — 430360 H HA PR &%

o oAb REAS BKIE TS 58, - 5 BBIF 3 % = A
H o

ZF - ZF F H o N W &£ B AR AR

= T
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29. INTEREST-BEARING BANK 29. Z AT A B Z ST Bk
BORROWINGS
2013 2012
e St - S
Effective Effective
Group interest rate Maturity HK$’000 interest rate Maturity HK$’000
%M 0 YIRS M H T TR R B A BT
Current
R
Trust receipt loans — unsecured 0.7%-2.4% Within 143,064 0.8%-2.7% Within 162,192
SRR £ HE PR B 12 months 12 months
12/ 3 W 121 A A
Bank loans — unsecured 0.7%-6.7 % Within 628,567 1.3%-8.2% Within 688,383
S HEA ST B 12 months 12 months
or on or on
demand demand
12A R 1218 7 7
Bank loans - secured 7.8% Within 9,999 6.1% Within 12,293
R SRAT Bk 12 months 12 months
12N R 1218 A A

781,630 862,868

Non-current

eS|
Bank loans — unsecured 0.9%-2.4% 2014-2015 74,533 1.0% 2013-2014 71,724
SAIG A SR AT B ~E P —%—-=
CRp TR
856,163 934,592
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29. INTEREST-BEARING BANK 29. EHAT A B 2 AT Bk (4)
BORROWINGS (continued)

Group
e |
2013 2012
R =4 e St 2
HK$’000 HK$’000
T T BT T
Analysed into: i
Bank loans: SRAT K -
Within one year or on demand B4R N IR OR 781,630 862,868
In the second year AN 71,669 60,000
In the third to fifth years, inclusive FEZFREN > AFEERWE 2,864 11,724
856,163 934,592

Notes: MEE :

(a) Certain bank loans of a non-wholly-owned subsidiary are secured (a) #FTIEREHAME AR Z BTS00 L%
by the pledge of that non-wholly-owned subsidiary’s certain JEAE B B A B EE 4 1,474,000850 (&
leasehold land of HK$1,474,000 (2012: HK$1,522,000) and — TAE 11,522,000 50 ) Z M 3 523,498,000
buildings of HK$3,498,000 (2012: HK$3,875,000). HETE (TR — TU4E ¢ 3,875.0000E78) Z AR

TRIFHER

(b)  All the bank and trust receipt loans bear interest at floating interest (b) FrA ST RGBS FHLFEHN R E -
rates.

(c) Except for the bank loans denominated in Japanese yen equivalent (¢) BEM 370,813,000 00 (= F — 4 ¢
to HK$370,813,000 (2012: HK$304,288,000), the bank loans 304,288,000% 5¢) VA H [E % 0k 2 SR A7 883k ~
denominated in RMB equivalent to HK$99,117,000 (2012: 2571899,117,0008 7T (& — 4 : 130,060,000
HK$130,060,000) and the bank loan denominated in United States W) AANRBIEZ 817835 &HER
dollars equivalent to HK$3,298,000 (2012: HK$3,095,000), all bank 3,298,000% JC ( 2 — —4F 1 3,095,0004 5T ) YA
borrowings at the end of the reporting period were in Hong Kong EILHE Z BT A » A BT SRR R
dollars. WK ¥ BT o

Ignoring the effect of any repayment on demand clause and TRAT: Ao $2 B R BEUR Rk 2 S B R IR SR AT &

based on the maturity terms of the bank loans and trust receipt SRR FEIR Sk Z B IR AR - ASER B ZE 40 A

loans, the amounts repayable in respect of the Group’s interest- F B Z SRAT A B2 Z AT 3K &+ 763,630,000%

bearing bank borrowings are: within one year or on demand JC(ZF—4F ¢ 862,868,000% 70 ) ZH IR —4E R

HK$763,630,000 (2012: HK$862,868,000); in the second year B TR IR 5 89,669,000% 70 (T — 4 ¢

HK$89,669,000 (2012: HK$42,000,000); and in the third to fifth 42,000,0009% 7 ) Z 7 5 AR A 5 142,864,000

years, inclusive HK$2,864,000 (2012: HK$29,724,000). Wt (ZF— AR £ 29,724,0009 70) HR =

FEEFLF (BIEERMSE) HE -

ZF - ZF F H o N W &£ B AR AR
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30. DEFERRED TAX

The movements in deferred tax liabilities and assets during the

year are as follows:

30. ¥E %E Bt JH
RENBEREAGAEEZSBHWT :

Group - 2013 Bl - =4
Deferred tax liabilities W %t Bl I 1 05
Fair value
adjustment
Accelerated arising from
tax  acquisition of Revaluation ~ Withholding
depreciation subsidiaries  of properties taxes Total
VR 9B i Y D
B A A
il ZATHME LES R LS it
HK$°000 HK$°000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
#W T BT T #W T #W T
At 1 April 2012 RoF—THENH—H 564 13,077 3,980 201 17,822
Deferred tax charged/(credited) — AS4EFERIEE R AR,/ (Gl A)
to the income statement BB (M 7k10)
during the year (note 10) 957 (642) 91) - 224
Exchange realignment FE 56 3 - 205 - - 205
At 31 March 2013 REF—-=ZFZHA=+—H 1,521 12,640 3,889 201 18,251
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30. DEFERRED TAX (continued) 30. 3 %€ BLIH (51)
Group — 2012 HH - T4
Deferred tax liabilities 9 % B I £
Fair value
adjustment
Accelerated arising from
tax  acquisition of Revaluation Withholding
depreciation subsidiaries of properties taxes Total
PRI W B
MR Au] i
i ZAVHHE LB ikt w5t
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

EH T W T W T BT BT

At 1 April 2011 R_F——HNA—H 412 13,018 4,071 201 17,702

Deferred tax charged/(credited) — AC4E B M IBES % M1 B/

to the income statement (FFA) Z B AHERLIH

during the year (note 10) (Hiti0) 152 (478) 1) = (417)
Exchange realignment I 5% i = 537 = - 537
At 31 March 2012 RE-F—-ZH=ZH=+—H 564 13,077 3,980 201 17,822
Group gy |
Deferred tax assets 3B HE B &

Losses
available for

Decelerated offsetting

tax against future
depreciation  taxable profits Others Total

A FH DA A

il 2 AL I R i )
Wit Vi i Al At
HK$'000 HKS$°000 HK$’000 HK$’000

T T T T T T T

At 1 April 2011, 31 March 2012 R_F——HNA—H-
and 1 April 2012 ZR—-ZHEZA=Z+—H
R_F—-"HNH—H 5 415 861 1,281

Deferred tax credited/(charged) AAEE RIS RN

to the income statement (FnBR) Z IEHE AL IH
during the year (note 10) (Htit10) (2) - 297 295
At 31 March 2013 RZB-=H=ZA=1+—H 3 415 1,158 1,576

ZF - ZF F H o N W &£ B AR AR
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30. DEFERRED TAX (continued)

The Group has tax losses arising in Hong Kong of approximately
HK$128,513,000 (2012: HK$113,678,000) that are available
indefinitely for offsetting against future taxable profits of
the companies in which the losses arose. The Group also
has tax losses arising in Mainland China of approximately
HK$175,529,000 (2012: HK$176,688,000) that will expire in one
to five years for offsetting against future taxable profit. Deferred
tax assets have not been recognised in respect of these losses as,
in the opinion of the directors, it is uncertain whether sufficient
future taxable profits will be available against which the tax

losses can be utilised.

Pursuant to the PRC Corporate Income Tax Law, a 10%
withholding tax is levied on dividends declared to foreign
investors from the foreign investment enterprises established in
Mainland China. The requirement is effective from 1 January
2008 and applies to earnings after 31 December 2007. A lower
withholding tax rate may be applied if there is a tax treaty
between Mainland China and jurisdiction of the foreign investors.
For the Group, the applicable rate is 5%. The Group is therefore
liable for withholding taxes on dividends distributed by those
subsidiaries established in Mainland China in respect of earnings

generated from 1 January 2008.

At 31 March 2013, except for the deferred tax recognised for a
PRC subsidiary that will distribute dividend, no other deferred
tax has been recognised for withholding taxes that would be
payable on the unremitted earnings of the Group’s subsidiaries
established in Mainland China that are subject to withholding
taxes. In the opinion of the directors, it is not probable that
these subsidiaries will distribute such earnings in the foreseeable
future. The aggregate amount of temporary differences
associated with investments in subsidiaries in Mainland China
for which deferred tax liabilities have not been recognised
totalled approximately HK$45,486,000 at 31 March 2013 (2012:
HK$38,148,000).

There are no income tax consequences attaching to the payment

of dividends by the Company to its shareholders.
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30. YE#E B (#)

AEBHEHABEAZBREEBEHRA L
128,513,000 & (=% — 4 : 113,678,000%
J0) A BRI AR IR Z S BB R A F 2
AR HE B o AL B IR E P K e E 2R
A — 2 A B Z BLIE R 4 #4045 175,529,000
WL (ZF— 4 1 176,688,000%58) » W AR
HEFU B 1% 2 RERR B i R o 3% S5 B 15 e 18 P S e
RL BRI G > HHEFR RS LS
AR A A 2R I R R R A K B S R 4R o

AR £ S BT A5 B > 7 o I O B i 5 = A
7 B A 3 i BEA H  E EIR 2 B R O
10%TABL » ZBLEH _FFNE—H—HE
R WEMR ZFFLET A= HE&
ZBA o L BTHMEE i g v 0 e 5 b
K BERT A BE B MR A - S008I B0 B R AT
1K o BUARGE I & > WA BLR 5% o Fk > A
A PR A R S R DB 4 W)l R\
G 1 — R A 2 A B 4 IR 2 8 S T
Bt -

W_F-ZF=ZAZ1—H Bl HE T4
IR S 2 e R 2 ) T R A B IE A o I
T AR A T A o R K e o 2 B B A R A 2 R
Ve HH 280 ) T A = TR 0 T S At R R BRI o
R o % E WA W R R R A KT BE
SRAWBR - R _F—Z4£=H=+—H >
B o R K e 2 B A R 2 B B 2 R R
A JE R TE B AR T I 22 A 545,486,000
JG (% — T4F £ 38,148,000% J8) ©

A2 TR R T B AR I A B 2 A
BLsg 2 o
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31. SHARE CAPITAL 31. JBeA
Shares B4y
2013 2012
R4 —E -5
HK$’000 HK$°000
T T BT T
Authorised: BiE ¢
1,000,000,000 ordinary shares 1,000,000,000 8% & Ji% 1hi {&
of HK$0.10 each 0.10% 70 Z ¥ 8 it 100,000 100,000
Issued and fully paid: CBITRME
387,909,640 (2012: 390,707,640) 387,909,640 (=& — 4 ¢
ordinary shares of HK$0.10 390,707,640/ ) 18 B T {60. 10#: 5T
(2012: HK$0.10) each TR T 0108 T) 2B R 38,790 39,070
During the year, the Company repurchased a total of 2,690,000 AN A H) R B AR B i TR A 452,690,000
(2012: 108,000) of its own shares on the Stock Exchange for an (& — ZU4F £ 108,000/ ) B4 » SARME A 25
aggregate consideration of approximately HK$6,044,000 (2012: 6,044,000% 7 (ZF — Z4F : 212,000% T) °
HK$212,000). The 2,690,000 shares that were repurchased during BE_F=H£=ZA=Z=1+—HILFEEERNZ
the year ended 31 March 2013, together with 108,000 shares 2,690,000 M MR R E T —_F=H
that repurchased during the year ended 31 March 2012, were = H kAR R 2 108,000 4y it —F
cancelled before 31 March 2013. Accordingly, the issued share —ZRZAZT—HZHRES - B > RN
capital of the Company was reduced by the nominal value of Z CVBEAT A T 25 % S B B Ry 2 WA o
these cancelled shares. The premium paid on the repurchase was il 1] 2 A i 0 % A R4 d AR AT B o ARAB AR S
charged to the share premium account. An amount equivalent to RE 25 S8 B R P > AR 8 5 O R A 1 L 2 HH
the par value of the ordinary shares cancelled was transferred KRE T o DR P R A 2 A I A R o
from retained profits to the capital redemption reserve as set out
in the consolidated statement of changes in equity.
During the year ended 31 March 2012, the Company repurchased BRER-CHE=ZA=ZTHIEEEHR > A
a total of 108,000 of its own shares on the Stock Exchange for an 28 ]I A2 T i I 3 108,000 8 L B4y - AR
aggregate consideration of HK$212,000. The repurchased shares 1E %5212,000% 56 © By ik B4 i R =& —
were not cancelled as at 31 March 2012 and the consideration FEZA=F—HES BRZONRECRE
paid on the repurchase was debited to the capital redemption 7 W [l fi A8 10 Bk o
reserve.
The directors considered that, as the Company’s shares are HRR A > AR ] Z B DL B R
trading at a discount to the expected net asset value per share, the FEZ YT E W W R AR A R
repurchase of shares would be beneficial to the Company. F o

ZF - ZF F H o N W &£ B AR AR

¥ ‘l 3 £ B
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31. SHARE CAPITAL (continued) 31 AR (4)
A summary of the repurchase of shares is as follows: P o] B WA G R
Number of Price per share Total
shares repurchased Highest Lowest price paid
o ik ol Jt 3% % H 5 B 6% B RS A A A
Month of repurchase W Ml H 4} e v 52139
HK$ HKS$ HK$’000
V. Jn T -3
31 March 2013 ~R-ZHEZA=Z+—H
April 2012 —EZ "4 H 2,286,000 2.51 1.88 5,180
December 2012 — 2 —-_%#+_H 404,000 2.28 2.03 864
2,690,000 6,044
31 March 2012 R -ZHE=ZA=Z+—H
March 2012 R -THE=H 108,000 1.96 1.94 212

A summary of the transactions during the years ended 31

March 2013 and 2012 with reference to the movements in the

REBERANFARBE-F 24 R T4
ZAET - HIRF ORI E R AR ) 2 R

Company’s issued ordinary share capital is as follows: GREERE W ¢
Number of Share
ordinary Issued premium
shares in issue capital account Total
% £ i)
WHBREH C#fRA R R A5t
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
3 BT T W IT T
At 1 April 2011, BB ——FENUg—H -
31 March 2012 and ~ “F—"4F=ZH=Z+—HRK
1 April 2012 Z“E—-TFMH—H 390,707,640 39,070 222,482 261,552
Repurchase and Jie o] % R 8 e Ay
cancellation of
shares (2,798,000) (280) (5,976) (6,256)
At 31 March 2013 —E-EZHZH=1T—H 387,909,640 38,790 216,506 255,296
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32. SHARE OPTION SCHEME

The Company operates a share option scheme for the purpose
of providing incentives and rewards to eligible participants who
contribute to the success of the Group’s operations. Eligible
participants of the scheme include the Company’s directors,
including independent non-executive directors, other employees
of the Company, and any executive director or employee of any
of the Company’s subsidiaries and any entity in which the Group
holds any equity interest.

On 28 August 2012, the Company adopted a share option scheme
(the “Scheme”) to replace the share option scheme which was
commenced on 17 September 2002 and was terminated on 28
August 2012 (the “Terminated Scheme”). The Scheme is valid
and effective for a period of 10 years up to 27 August 2022,
after which no further share options will be granted but the
provisions of the Scheme shall remain in full force and effect in
all other respects. Share options complying with the provisions
of the Listing Rules which are granted during the duration of
the Scheme and those remain unexercised immediately prior to
the end of the 10-year period shall continue to be exercisable in
accordance with their terms of grant as within the share option
period for which such share options are granted, notwithstanding

the expiry of the Scheme.

The maximum number of unexercised share options currently
permitted to be granted under the Scheme is an amount
equivalent, upon their exercise, to 38,831,364 ordinary shares,
being 10.0% of the shares of the Company in issue as of 28
August 2012. As at the date of this report, the total number
of shares available for issue under the Scheme is 38,831,364
ordinary shares, representing 10.01% of the existing issued share
capital of the Company. The maximum number of shares issuable
under share options to each eligible participant in the Scheme
within any 12-month period is limited to 1% of the shares of the
Company in issue at any time. Any further grant of share options
in excess of this limit is subject to shareholders’ approval in a

general meeting.
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32. i IR A T

A2 Vi A PR T A R O S % I 3 A AR
MEEEGAARERZ G ER2HE - 51H
ZHEKZEEBHARNFZEF (B8
FERATH ) - HAbOE H KA A 7 g 2 R R
A 55 V) AT A A i 2 T AT ek
EA -

WFE—TENH T )\H > KAFRA—H
JE B RESEE (T5T#]) » ABURR ZRF A
ATt HBAmIE®R -4\ T N\H#&
IR Z R ST A (T4 IRFEE ) - 518 2 A %800
I0E > BT FE)NHAZHEA R IR o K
1% A% A B TR AT A S IR HE > EET 2 Rak AR
J A Al 5 T AR A O R o IR FERF & |k
WA RG> MR E B 104 A BOH R -
AELAE 55T 30300 e 9 A5 R B AT 0 =2 S IR R >
i i R RE 2 HH e Z AR A AT 08 > B AS 32 T
W2

BR824 1 22 v R AT I 2
= BH 7538,831,364/B 1 B I - MR AR A F A
ZF—-THENAZH)\H BRI Z10.0% °
A EE H O > MR ER ST B B AT Z Ry
WH %538,831,364 BB - MERARARZHD
BATIRAZ10.01% ° AR+ 8 H BN -
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32. SHARE OPTION SCHEME (continued)

Share options granted to a director or substantial shareholder of
the Company, or to any of their associates, are subject to approval
in advance by the independent non-executive directors of the
Company (excluding an independent non-executive director who
is a grantee of the share options). In addition, any share options
granted to a substantial shareholder or an independent non-
executive director of the Company, or to any of their associates,
in excess of 0.1% of the shares of the Company in issue at any
time or with an aggregate value (based on the closing price of the
Company’s shares at the date of each grant) in excess of HK$5
million, within any 12-month period, are subject to shareholders’

approval in advance in a general meeting.

The offer of a grant of share options may be accepted within 28
days from the date of offer, upon receipt of the duplicate offer
letter comprising acceptance of the offer duly signed by the
grantee with the number of shares in respect of which the offer
is accepted clearly stated therein, together with payment of a
nominal consideration of HK$1 by the grantee to the Company
provided that no offer shall be open for acceptance after the
expiry of the Scheme or after the Scheme has been terminated.
The terms and conditions of the share options granted are
determinable by the directors on a case-by-case basis. Such
terms and conditions may include, but are not limited to (i) the
subscription price; (ii) the period within which the Company’s
shares must be taken up under the share option, which must not
be more than 10 years from the offer date; (iii) the minimum
period, if any, for which a share option must be held before it can
be exercised; and (iv) the performance target, if any, that must be

achieved before the share option can be exercised.

The exercise price of the share options is determinable by the
directors in their absolute discretion at the time of the making of
the offer which shall be stated in the letter containing the offer,
but may not be less than the highest of (i) the closing price of
the Company’s shares as stated in the Stock Exchange’s daily
quotations sheet on the offer date which must be a trading day;
(ii) the average closing price of the Company’s shares as stated in
the Stock Exchange’s daily quotations sheets for the five trading
days immediately preceding the offer date; and (iii) the nominal

value of the Company’s shares.

Share options do not confer rights on the holders to dividends or
to vote at shareholders’ meetings.
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32. SHARE OPTION SCHEME (continued)

During the year, no share option (2012: Nil) was granted to

directors and other employees of the Company or employees of

any of the Company’s subsidiaries and any entities in which the

Group holds any equity interests.

At the end of the reporting period, the Company had no share

option outstanding under the Terminated Scheme and/or the
Scheme (2012: Nil).

33. RESERVES

(a)

Group

The amounts of the Group’s reserves and the movements
therein for the current and prior years are presented in the
consolidated statement of changes in equity on pages 56 to

57 of the financial statements.

The Group’s share premium account includes (i) the
credit of HK$19,900,000 which represents the difference
between the nominal value of the share capital issued by
the Company and the aggregate nominal value of the share
capital of the subsidiaries acquired pursuant to the group
reorganisation in 1993; and (ii) the debit of HK$23,684,000
arising from the cancellation of the repurchased shares
during the years ended 31 March 2013, 2011 and 2010.

Pursuant to the relevant laws and regulations for Foreign
Investment Enterprises, a portion of the profits of the
Group’s subsidiaries and the Group’s associates operating as
Foreign Investment Enterprises in Mainland China has been
transferred to the reserve funds. The reserve funds are non-
distributable in nature and can be utilised to offset the losses

incurred.

The capital reserve represents the Group’s share of

capitalisation of retained profits by an associate.
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33, ki i
(a) %M

ACHR B AR AR N BB AR AR B 2 A S L )
eI B s SR S6 H MSTH Z S MR S )
ENE-YI

A 5 ) e A9 ¥ A R A 5 ¢ () %% #119,900,000
Wt EIRAE > JIA A B COBAT B AR 1
SR 8% — Ju U = 47 4R [ 3 AR AR 2 B
JE 2 W] 2 B AN T AR R T = 25 s &
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33. RESERVES (continued)

33, fili i (4)

(b) Company (b) AT
Available-
for-sale
Share investment Capital
premium  revaluation  redemption Retained
account reserve reserve profits Total
LT
B A 3
I - B fit WG RERA Wit
Notes HKS$'000 HKS$'000 HKS$'000 HK$'000 HKS$000
Wit #H T EW T EW T EHFr EWFI
At April 2011 REZB——EN— 025k 256,301 9% 886 0 280,010
Total comprehensive ERAZENE/ (BE)
income/(loss) for the year - (79) - 21,750 271,671
Repurchase of shares not yet T T 0 e
cancelled - - (212) - (212)
Interim 2012 dividend “E-TEHRE 12 - - - (7814 (1814)
Proposed final 2012 dividend ZE-CHEERANMRA 12 = = = (19,416) (19.416)
At 31 March 2012 and REB-ZHEZAZT—HR
at 1 April 2012 ZE-CENA—H 256,301 17 674 23,047 280,239
Total comprehensive ERNBZTNE/ (BR)
income/(loss) for the year - (4) - 30,623 30,619
Repurchase of shares ik ] Bt (5,976) = 492 (280) (5,764)
Interim 2013 dividend “E-ZEPIRE 12 - - - (1,760) (1,760)
Proposed final 2013 dividend ZE-CZERRANRE 12 = = = (19,395) (19,395)
At 31 March 2013 REZ-ZHEZA=+-H 250,325 13 1,166 26,435 277,939

The Company’s share premium account includes (i) the
credit of HK$53,719,000 which represents the difference
between the nominal value of the share capital issued by the
Company and the combined net assets of the subsidiaries
acquired pursuant to the group reorganisation in 1993;
and (ii) the debit of HK$23,684,000 arising from the
cancellation of the repurchased shares during the years
ended 31 March 2013, 2011 and 2010. Under the Company
Law (Revised) of the Cayman Islands, a distribution
may be made from the share premium account in certain

circumstances.

The difference between the share premium account of the
Company and that of the Group represents the difference
between the aggregate nominal value of the share capital
of the subsidiaries and their combined net assets acquired,
pursuant to the group reorganisation in 1993, as detailed

above.
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34. DISPOSAL OF SUBSIDIARIES 34, 1B E A )
2013
- SN
Note HKS$’ 000
Mt it BT T
Net assets disposed of: HEZHFEE :
Cash and bank balances B4 T SRAT A5 8% 194
Other payables and accruals A 8 Ak sk T B B it £ £ (279)
(85)
Exchange reserve realised upon disposal R AR R §ir)
of subsidiaries Z T 56, ) Aokt AR (4,639)
Gain on disposal of subsidiaries g A T 2 I 5 4,724
HK$
o
Satisfied by cash Bl & Wk 1
An analysis of the net outflow of cash and cash equivalents in L N ) 2 B A R B A A T H R i 4
respect of the disposal of subsidiaries is as follows: HinF :
HKS$’000
BT T
Cash consideration Be R -
Cash and bank balances disposed of B 2 B4 TSR AT A Bk (194)
Net outflow of cash and cash equivalents &M E AR B4 RE4&%
in respect of the disposal of subsidiaries I H F i th (194)

ZF - ZF F H o N W &£ B AR AR
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35. CONTINGENT LIABILITIES 35. g 2% £
At the end of the reporting period, contingent liabilities not TR R o AR T B 75 i b A A 2 Bk
provided for in the financial statements were as follows: IREEITE ¢
Group Company
ESL 2+
2013 2012 2013 2012
RS R RS CF T
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
BT T BT BT T
Bank guarantees given in lieu of WA T3 R AL
utility and property rental deposits ez
ATHEOR - 387 - -
Guarantees given to banks in ok B 2 W] Z SR AT
connection with facilities 15 8 1) R4
granted to subsidiaries TREEHE R - = 1,665,591 1,688,737
Guarantees given to third parties 7t — [ B 2 )
in connection with lease payments R Z M E
for lease agreements entered I ) 5B =3
into by a subsidiary fEh Z ¥R - - 38,672 45,354
- 387 1,704,263 1,734,091
As at 31 March 2013, the banking facilities granted to subsidiaries PR Z=ZA=Z1—H o WEA R ERN
subject to guarantees given to banks by the Company were BT EEEERARBTRITHERT - CH
utilised to the extent of approximately HK$820,781,000 (2012: 2 &8 £ 5820,781,000% 76 (ZF — 4 ¢
HK$887,488,000). 887,488,000 7T ) °
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36. OPERATING LEASE ARRANGEMENTS 36. BB RLA K HE

! 1

(a) As lessor (a) fEZMAA

The Group leases its investment property (note 15) to an ALK EMEZHHHEIZZEY
associate under an operating lease arrangement, with a lease 3 (MEELS) T— Rl 8 A F) o KRBT ZHl

negotiated for a term of two years. KA I K WA o
At 31 March 2013, the Group had total future minimum R-B—=4£=ZH=+—H > MFHEE=
lease receivables under a non-cancellable operating lease AFFISLZ A R B E - AREE AR
with its associate falling due as follows: AR T 5 ] B AT R A R R 4 A A

T
Group
e |

2013 2012
Y- St O —EFE T
HK$’000 HK$’000
W T T BT T
Within one year —4ERN 254 1,000
In the second to fifth years, inclusive 5% . Z 5 fu4E > 45 R W4 - 250
254 1,250

ZF - ZF F H o N W &£ B AR AR
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36. OPERATING LEASE ARRANGEMENTS
(continued)

(b) As lessee

The Group leases certain land and buildings under operating
lease arrangements. Leases are negotiated for terms ranging
from one to fifty years. The Group has the option of
extending the leases by up to three years in certain operating

lease arrangements.

At 31 March 2013, the Group had total future minimum
lease payments under non-cancellable operating leases

falling due as follows:

36. BB AMA R (5)

(b) fElyRAA

ARSI 1 A KPR A T e R A
Foo RMEEH ZMAFEN B —FEELHER
G o A TREME R ARLEA R
FRRE A B =4 o

BREF-EZHZA=Z1—H o AEERE
R B A ] 4 8 < AL AH A4 T R T 51 S0 B R
i Z AR A RIE W T

Group
e 3|

2013 2012
e S o S~
HK$’000 HK$°000
YT BT
Within one year —4 RN 116,896 98,351
In the second to fifth years, inclusive 58 %5 FL4F » A H B W4E 103,220 95,052
After five years AR 45,794 33,366
265,910 226,769

The operating lease rentals of certain retail shops are based
on the sales of those shops. In the opinion of the directors,
as the future sales of those retail shops could not be
accurately estimated at the end of the reporting period, the

relevant rental commitments have not been included above.

At the end of the reporting period, the Company did not have
any future minimum lease receivables or payments under non-

cancellable operating leases (2012: Nil).
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37. COMMITMENTS

In addition to the operating lease commitments detailed in note

36(b) above, the Group had capital commitments in respect of

5 v
o .
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37. 7R ¥

B b SCHERE36(b) it 2 2828 AL A AR I S > ARAR
VP S o R B S~ R S B 2 AR Af

property, plant and equipment at the end of the reporting period: mE:
Group
3|
2013 2012
e St O e St ot
HK$’000 HK$’000
T T BT T
Contracted, but not provided for AT A48 oK 48 445 513 4,657

At the end of the reporting period, the Company had no

significant commitments (2012: Nil).

38. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

(a) In addition to the transactions and balances detailed

elsewhere in these financial statements, the Group had

IR > A R AR (R — AR
) -

IB.HEANLRY

(a) o O A5 B 5 i o S At b 7 P sl 2 22 5 %
REERAL > AR ARG P BT B AN LRTSE T

the following material transactions with its related parties FEKAG :
during the year:
2013 2012
—F =4 e St 2
Notes HKS$’000 HK$000
At it W T BT T
Purchases of goods from associates [ i %5 2 &] £F i @) 353,760 339,156
Sales of goods to associates T W 7 2 ) B (ii) 12,312 13,453
Promotion expenses reimbursed Tk 8 O ) B 4 B S
by associates (iii) 19,315 18,039
Rental income from an associate RABEARZHERA  (v) 1,045 989
Sales of goods to a subsidiary FARA R EERRZ
of a substantial shareholder Fif JEg 2 W) 8 B B
of the Company (v) 3,113 -

ZF - ZF F H o N W &£ B AR AR
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38. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS
(continued)

(a) (continued)

(b)

(c)

Notes:

()

(i)

(iii)

(iv)

(v)

The cost of purchases from associates was made at pre-
determined prices agreed between the parties.

The selling prices of the goods sold to associates were
determined by reference to prices and conditions similar to
those offered to other major customers.

The promotion expenses reimbursed by associates were
determined by reference to the costs incurred by the Group.

The rental income from an associate was determined between

the Group and the associate.

The selling prices of the goods sold were determined by
reference to prices and conditions similar to those offered to

other major customers.

Outstanding balances with related parties:

()

(i)

Details of the amounts due from associates to the
Group at the end of the reporting period are included in
note 20 to the financial statements.

Details of the Group’s trade balances with its associates
at the end of the reporting period are disclosed in notes
24 and 28 to the financial statements.

Commitments with related parties

On 1 July 2011, a subsidiary of the Group entered into a

two-year agreement with an associate, to lease the Group’s

investment property to that associate. Details of the

operating lease commitment are disclosed in note 36(a) to

the financial statements.
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38. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS
(continued)

(d) Compensation of key management personnel of the Group:
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3. B A LR Y (%)

(d) AR LA BN B Z W

2013 2012

R =4 —E T

HKS$’000 HKS$’000

0T o BT T

Short term employee benefits R B R A 18,585 18,245
Pension scheme contributions IR 4 3 Ak 750 705
19,335 18,950

Further details of directors’ and the chief executive’s
emoluments are included in note 8 to the financial

statements.

The related party transactions set out in note 38(a)(v) also
constitute continuing connected transactions as defined in
Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules.

R AT B 2 R R
P Bk 2 i ot B S

E SRR RE38 (a) (v) JE Bt < B 3N 12 52 5 R
TR SR 14 A TR i S R BB AL 5 o
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39. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS BY 39. & L H2Z 48
CATEGORY
The carrying amounts of each of the categories of financial REERR s FHEEM T AZREMEN T ¢

instruments as at the end of the reporting period are as follows:

Group — 2013 B — =4
Financial assets 4R
Financial Available-
assets at fair for-sale
value through Loans and financial
profit or loss receivables assets Total
WA THBE M
HAEAMRZ £k K CE Y R
A i Bk 2 AeRER B

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
W T #W T W T W T

Available-for-sale investments A R - - 77,533 77,533
Due from associates JRE W T 7 2 W] - 15 - 15
Trade receivables FE W B 5 Bk - 502,953 - 502,953
Financial assets included in AL 55 7 TE AT ROE
prepayments, deposits and T 4 B At 78 Wt
other receivables WRmk 2 &l g B - 73,409 - 73,409
Financial assets at fair value WA TEE R B R
through profit or loss A2 &g & 12,012 = = 12,012
Cash and cash equivalents Bl & K Bl & %K 1EH H = 610,724 = 610,724
12,012 1,187,101 77,533 1,276,646

FOUR SEAS MERCANTILE HOLDINGS LIMITED ¢ ANNUAL REPORT 2013
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39. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS BY 39. & LR 2Z 58 (5)
CATEGORY (continued)
Group — 2012 HEEH— T
Financial assets LSRG E
Available-
for-sale
Loans and financial
receivables assets Total
Bk K IR
WG 2R E K
HKS$’ 000 HKS$’ 000 HKS$’ 000
BT T X BT T
Available-for-sale investments CIRESiRF 'Sy = 93,208 93,208
Due from associates J7E Wi Wi 7 2 ] 561 - 561
Trade receivables e Wi B2 5 e sk 525,978 - 525,978
Financial assets included in ARG FA 3K -
prepayments, deposits and FT 4 B Al WO 5k
other receivables Z b E 81,251 - 81,251
Cash and cash equivalents B4 R B4 % HEH 552,147 = 552,147
1,159,937 93,208 1,253,145
Group kgL |
Financial liabilities L
2013 2012
e St o R~
Financial Financial
liabilities at liabilities at
amortised cost amortised cost
WA A LSRR AR
Y 4B 7l £1 % P 42 7 1 5
HK$’000 HK$°000
BT BT T
Financial liabilities included in B HE T HE AT B 5 MK -
trade payables, other JFC R Ao 35K I B it
payables and accruals B Z A K 309,794 284,422
Interest-bearing bank borrowings R B Z SRAT B 856,163 934,592
1,165,957 1,219,014

= &R A
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39. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS BY 39. &M T HZ 5K ()
CATEGORY (continued)
Company AT
Financial assets 4 il
2013 2012
“2-Zk S
Available- Available-
Loans and for-sale Loans and for-sale
receivables financial assets Total receivables  financial assets Total
jig 94 WAk B TR e
Blox  ZeWERE ik Bl zaMEE M
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$'000
W T EW T EW T BHFI R BETT
Available-for-sale investments W ERE - 148 148 = 152 152
Due from subsidiaries W I 4 ) 649,707 = 649,707 615,653 = 615,653
Cash and bank balances Re kARG HR 804 - 804 463 = 463
650,511 148 650,659 616,116 152 616,268
Company G|
Financial liabilities 4 b B 4%
2013 2012
e S o R4
Financial Financial
liabilities at liabilities at
amortised cost amortised cost
BRSO A AR R EE S AR AR
1 4x il £ A P 4 i £ 5
HKS$’000 HK$’000
0T o T
Due to subsidiaries JRE A It JBS 2 ] 406,723 369,600
Financial liabilities included in AT B 5 MRk ~ At JE £+
trade payables, other payables KOE B R BB
and accruals Z & A H 1,059 1,097
407,782 370,697

FOUR SEAS MERCANTILE HOLDINGS LIMITED e
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40. FAIR VALUE AND FAIR VALUE 40. 2 P48 B 2 V-6 5 b
HIERARCHY
The carrying amounts and fair values of the Group’s and the AR [ AR A ] 4l T 2 R A S A R
Company’s financial instruments are as follows: AR
Group
£y |
Carrying amounts Fair values
M i B
2013 2012 2013 2012
TR DA R TR R D R T4
HK$’000 HKS$’000 HK$’000 HK$°000

W T T T T T

Financial assets L A
Cash and cash equivalents B4 R B4 S HIE H 610,724 552,147 610,724 552,147
Financial assets at fair value through 3% 2 V1A 75 i 15 £
profit or loss AR Z &l 12,012 = 12,012 =
Financial assets included in WA IE - 5T &K
prepayments, deposits and Ny e e
other receivables &g E 73,409 81,251 73,409 81,251
Trade receivables JRE W B 5 sk I 502,953 525,978 502,953 525,978
Due from associates JRE WA W 2% O\ W) K 0E 15 561 15 561
Available-for-sale investments kR 74,800 90,475 74,800 90,475
1,273,913 1,250,412 1,273,913 1,250,412
Carrying amounts Fair values
IR i ¥ AR
2013 2012 2013 2012
SRS DR TR SRS R
HK$°000 HKS$°000 HK$’000 HKS$°000
BT BT or BT BT
Financial liabilities A A
Financial liabilities included in FEAT B 5 IRk ~ oAt
trade payables, other payables JRE AsF sk T I R A
and accruals Z & A E 309,794 284,422 309,794 284,422
Interest-bearing bank borrowings ZRBRAT R B 2 SRAT B 856,163 934,592 856,163 934,592

1,165,957 1,219,014 1,165,957 1,219,014

ZF - ZF F H o N W &£ B AR AR

¥ ‘l 3 £ B
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40. FAIR VALUE AND FAIR VALUE 40,2 F4H Be A P2 R% (48)
HIERARCHY (continued)
Company
A
Carrying amounts Fair values
e i L AT
2013 2012 2013 2012
SRS R SRS DR T8
HK$°000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
BT BT BT BT
Financial assets 4 T A
Available-for-sale investments kR 148 152 148 152
Due from subsidiaries JRE WA R i 2 ) 649,707 615,653 649,707 615,653
Cash and bank balances B4 B SRAT K5 8% 804 463 804 463
650,659 616,268 650,659 616,268
Carrying amounts Fair values
W i L AR
2013 2012 2013 2012
SRS SR TFE SRS SRR
HK$°000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$°000
T BT T BT T HEWTF o
Financial liabilities bl
Due to subsidiaries JE A} B i 2 ) 406,723 369,600 406,723 369,600
Accruals JE 5 £ A 1,059 1,097 1,059 1,097
407,782 370,697 407,782 370,697
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40. FAIR VALUE AND FAIR VALUE
HIERARCHY (continued)

Fair value hierarchy

The Group and the Company use the following hierarchy

for determining and disclosing the fair values of financial

instruments:

Level 1:

Level 2:

Level 3:

fair values measured based on quoted prices (unadjusted)
in active markets for identical assets or liabilities

fair values measured based on valuation techniques for
which all inputs which have a significant effect on the
recorded fair value are observable, either directly or

indirectly

fair values measured based on valuation techniques for
which any inputs which have a significant effect on the
recorded fair value are not based on observable market

data (unobservable inputs)

Assets measured at fair value:

As at 31 March 2013
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40. 23 PE B A -2 (5)

BT

A B A A 7 DA 50 5 T e
A2 AT

SR ML ) R B RO N T B
B R K830 8 ) T 5t 5 2 P

W RBERTRH COURA R R
T -5 5 T L2 020 A1 £
{5 95 T B 24 F 4

SER ¢ SR 6 4 (O R
5 ORI A) T B L5 A i 4 T
S 2 AT 0B AKG f 07 35 T
o8 A f

AR Pt 2 B -
RZFE—=ZFE=ZHA=+—H

Group Company
L] A )
Level 1 Level 2 Total Level 1
WM - A5t B
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
BT BT BT YT
Available-for-sale investments: CIRE 3R %'a < gE

Listed equity investments LR 74,473 - 74,473 148
Unlisted club debenture FE b & R R % - 327 327 -

Financial assets at fair value through %2 F{H 5 M H %
profit or loss ABR 2Z 45 il B 12,012 = 12,012 =
86,485 327 86,812 148
2 - Z 4 F K o "W EEEFRALSA
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40. FAIR VALUE AND FAIR VALUE

41

HIERARCHY (continued)

Fair value hierarchy (continued)
Assets measured at fair value: (continued)

As at 31 March 2012

40. 2 F-fi B 2 V280 (7))
AT (50
BT 2 + ()

RE-F—ZFE=H=4—H

Group Company
3L !
Level 1 Level 2 Total Level 1
g Y-y A g
HK$’000 HK$°000 HK$°000 HK$°000
BT BHF T BT BT
Available-for-sale investments: w4k R

Listed equity investments LR E 90,148 - 90,148 152
Unlisted club debenture Ik ki & P A 2 - 327 327 -
90,148 327 90,475 152
During the year, there were no transfers of fair value R REFEERAFRZE GRS B2
measurements between Level 1 and Level 2 and no transfers into SRS A E R o 8 = g 3 A Bl i

or out of Level 3 in the Group and the Company (2012: Nil). HZIHEW(ZF—4F : i) o
The Group and the Company did not have any financial liabilities N B -=Z4FE=ZH=1—H s REHEKATH
measured at fair value as at 31 March 2013 (2012: Nil). WA AP A Az ASmAas (22—

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES

The Group’s principal financial instruments comprise interest-
bearing bank borrowings and cash and short term deposits. The
main purpose of these financial instruments is to raise finance for
the Group’s operations. The Group has various other financial
assets and liabilities such as available-for-sale investments,
financial assets at fair value through profit or loss, trade
receivables, other receivables, trade payables and other payables,

which arise directly from its operations.

The main risks arising from the Group’s financial instruments
are interest rate risk, foreign currency risk, credit risk, liquidity
risk and equity price risk. The board of directors reviews and
agrees policies for managing each of these risks and they are

summarised below.
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41. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES
(continued)

Interest rate risk

The Group’s exposure to the risk of changes in market interest
rates relates primarily to the Group’s short and long term debt

obligations with floating interest rates.

The Group’s policy is to manage its interest cost using variable

rate debts, which is regularly reviewed by senior management.

The following table demonstrates the sensitivity to a reasonably
possible change in interest rates, with all other variables held
constant, of the Group’s profit before tax (through the impact
on floating rate borrowings) and the Group’s equity. There is no

impact on the Company’s equity.
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41. B %5 b, B 4% B H BE B8R (48)

% e B

A SR [0 ZEC 7R M T 5 R A A L By T B A AR
A DA B R 5 B R B R B R AT A -

7S5 0 S SR 0 P R A R R

A T E R AR B A AR A

T AR G W BB e A 2 A 8 A Y
S ) TS 4 R 2 R R 2 BT BB A ) (T
At R R AR AR A ) B o A R R B
AN T 2 A N S 5 B o

Group
#H
Increase/
Increase/ (decrease) Increase/
(decrease) in in profit (decrease)
basis points before tax in equity*
P23 I e 1 ik A B 22+
¥im,/ (W) Bm,/ (W) Bim, (W4)
HK$’000 HK$’000
BT BT
2013 R4
Hong Kong dollar Wt 25 (1,100) =
Japanese yen H 5 25 (844) -
RMB AN RH 25 (286) -
Hong Kong dollar Wt (25) 1,100 =
Japanese yen H 8 (25) 844 _
RMB AN RH (25) 286 -
2012 TR TR
Hong Kong dollar Wt 25 (1,342) =
Japanese yen HH 25 (617) =
RMB AR 25 (335) —
Hong Kong dollar W (25) 1,342 -
Japanese yen H E (25) 617 =
RMB AR (25) 335 =

*  Excluding retained profits

Y 2E 7
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41. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES
(continued)

Foreign currency risk

The Group has transactional currency exposures. Such exposures
arise from sales or purchases by operating units in currencies

other than the units’ functional currency.

The following table demonstrates the sensitivity at the end
of the reporting period to a reasonably possible change in the
Japanese yen and RMB exchange rates, with all other variables
held constant, of the Group’s profit before tax (due to changes
in the fair value of monetary assets and liabilities) and the
Group’s equity (due to changes in fair value of forward currency

contracts). There is no impact on the Company’s equity.

41. Y 85 e B 45 BE H B B BOR (7))

A B o, B

A S [ T B 22 By W B o % S IR B S IR
R BLAL DL AL 2 Th e £ W A S 2 £ AT H
B A o

AR R AE T A S At A B 3 RN B L
o ACHR [ B A A A (b B A X LR
V1 1 0588 ) O B0 ) B A 4 P RE 2 (ol 7 e 0 8
W 200 B O S0 5 5 B B0 R il R 3 R
B N B s HE 2 15 BE W B I B) 2 AR o SN L
e S A A ] 2 A N S 5 o

Increase/
Increase/ (decrease) Increase/
(decrease) in in profit (decrease)
rate before tax in equity*
BE % B B i ik il 2t
Wm, (W) B¥m,/ (W) Bm,/ (¥5)
% HKS$’000 HK$’000
BT o W T T
2013 —F =
If Hong Kong dollar weakens # V0 5 H IR 55 2
against Japanese yen 1 3,193) -
If Hong Kong dollar weakens W0 S0 N\ R 59 3
against RMB 1 620 -
If Hong Kong dollar strengthens 7 ¥ 5. H [H] 58
against Japanese yen 1) 3,193 -
If Hong Kong dollar strengthens 77 ¥ JG 5o A\ R ¥ 5@ 34
against RMB (€)) (620) -
2012 D et 5
If Hong Kong dollar weakens # W0 5 H JE 59 3
against Japanese yen 1 654 -
If Hong Kong dollar weakens 5 W0 S N\ R 59 3
against RMB 1 722 -
If Hong Kong dollar strengthens — #7 #5 JG 56 H [H] 56 24
against Japanese yen (D (654) -
If Hong Kong dollar strengthens 77 ¥ JG 5o A\ ¥ 5 24
against RMB (1) (722) -

*  Excluding retained profits
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41. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT

OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES
(continued)

Credit risk

The Group trades only with recognised and creditworthy
customers. It is the Group’s policy that all customers who wish to
trade on credit terms are subject to credit verification procedures.
In addition, receivable balances are monitored on an ongoing

basis and the Group’s exposure to bad debts is not significant.

The credit risk of the Group’s other financial assets, which
comprise cash and cash equivalents, available-for-sale
investments, financial assets at fair value through profit or loss,
amounts due from associates and deposits other receivables,
arises from default of the counterparty, with a maximum
exposure equal to the carrying amounts of these instruments.
The Group is also exposed to credit risk through the granting of
financial guarantees, further details of which are disclosed in note

35 to the financial statements.

Since the Group trades only with recognised and creditworthy
customers, there is no requirement for collateral. Concentrations
of credit risk are managed by customer/counterparty, by
geographical region and by industry sector. There are no
significant concentrations of credit risk within the Group as
the customer bases of the Group’s trade receivables are widely

dispersed in different sectors and industries.

Further quantitative data in respect of the Group’s exposure to
credit risk arising from trade receivables are disclosed in note 24

to the financial statements.

Liquidity risk

The Group monitors its risk to a shortage of funds using a
recurring liquidity planning tool. This tool considers the maturity
of both its financial instruments and financial assets (e.g. trade
receivables) and projected cash flows from operations. The
Group’s objective is to maintain a balance between continuity of
funding and flexibility through the use of interest-bearing bank

borrowings.
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41. Y 5 e B 4% BEL H B B BOR ()

1 £ L B

AEHMEREADBREBETREZIEFEGR
By o RIEAER M Z HOR > A BER S BEEAT
RAHMEF > BALEBEREERT - I
Bb > A5 I A B A MRS R Z I DL > T A 4R
A . B i 3 A K o

AR A A R B ASHIEE - ATt &%
B BATHBERBZ ARZS/MEE - K
W4 A i) R T DA, B 4 4 o LAt i sk T 2 3L A
W 2 A5 SRR UR B R A > B KR B
PR 3% % TR MR H o AR 48 3 PR 4% th 4 it
W DR AR A2 A5 B R B o M — 2P R R B R
P k35 H 78 o

T A 5% A ff LR G20 T S £ 8 T B F % P AT
B2 5y > WOR T EATATHEAT o O AE B B4R
WREDIRE P 5T - W AT AT
B o BEJR AR 2 B 5 ME WO Ak 2 & P SR
T AT 25 M SEDOR AT 3 WOAC SR L g Sl
KAE B B

245 T U5 R KB B IR Ak =2 Ae B OB 2 A 8
8 Bl 2 Y A S i 4 B 24 o

i ) ¥ 4 e B

SR R A A R B R # TR B
B G S R K o b TR 6 % ROl TR
< (o B MRk ) R BN I B A
BREBHENBISRE - ALEHEEERE
T R A A S 2 SRAT Bk > PRI 4R A
P S P S o

ZF - ZF F H o N W &£ B AR AR
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41. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT

OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES

(continued)

Liquidity risk (continued)

The maturity profile of the Group’s financial liabilities as

L ) % 4 B (7))

41. Y 85 e B 45 BE H B B BOR (7))

R4 L AT A AR B BLAR AR > DA T OB A 4 A

at the end of the reporting period, based on the contractual EHRZMBEABERNH
undiscounted payments, is as follows:
Group
EqL
2013
e Sy s
On demand
or less than 1to5
12 months years Total
BEORE AR
124 73 38 1E 54 B
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
BT BT BT
Trade payables and other payables FEAT B 5 IRk &
A JE A K IH 309,794 - 309,794
Interest-bearing bank borrowings JH AR B Z RAT B 785,398 74,667 860,065
1,095,192 74,667 1,169,859
2012
S St 2
On demand
or less than 1to5
12 months years Total
BERE AT
1218 A 32 1E 54 A
HK$°000 HK$’000 HK$°000
BT T BT W T T
Trade payables and other payables JRE A B 5 Mk
At JE A5 K IH 284,422 - 284,422
Interest-bearing bank borrowings AR B Z SRAT B 869,796 71,853 941,649
Bank guarantees given in lieu WA R B AR A
of utility and property rental deposits 1t 2 SAT 5 R 387 - 387
1,154,605 71,853 1,226,458
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41. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT

OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES
(continued)

Liquidity risk (continued)
Group

As at 31 March 2013, the Group’s term loan with on demand
clause in the amount of HK$18,000,000 (2012: Nil) was
repayable over one year in accordance with the terms of the loan.
The loan agreement contained a repayment on demand clause
giving the bank the unconditional right to call in the loan at any
time and therefore, for the purpose of the above maturity profile,

the total amount was classified as “on demand”.

Notwithstanding the above clause, the directors do not believe
that these bank loans will be called in its entirety within 12
months, and they consider that these borrowings will be repaid
in accordance with the maturity dates as set out in the loan
agreements. This evaluation was made considering: the financial
position of the Group at the date of approval of the financial
statements; the Group’s compliance with the loan covenants; the
lack of events of default, and the fact that the Group has made all
previously scheduled repayments on time.

Company

At the end of the reporting period, the amounts due to
subsidiaries of HK$406,723,000 (2012: HK$369,600,000),
guarantees given to banks in connection with facilities granted
to subsidiaries of HK$820,781,000 (2012: HK$887,488,000)
utilised by the subsidiaries and guarantees given to third parties
in connection with lease payments for lease agreements entered
into by a subsidiary of HK$38,672,000 (2012: HK$45,354,000)
are repayable on demand.
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41. Y9 5 ol g 4% PR H RS B ook (7))

L B ¥ 4 B (A)
%

MR-FZ—=4E=H=1—H  REERZHK
Ko AREE B RERBEEKZ T Y AR
18,000,000%5 G ( =& — Z4F « M) Al ¥ — 4R 1%
R - B A R SRR R > BT
SR AT JI A% 11 BE ) O I S ORAEUR R AR 0 BRIk -
FREFIRUN F > RS FH OB A TRE
k]

il WA B Ak > M AR AR S R AT B
AEA R 1218 H A A B > WO R
e B 45 IR R sk i o T R B0 AR o R
A A B AT IRF © 7% B8 A R ¢ ACHR R B
B AL H 2 B BIR UL - A4 R
AR Z WG OL ~ TR A AR AR R
Te ¥ IR 32 J0) R K o

4

R AR > AT BB A W) 3k 1H406,723,000%
JG (& — 4 1 369,600,000 i) ~ 5t Kt &
2 V) BT B R 22 0 2 O I SR AT 4R Ak s AR
820,781,000% JG (=& — 4 : 887,488,000%
70) B — B AR L2 M ERRA R
FHLE A 3k 1m0 58 = J5 AR th Z 35 1R 38,672,000% 7t
(ZF—4F £ 45,354,000900) A3 ERAER -

F - = F F£ H o I W EE AR AF
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41. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT

OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES
(continued)

Equity price risk

Equity price risk is the risk that the fair values of equity
securities decrease as a result of changes in the levels of equity
indices and the value of individual securities. The Group is
exposed to equity price risk arising from individual equity
investments classified as available-for-sale investments (note 21)
and financial assets at fair value through profit or loss (note 26)
as at 31 March 2013.

If the prices of the respective listed equity investments had
been 3% higher/lower, with all other variables held constant,
the Group’s and the Company’s available-for-sale investment
revaluation reserve would have increased/decreased by
approximately HK$2,234,000 (2012: HK$2,704,000) and
HK$4,000 (2012: HK$5,000), respectively, at 31 March 2013
as a result of the changes in the fair value of the Group’s and
the Company’s certain available-for-sale investments, and the
Group’s profit after tax for the year would have increased/
decreased by approximately HK$360,000 (2012: Nil) as a result
of the changes in the fair value of the Group’s held-for-trading

investments.
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JBe 55 A A e Bt

I 5% i A% L e A 4 KT MR i K ~F B Ml ) i
B A 5 ) ) B8R i 5 7 O T PR I R o
BREF-Z£ZA=Z1—H o REMAZES
P ] gt B B (B RE21) o3k A FEZ R 2
NIRZ Gt e e (i ak26) M8 ol 4 25 4% ¥ i 51
BB HEAEAR S B o

W45 b AR Z A 3N/ WA 3% > HoAl
MRS s R _F—=Z4E=H=1+—H >
A A ) B AR A W) 22 R B B i A A I
AREEBEARAFF T A HEREZAFME
5 B it 43 70 3 /9 A £02,234,0009 06 (ZF
— 4 12,704,00090) K 4,000% 50 (ZF——
AR 2 5,000%500) o T AR 4 [ =2 AR AR B B B AR i
It PRI A 5 T A R R O T A T G Y
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41. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT

42

OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES
(continued)

Capital management

The primary objectives of the Group’s capital management are to
safeguard the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern and
to maintain healthy capital ratios in order to support its business
and maximise shareholders’ value.

The Group manages its capital structure and makes adjustments
to it in light of changes in economic conditions. To maintain or
adjust the capital structure, the Group may adjust the dividend
payment to shareholders, return capital to shareholders, issue
new shares or repurchase shares. No changes were made in the
objectives, policies or processes for managing capital during the
years ended 31 March 2013 and 31 March 2012.

The Group monitors capital using a gearing ratio, which is
interest-bearing bank borrowings divided by equity attributable to
the equity holders of the Company. The gearing ratio is regularly
reviewed by senior management. The gearing ratios as at the end

of the reporting periods were as follows:
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41. 5 e B 4% B H B B BOR (A1)

YA 4 B

SR 2 B A B B A e R ACSE AT R
3 35 RS S5 i P A B AR
Vb 3R D S 47 S0 SR 0 3 de RAG B R AR A

A S ) R 8 20 AR A 2 A R A L AR A
T DA R o Ky A K A BB A > AR T
B R Z IR AR BB AR~ BT
BB Ay c RERE R =SHE=EH=1—
HEZZ-ZHEZA=Z+T—HIEFEEN s A
B HA ~ BRI B ) o

AR £ A B AR R DB AR > RIAE R
TR B Z AT BB AR A Rl R P A
B A Bl 2 O 5 B % o 0 A B % ol g A L
JE R o REEHIR > AREALRNT

Group
45

2013 2012

e St TR T

HK$’000 HK$°000

BT BT T

Interest-bearing bank borrowings JE AR B Z SRAT B 856,163 934,592
Equity attributable to equity holders 550 B I AR 2 R RE AR

of the Company fi MRz 1,204,725 1,105,862

Gearing ratio A EA & 71% 85%

APPROVAL OF THE FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

The financial statements were approved and authorised for issue
by the board of directors on 27 June 2013.
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172 Particulars of Property

e

Year ended 31 March 2013 RE-F—Z4E=ZH =+ —HIREE

INVESTMENT PROPERTY

A

Bk

Percentage of
attributable
interest of

Location Use Tenure the Group
7% 4 1 M A
i ik £ L E-¥ipig:a
Levels 1 and 2 (west portion) Industrial Medium 100
of Four Seas Group Guangdong term lease
Headquarter Building Complex,
Yuepu South Industrial Zone,
Shantou, Guangdong Province,
The People’ s Republic of China
H g\ RS A B T% I 4 100
JoE R4 il B T H S P T [
7O Y 45 I R AR

A Rt R i (WS )
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